
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

_______________________________________________________________________    1 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 
AND ACCOUNTS 
2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

_____________________________________________________________________      2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Contact us 
 

01707 685000 

enhertsccg.enquiries@nhs.net 

Charter House, Parkway, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire AL8 6JL 

 

Get involved  
 

www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk 

www.facebook.com/ENHertsCCG 

www.twitter.com/ENHertsCCG 

 
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

_____________________________________________________________________      3 

WELCOME   5 
 

PERFORMANCE REPORT: OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 6 
   

 About us  9 
 Types of commissioning  12 
 Providing care 14 
 A Healthier Future – Hertfordshire and West Essex STP 16 
 The CCG’s work in 2017/18 22 
 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 38 
 Chief Executive’s summary of key performance 39 
 

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS  42 

 Performance summary 43 
 Quality Premium 46 
 Performance against NHS Constitution rights and pledges 50 
 My NHS 59 
 Ensuring our patients receive high quality care 60 
 Caring for vulnerable residents 65 
 Preparing for emergencies 70 
 

 Reducing Health Inequalities  71 
  Hertfordshire’s health headlines 71 
  The role of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board  72 
  Working with partners to tackle health inequalities 74 

 

 CCG 360 stakeholder survey 79 
 

 Patient and Public Engagement 80 
  A year to celebrate 80 
  What we’ve been doing 82 
  You said, we did 89 
  Involving all of our community 92 
  The year ahead 94 
  The view from Healthwatch Hertfordshire 96 
 

 The work of Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Luton (HBL) ICT Services 97 
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

_____________________________________________________________________      4 

 Sustainable development   100 
 

 Review of Financial Performance 104 
  Summary 104 
  Funding allocated to the CCG 105 
  Financial business rules for 2018/19 109 
  Locality level performance 110 
  Mental health investment standard 111 
  Future financial strategy 112 
  Review of statutory duties 116 
 

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 117 

 Part one: Corporate Governance report 118 
  Members’ report 118 
  Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 130 
  Governance Statement 133 
  Head of Internal Audit Opinion 161 

 

 Part one: Remuneration and staff report 164 
  Salaries and allowances 166 
  Pensions benefits 177 
  Staff Report 178 

 

 Part three: Parliamentary accountability and audit report 192 
 External audit opinion  193 

 The Accounts 198 
 

 

 

 

 



Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

_______________________________________________________________________    5 

It gives us great pleasure to welcome you to 
the Annual Report for East and North 
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) for the year 2018/19.  

This report tells our story from the last 12 
months. It shows what our CCG has 
achieved and what our greatest challenges 
have been.  
 
As we reflect on a year that has been one of 
celebration – where the nation joined 
together to mark the 70th birthday of the 
NHS, we have been pleased to oversee an 
organisation which is completely committed 
to improving care for the patients it serves. 
We hope this report gives you a flavour of 
that work.  
 
Limited resources and increasing levels of 
need mean that health and social care 
services in our area are continuously 
challenged to keep up with demand.  
 
This year, our sustainability and 
transformation partnership has accelerated 
its efforts to work more collaboratively 
across Hertfordshire and west Essex, 
making best use of clinical staff and 
resources and enabling our local 
communities to make healthier choices and 

live as active, engaged and independent 
lives for as long as they can.  
 
None of what we do would be possible 
without the tremendous commitment of 
health and care staff. Again and again, our 
GPs and staff across the NHS rise to the 
challenge and deliver great care for their 
patients. As a CCG we are proud to be rated 
as ‘outstanding’ for the second year in a 
row and we would like to thank everyone 
who has played an active part in 
commissioning, providing or using health 
services wisely.  
 
Please read on for more details about our 
work and the difference it is making for 
patients. If after reading, you feel inspired 
to get involved in local health services, 
please get in touch. Find out more by 
visiting our website or emailing 
enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net  

This is a long document as there are a lot of 
statutory areas we must cover, but as 
always we will be producing a much shorter 
leaflet showcasing the highlights of our 
year. This will be available on our website 
and at the official presentation of this 
report at our AGM in September.  

 
 

 Beverley Flowers 
Chief Executive 

Dr Prag Moodley 
Chair and GP, Stanmore Medical Group, Stevenage 

WELCOME  
to our annual report and accounts for 2018/19 
 



·· · 
Beverley Flowers, Accountable Officer 

23 May 2019 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT: 
OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 

 
This section contains a summary of our performance as an organisation during 2018/19 plus 
a flavour of the work we do. You can read more about our work at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk 
 
We are the local NHS organisation which plans, designs and pays for the health services used 
by the 598,000 people who live in our area. This report looks back at the past twelve months 
and aims to give you a flavour of our work and what we’ve achieved.  Led by local GPs, the 
CCG works closely with clinicians, patients and partner organisations to decide how our 
annual budget of more than £823m should be spent.   
 
We aim to:  

• work closely with patients, partners, managers, community groups and clinical 
colleagues from all sectors to commission the best possible healthcare for our patients 
within available resources 
  

• reduce health inequalities and achieve a stable and sustainable health economy by working 
together, sharing best practice and improving expertise and clinical outcomes for patients 

 
What is commissioning? 

We use information and evidence about local services and people’s experiences of them to 
look at whether those services are meeting people’s needs. If improvements or changes are 
needed, we work with our GP members, the organisations which provide services and local 
people to put forward new ideas or ways of delivering care. 

 

 

You can read our previous 
Annual Reports and see how 
we’ve performed over time  

on our website. 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/our-annual-report
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The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2017/19 described nine ‘must do’ 
priorities for the NHS. These remain the priorities for 2018/19. These national priorities and 
other local priorities need to be delivered within the financial resources available in each 
year. You can read our operational plan for 2018/19 on our website. 

 
Our role is to: 

• ensure health services are high quality 
• involve local people in planning and improving services 
• make the most effective use of the money given to us to improve services for patients 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do
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Every GP practice is a member of the CCG 
and works with nearby practices in a 
network, called a locality, to find solutions 
to their area’s particular health challenges.  
 
Each of our six localities is represented on 
the Governing Body by two GPs who have 
been selected by their peers. Our GPs and 
their staff understand the health needs of 
their patients, and we believe that our 
locality-based approach to commissioning 
helps us to make sure that our population 
has access to good quality services that 
meet the needs in their area. 
 
Each locality receives a fair share of the 
CCG’s financial resources, with budgets set 
and financial reports presented at GP 
practice and locality level.  Member 
practices influence commissioning decisions 
and alert the CCG management team to 
issues, especially those related to patient 
experience or where clinical treatment 
pathways are not working as intended. 

 

 

 

 

 

         As one of the locality GPs on the 
Governing Body, I am the direct link 
between the practices in my local area and 
the CCG. Because GPs see patients every 
day, we can bring both clinical expertise and 
local knowledge of patients’ needs to the 
role of commissioning.  
 
“This year, our locality has been reviewing 
patients who frequently visit the A&E 
department at our local hospital. We want 
to find out why people are going to A&E and 
whether their GP can put a plan in place to 
help them better manage their symptoms, 
so people don’t find themselves needing 
emergency help as often.  

“From this work we know that our patients 
with breathing conditions like asthma or 
COPD could do with additional support and 
we could also develop some more local drug 
and alcohol clinics.  All the practices in our 
locality have also been looking at how we 
can work together more closely and make 
best use of all our buildings.  

 

Dr Sarah Dixon, GP at South Street Surgery, 
Bishop's Stortford and Co-Chair of the  
Stort Valley and Villages locality 

 

“ 

” 
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GP practice networks 

All GP practices in east and north Hertfordshire are part of a network in their local area. Each 
group of GP practices is called a ‘federation’. By working closely together, practices are able 
to support each other with staff training, new ways of working and also bring together their 
skills to provide extra local services for patients, which they wouldn’t be able to deliver as 
individual surgeries.     
 
This year, our GP federations are providing appointments for patients outside of normal 
surgery hours, in the evenings and at weekends. In Lower Lea Valley the federation were 
also part of a successful joint NHS bid to run the Cheshunt Minor Injuries Service at the 
community hospital.  
 
Watch this video to find out how primary care networks will enable health and other 
services to work together to provide better access for patients. 

 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W19DtEsc8Ys&feature=youtu.be
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TYPES OF COMMISSIONING  
East and North Hertfordshire CCG buys services from a number of organisations which 
provide patient care, including GP, NHS hospitals, mental health and community trusts, 
voluntary organisations and independent organisations. We also fund the cost of medicines 
and treatments prescribed by GPs and nurse prescribers.   
 
In 2018/19, we commissioned services in the following ways:  
 

• as the coordinating commissioner, where our CCG has the biggest share of activity and 
holds the contract, allowing other commissioners to be associates to the contract.  
Examples of this include contracts with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. 
 

• as an associate commissioner, where another commissioner has the biggest share of 
activity and holds the contract, allowing East and North Hertfordshire CCG to be a party 
to the contract.  Examples of this include contracts with Princess Alexandra Hospital 
NHS Trust, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

• as a joint commissioner, where funding is pooled with partners and services are 
commissioned using that pooled budget.  Examples include mental health and learning 
disability, where funding is pooled with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and Herts 
Valleys CCG to commission services, mainly from Hertfordshire Partnership University 
NHS Foundation Trust and from HCC’s Health and Community Services.  We also jointly 
commission services from community and voluntary sector organisations with 
Hertfordshire County Council. 
 

• as lead commissioner, where we procure services on behalf of other CCGs.  For 
example, we led the development of the new Integrated Urgent Care service to cover 
our CCG area and the Herts Valleys CCG area.  
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• as a delegated commissioner, where we assume full day-to-day responsibility for 
commissioning general practice services, although the legal responsibility remains with 
the national organisation NHS England.   
 
NHS England also commissions specialised services and services provided by dentists, 
pharmacists and optometrists.  The CCG has a duty to assist and support NHS England 
to carry out these functions and secure continuous improvement in the quality of 
primary medical services.   

 
We have strong governance arrangements in place to oversee the delivery of the priorities 
for patient care identified in the CCG’s operational plan. We work together with other 
organisations in our local health and social care system to achieve these priorities, where 
appropriate.  For example, the Urgent Care Network involves representatives from across 
health and social care.  This means that joint decisions can be made to ensure that people 
are not admitted to hospital when there is a better option for their care.  Good partnership 
working also helps patients to be discharged from hospital in a timely way when it is the 
right time for them to leave. 
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PROVIDING CARE 
As a commissioning organisation, we do not directly care for patients. Acute hospital 
services - where a patient receives active but short-term treatment for a severe injury or 
illness, an urgent medical condition, or during recovery from surgery - are provided for our 
residents by NHS trusts, NHS foundation trusts and other independent providers of health 
services. The CCG has contracts with more than twenty providers and we also pay for care at 
other Care Quality Commission (CQC)-registered providers where needed.  
 
The main hospitals our patients use are East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Princess 
Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust and Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust. For urgent care, 
our patients also use the minor injuries service at Cheshunt and Bishop’s Stortford and the 
Urgent Care Centre at the New QEII Hospital. 
 
Community services - such as district nursing, therapy and dietetics - are mainly provided by 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. Mental health and learning disability services are 
provided by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust. 

The CCG also commissions around twenty other community providers to deliver services 
including termination of pregnancy, vasectomy, IVF, end of life care, non-emergency patient 
transport and optometry. 
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The healthcare organisations with whom the CCG spent more than £5m in 2018/19 – 
together with the broad categories of care they provided - are set out here. 

 

 

 

Provider Service category 

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Acute 
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  Mental Health  
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust Acute 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Community and Minor 

Injuries 
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust Acute 

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
Ambulance and  
non-emergency patient 
transport 

Cambridgeshire University Foundation Hospital Trust Acute 
Ramsay (Rivers and Pinehill hospitals) Acute 
Herts Urgent Care Integrated Urgent Care  
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust Acute 
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Acute 
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A HEALTHIER FUTURE  

improving health and care in Hertfordshire and west 
Essex 
As well as making sure we meet the needs 
of local people, it is important that the NHS 
and local councils think differently in order 
to respond to challenges in the wider health 
system. We want to make sure that no 
matter where people live, they have 
excellent, high quality care and experiences. 

 
As part of the Healthier Future 
Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP), CCGs, councils, 
health and ambulance services, GPs, patient 
representative groups and the voluntary 
and community sector across Hertfordshire 
and west Essex are working together to 
improve health and care and join up our 
plans for the years ahead. 
 
This brings lots of new opportunities and 
will lead to practical changes to how health 
and social care works in this area.  

 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan published in 
January, states that by April 2021, 
Integrated Care Systems will cover the 
whole country, growing out of the current 
network of STPs. Every ICS will need 
streamlined commissioning arrangements 
to enable a single set of commissioning 
decisions at system level. This will typically 
involve a single CCG for each ICS area.  
 
Watch this video to find out more about 
STPs. 

 

 

 

https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2016/December/A-Healthier-Future-Final.pdf
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2016/December/A-Healthier-Future-Final.pdf
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2016/December/A-Healthier-Future-Final.pdf
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DsGTxKRdsdU
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The challenges we face 
• a 37% predicted increase in over-75s in 

the next 10 years across Hertfordshire 
and west Essex.  More older people and 
people living with long-term conditions 
means higher care costs  
 

• obesity, smoking, alcohol and not 
enough exercise are all causing health 
problems 
 

• recruiting enough doctors, nurses and 
care staff is difficult – high living costs 
make it hard to attract and retain 
people with the right skills   
 

• some patients are admitted to hospital 
who don’t need to be there, or stay in 
hospital for longer than necessary 
 

• health and care systems and technology 
don’t always work together effectively 
 

• some buildings are not fit for purpose.   
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Find out more about the work of 
the STP by reading our newsletters. 
Remember to sign up to receive 
future copies. 

 

http://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/newsletters
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During the year, the STP has made progress in a number of areas. We have: 

• agreed a new integrated health and care clinical strategy. Clinicians, voluntary and 
patient representatives helped to shape the strategy which has now been agreed by 
all the STP’s organisations. This is an important first step to developing an Integrated 
Care System. 
 
Our integrated health and care strategy has been written for service users, patients, 
families, carers and everyone who supports them.  It uses a ‘population health’ 
approach that aims to improve physical and mental health outcomes, promote 
wellbeing and reduce health inequalities across an entire population. 
 

• written a financial plan which aims to bring the STP into financial balance by 2020/21 
 

• appointed a new independent chair, Paul Burstow, former Minister of State for 
Social Care.  Paul, who took up his post on 1 December, brings his expertise and 
commitment to health and social care integration to the team.  He is responsible for 
holding the system to account and keeping our STP focused on the task in hand. He 
will also act as an ambassador; building and enhancing relationships with a wide 
range of stakeholders. 
 

HIGHLIGHTS OF OUR WORK THIS YEAR:  

 

  New ways of working to improve care  
Our STP was praised for our results in the ‘100 day 
challenge’ to test new ways of working in three different 
specialities. Pilots have gone so well that they will be 
introduced across area. For example, a new approach to 
managing some urogynaecological conditions which aims to 
minimise the number of hospital visits and ensure women 
start treatment at the earliest opportunity. 
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  Helping our urgent and emergency care get ready for 
winter 
For the first time, we have had a single winter plan which 
covers all NHS organisations in the STP area which provide 
urgent or emergency care. This agreement is important as 
it enables hospitals to help each other with mutual aid in 
times of extreme pressure which has proved beneficial this 
winter.  
 
To support this, a new ‘dashboard’ that brings together 
information about the three urgent and emergency 
systems in our area has been developed by the STP and 
funded by NHS England. Staff can now quickly identify 
pressures and work together to take prompt action, 
heading-off problems at an early stage. 
 
 

  Social prescribing gathers pace 
‘Social prescribing’ is when GPs, nurses and other health 
professionals refer people to a non-medical service that can 
help them. In Hertfordshire, a team of 60 Community 
Navigators now provide help both in the community and in 
hospital, accessed through the ‘Herts Help’ advice line and 
website. Herts Help receives 14,000 referrals per year and 
refers people to over 150 organisations each month 
(including Age UK and the British Red Cross). Around half of 
referrals come from GP practices.  
 
 

  Cancer funding secured 
This year more than £4m has been committed by the East 
of England Cancer Alliance to help transform the early 
diagnosis of cancer and the services provided to people 
who have or have had cancer across our STP area. 



21 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

  Tackling medicines waste – Look in the bag 
A major campaign was launched to help reduce the 
staggering £7 million bill for medicines which are 
prescribed every year in Hertfordshire and west Essex but 
never used. It’s hoped the campaign will save vital NHS 
resources and support patients to think more about the 
medicines they’re ordering and taking, and seek advice 
from their GP and pharmacist should they need any help. 
 
 

  New funding for blood pressure testing 
£88,000 from the British Heart Foundation (BHF) will be 
used to fund a ground-breaking community based 
approach to detect high blood pressure. Blood pressure 
testing will be provided at pharmacies, supermarkets, 
workplaces, football grounds and community events and 
will target some of the most disadvantaged areas including 
Lower Lea Valley and Stevenage.  
 
 

  HSJ award for system-led support of carers 
The STP’s commitment to health, social care and charities 
working together to better identify carers and help them 
stay well was recognised as best in class, receiving a 
prestigious HSJ Award.  
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THE CCG’S WORK IN 2018/19 

 
The projects on the following pages are some examples of what we’ve 
achieved over the past twelve months. There isn’t space to include all of our 
projects here, but you can read and watch more about what we do by 
visiting our website.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/
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OPEN FOR LONGER  

From October, all patients registered with GP practices in east and north Hertfordshire have 
been able to book appointments as part of the ‘extended access’ service during evenings 
and weekends. This gives those who are not able to get to their GP surgery during ‘normal 
working hours’, the option to see a GP or other health professional at a more accessible 
time. We collected the views of more than 16,000 to help us plan the service. 

 

NEW SCHEME AIMS TO FREE UP GP APPOINTMENTS 

More than 100 of our GP practice receptionists have been trained so they can direct patients 
to the health professional who is best placed to help. Known as ‘care navigation’, this way of 
working connects patients with the right health professional for their symptoms, which 
might not necessarily be a GP. The aim is to get patients the right health help more quickly 
when they call for an appointment. Care navigation can also free up GPs and practice nurses 
to spend more time with the patients who most need their help, advice and support. 

 

WIFI NOW AVAILABLE IN PRACTICES 

All our GP practices now have free and secure wifi available for staff and patients so that 
people can download health apps, browse the internet and access health and care 
information. 

 

 

PRIMARY CARE 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201810/evenings-and-weekend-gp-appointments-now-available-across-east-and-north-hertfordshire
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/care-navigation
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NEW ROLES IN PRIMARY CARE  

This year, we have continued to strengthen our primary care workforce by expanding the 
range of clinicians seeing patients in GP surgeries. Physiotherapists, pharmacists and 
paramedics are now working alongside doctors, nurses and healthcare assistants in many of 
our practices, making it easier for patients to see a health professional with the right skills 
quickly. We have also invested in supporting our valuable practice nursing workforce 
through a comprehensive package of training and mentoring, plus encouraging nursing 
students to take up placements in primary care. We were shortlisted for a prestigious HSJ 
Award for our work in this area. Take a look at our video to find out more.         

 

‘MY CARE RECORD’  

This year, more NHS organisations in the area joined our project to enable health 
professionals directly involved in your care, to view your GP record in order to make the best 
decisions about your diagnosis and treatment. Read more about ‘My Care Record’ here.   

 

DELEGATED COMMISSIONING    

In April 2018, the CCG became responsible for commissioning services from GP practices, 
something which previously had been managed by NHS England. A new Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee was established to oversee all areas of this work. Here are the 
thoughts of our lay representative on the first year of commissioning GP services: 

 

 

 

 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201809/primary-care-project-shortlisted-prestigious-award
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201809/primary-care-project-shortlisted-prestigious-award
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2Su4LlHbMls
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/mcr
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       Our committee’s core priority in its first year has been to support general practice and 
help our local GPs, clinical staff and administrative teams plan and act to stay resilient and 
responsive to patient needs.   
 
 “We wanted to ensure practices, both individually and when working in groups, could gain 
long term benefit from available funding, provide tailored practical support for IT, data 
protection and CQC requirements and help with modernisation of premises and processes 
practically and strategically. We take all contract and investment decisions in the light of 
their impacts on a town or locality and its population rather than solely practice by practice. 
 
“We have invited bids for resilience and improvements funding and it has been particularly 
pleasing to see two localities (Lower Lea Valley and North Herts) driving forward practical 
sustainability plans for collaboration between practices, assisted by the funds which the 
committee now has available. 
 
“We have been able to give timely assurance to certain capital projects for premises as we 
are less dependent on regional decision-making.   As a further benefit of delegation from 
NHS England, we have funding to continue the primary care workforce employment 
initiatives commenced by the CCG, providing invaluable academic links and attracting more 
doctors and other clinicians into our practices. 

“The six GP locality federations have played a key role in providing extended (evening and 
weekend) hours for patient consultations and, with the help of patient groups and the 
Primary Care team and IT support, this complex project went live on time.  

“We are now overseeing an ambitious programme of work, which will provide benefits to 
practices and patients in 2019 and help redesign the GP care provided to care homes.  The 
CCG staff and Governing Body members of the committee are very appreciative of the way 
in which the CCG teams, the Local Medical Committee, patient representatives and 
Healthwatch Hertfordshire have enthusiastically adapted to this new work and we have also 
welcomed the appointment of an independent GP who has no local conflict of interests to 
provide impartial advice. 

 
 

“ 

Dianne Desmulie,  
Lay Member for Primary Care Commissioning 

” 



26 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Other achievements of the primary care commissioning committee in its first year: 
 

• Supported the process of practice mergers, branch closures and list closures for 
practices as required 

• Developed a toolkit to support lower performing practices to improve their ‘friends 
and family’ test scores 

• Agreed schemes worth around £131,000 that aimed to help practices or groups of 
practices to become more sustainable and resilient, better placed to tackle the 
challenges they face now and into the future, and secure continuing high quality care 
for patients.  

• Supported six applications for premises improvement – from improving surgery 
environments to better meet infection control requirements, to increasing the 
number of clinical rooms and digitisation of records. 

• Supported the development of ‘primary care networks’ which will enable patients to 
access more proactive, personalised, coordinated and integrated health and social 
care.  

 
 

ONLINE SERVICES – AVAILABLE AT YOUR PRACTICE NOW  

All GP practices in east and north Hertfordshire1 now offer convenient online access to 
booking and cancelling appointments and submitting repeat prescription requests.  

Across our area, only around a quarter of patients overall have signed up to use online 
services, although some practices, like Parsonage Surgery in Bishop’s Stortford have more 
than 65% of patients registered. To be added to the system, patients need to visit their 
practice with photo ID and login details will be provided.  

 

 

                                                      
1 With the exception of the GP practice serving Haileybury College students.   
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NATIONAL CHANGES TO PRESCRIBING OF MEDICINES  

In 2018, following a national public consultation, it was agreed that the NHS would no longer 
prescribe simple medicines such as paracetamol that can be bought ‘over the counter’, 
unless in specific circumstances. This follows the CCG’s decision the previous year to limit 
prescribing of over the counter medicines and certain gluten-free foods.  Across the country, 
the NHS has been spending around £136 million a year on prescriptions for medicines that 
can be bought from a pharmacy or supermarket. By reducing the amount the NHS spends on 
over the counter medicines, we can give priority to treatments for people with more serious 
conditions, such as cancer, diabetes and mental health problems.  
 

E-RS IN ALL OUR TRUSTS  

This year, all hospitals across the country have made the switch to sending and receiving all 
first outpatient referrals through the NHS e-Referral Service (e-RS). The NHS e-Referral 
Service (e-RS) combines electronic booking with a choice of place, date and time for first 
hospital or clinic appointments. Patients can choose their initial hospital or clinic 
appointment, book it in the GP surgery at the point of referral, or later at home on the 
phone or online. 
 
Our main hospital provider East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust moved its final services 
to e-RS in August in consultation with our GP practices. Dr Sheryl-Kay Patel, GP at Wallace 
House Surgery in Hertford said: “There are several benefits of using e-RS for all patient 
referrals. It ensures my patients are referred to the right place at the right time and provides 
a single portal for advice from consultants about my patient’s referral. I can also see any 
other information about the initial referral, including pre-appointment diagnostics and 
information for the patient. If I am away, other staff in the practice can access this 
information to provide continuity of care for my patients.” 
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IMPROVING PRIMARY CARE PREMISES 

A number of our GP practices will shortly be operating from new and improved buildings. 
NHS funding was approved for Garden City Practice in Welwyn Garden City to move to new 
premises, expected to take place in May 2019. Central Surgery in Sawbridgeworth and 
Puckeridge Surgery also hope to finish their improvement works during 2019.  
 
A number of other projects are also progressing including refurbishing Herts and Essex 
Hospital in Bishop’s Stortford to enable two surgeries to move in. Stanmore Medical Group 
in Stevenage also hopes to extend into Stanmore Road Health Centre and the new purpose 
built surgery at Ware is also progressing with a view to being completed in March 2021. 
 
Work is due to start soon in Knebworth on a new GP surgery, pharmacy and library in 
Knebworth, replacing the current village practice.  
 
Opportunities to improve the premises of surgeries in Hertford and Letchworth are being 
explored and support is also being given to an improvement project at the High Street 
Surgery, Cheshunt.  
 
Our relationships with our district council colleagues on planning matters are strengthening 
and the CCG is starting to see some really positive results for communities and practice staff. 
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EASY ACCESS TO URGENT CARE THROUGH NHS 111 

Patients in Hertfordshire who call NHS 111 are receiving help from the county’s ‘integrated 
urgent care’ service, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  The service combines the out-of-hours 
GP service with NHS 111 plus a ‘clinical advisory service’ where GPs, pharmacists, dental 
nurses, palliative care nurses and mental health professionals advise patients and health 
professionals. 

The 111 call centre is open day and night and is staffed by trained call handlers who assess 
patients and give them the advice they need or triage them to the most appropriate clinician 
or service. Those patients that need further clinical support will be referred to the clinical 
advisory service for help. Patients who need to see an out-of-hours doctor or nurse in 
person have their appointment confirmed while on the phone.  

This service that covers East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Herts Valleys CCG has this 
year: 

• handled nearly 337,000 calls  
• been the only IUC in the country to have a GP presence in the call centre 24/7  
• reduced the number of unnecessary ambulance call-outs by around 25,000 by having 

a wide range of clinicians available to speak to patients 
• been the first urgent care service in the UK to offer sepsis testing in all bases and 

clinical cars 
• offered a direct line to clinical support for GPs, paramedics, district nurses, palliative 

care teams and care homes  
• piloted video calling for patients 
• offered the NHS 111 service online  

 

URGENT AND EMERGENCY CARE 
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EARLY INTERVENTION VEHICLE KEEPS PEOPLE LIVING SAFELY AT HOME 

Four ‘early intervention vehicles’ are now on the road, helping to keep frail, elderly people at 
home and out of hospital. This year the service has expanded and is now able to attend to 
more calls made to 999.  Patients are assessed by the crew – normally a senior paramedic 
and an occupational health professional, physiotherapist or social worker. They put in place 
immediate support that can keep people in their own homes.  
 

ACUTE CARE HOTLINE 

This winter, our colleagues at the Lister Hospital have been trialling a new telephone hotline 
for GPs who need some additional advice about a patient’s condition, before deciding 
whether that person needs to be seen in A&E for an assessment. A similar direct line to the 
hospital’s frailty team has been working well to better manage the care of older patients and 
get them the help they need in the right place.  

   

KEEPING THE HOSPITAL MOVING  

The CCG, East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and social care colleagues have continued 
to make improvements to the systems in place in the Lister Hospital.  By focusing on efficient 
and effective care, we can help to keep beds available for patients who need to be admitted.     
 
Multi-agency teleconferences happen every morning to tackle any problems that could 
prevent patients from going home on time. Our work has meant that there are very low 
numbers of ‘delayed transfers of care’ in our area.  The ‘impartial assessor’ nurse employed 
jointly by the hospital and the Hertfordshire Care Providers Association, is also helping to 
speed up the acceptance of patients into care and nursing homes, releasing  hospital beds 
that can be used for new patients.   
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The CCG commissions a senior paramedic who works as a ‘hospital ambulance liaison officer’ 
at the Lister to help ambulances hand over patients to hospital staff within the overall 
national 15-minute standard. Despite this initiative, there is still significant work to do to 
ensure that all ambulances are able to transfer patients quickly. Particularly during the 
winter this year, there have been much longer waits at hospital handovers that we would 
like there to be. The CCG and the hospital have been working together to identify the 
patients who are the most unwell sooner so that their hospital care can begin much more 
quickly.  
 
A team consisting of social workers, therapists, clinical navigators, discharge nurses, Age UK 
and home carers are also situated inside the emergency department to help move patients 
out efficiently when they are well enough to leave hospital. 

 

 

 

NHS 70 CELEBRATIONS! 

During 2018 we celebrated the 70th birthday of the NHS. It 
was heartening to hear the positive feelings and admiration 
that people have for this unique national institution. 
 
Over the course of the year we used our social media channels 
to share positive stories about local services and encourage 
people to take responsibility for their own health. We also 
attended a number of community events across the county, 
encouraging the public to make a pledge to help the NHS, 
perhaps by giving blood, volunteering or giving up smoking.  
 
 
 
 

ENGAGING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES 
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In July we turned the Coronation Fountain in Welwyn Garden City blue in aid of the 
celebrations. This generated lots of conversations within the community and raised 
awareness of the birthday. 
 
On the day of the birthday itself we took the celebrations to the street, with staff from both 
the CCG, and local NHS services walking 70 miles between them around Welwyn Garden 
City. They were encouraged to take selfies and tweet on route further increasing awareness 
of the birthday online and increased our social media engagement. We then invited our own 
staff to a special tea party to top off the birthday celebrations held outside the CCG offices 
on the green space on Parkway, with members of the public joining us for a slice of cake and 
a cuppa! See more photos here.  
 

 

NEW DIABETES PATIENT EDUCATION PROGRAMME 

As part of a wider campaign to help patients to live well with diabetes, this year the CCG 
commissioned a new education provider to give support for patients newly diagnosed with 
Type 2.  
 
The EMPOWER workshop helps people understand what diabetes is, the effect it has on 
their body and how to make small, achievable changes to the food they eat and their 
everyday life. The focus is on nutrition, exercise and lifestyle changes, setting personal goals 
and enabling people to take better control of their diabetes. After the course, patients can 
access online support or connect with diabetes services through Mapmydiabetes.  
 

 

 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/70th-birthday-nhs
https://www.mapmyhealth.co.uk/mapmydiabetes/patients-families/
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FUTURE HEROES 

Our annual ‘Future Heroes’ Health and Social Care Careers Expo, goes from strength to 
strength. At this year’s event nearly 700 pupils aged from 14 – 18 years and their teachers 
met clinical professionals from across Hertfordshire and through interactive, inspirational 
activities and demonstrations, were guided to make the link between their studies and 
interests and a fulfilling and rewarding career in health or social care. 
 
 
SEEKING THE VIEWS OF TEENAGE PATIENTS 

Maxine Tilley, a member of Central Surgery in Sawbridgeworth’s patient participation group 
explains how her practice has been talking to teenagers to find out what they think about GP 
services:     
 
As part of our patient participation group’s continuing work to support our surgery to 
improve their services to patients, two members of the practice team went to Leventhorpe 
School in January 2018. They spoke to prefects about the PPG and to find out what 
teenagers wanted from the surgery service.  

 
“One pupil, Olivia, has joined the PPG and regularly attends the 
meetings as well as the Patient Network Quality meetings at the CCG.   
 
“Olivia identified that it was unclear when teenagers could access 
their medical information and take responsibility for their own care 
and appointments. She has been instrumental in working with the 
PPG to create an information pack for those patients turning sixteen. 
A ‘Turning 16’ section is also planned for the practice website with 
links for teens to access further relevant information.”  
 
Olivia says “I am loving my time with the PPG and it feels great to be 

doing something which will benefit the community and it was important for me to ensure 
that young people understand what they’re entitled to do for themselves.” 
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EXTRA MENTAL HEALTH SUPPORT FOR NEW AND EXPECTANT MUMS 

More pregnant women and new mums experiencing mental health problems in 
Hertfordshire are being supported by NHS specialists, following a £400,000 funding boost 
announced in May.  
 
Between 3% and 5% of women experience moderate to severe mental illness during 
pregnancy or within the first year of having a baby. 
 
The money has funded the expansion of Hertfordshire’s Community Perinatal Team – 
provided by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) – to care for 
around 700 mums every year. Read more here. 
 
 

DIAGNOSING AUTISM MORE QUICKLY 

Health services in east and north Hertfordshire are working with families and Hertfordshire 
County Council to try out a new way of diagnosing autism. Our aim is for children and their 
families to have a better experience; with a single point of contact, a shorter wait to receive 
a diagnosis and increased support information, advice and guidance. Once the initial testing 
phase is complete in summer 2019, we will look at the results to see if this can become the 
new standard in our area.  
 

IMPROVING MENTAL 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201805/hertfordshire-team-supporting-new-and-expectant-mums-mental-health-problems-set
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NEW MENTAL HEALTH SUPPORT IN SCHOOLS 

Additional funding was awarded to Hertfordshire this year to give children experiencing 
mental health difficulties early help from special support workers in schools.  40 schools 
across the county are being supported by two teams made up of youth workers as well as 
mental health practitioners, providing evidence-based support for pupils and parents.   
 
Beth Honnor, head of Stevenage’s Marriotts School said: “Parents and pupils have told us 
they want more mental health support provided within schools and locally. School staff see 
young people day in, day out and are there for them at tough times, of course, but with 
these new teams we are even better placed to help pupils in need.” 
 

EASY ACCESS TO TALKING THERAPIES  

If you are experiencing mental health problems and need help you can speak to your GP, or 
you can contact the Wellbeing Service directly. This service is run by Hertfordshire 
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust and offers short term support to people with 
mild to moderate mental health issues such as depression and anxiety. The service can 
provide ‘talking therapies’ and we want more people to use these services. In 2018/19 we 
helped 10,131 people (against a target of 10,917). Just fill out a short form on the HPFT 
website.  
 
 

SUPPORTING DEMENTIA PATIENTS  

A new Healthy Memory Café is now offering support and a cuppa for those with memory 
problems. 

Sylvia is 73 and lives nearby. Since the Healthy Memory Café opened she and her husband 
have become regular visitors. Sylvia said: ‘I really look forward to the Friday morning 
sessions now, as everyone is so friendly and welcoming and those who run it do such a good 
job. It is a great way to meet different people, who are in a similar stage of memory loss. 

https://www.iaptportal.co.uk/ServiceUser/SelfReferralForm.aspx?sd=c23a5e1a-d354-45f6-8a7d-f8dd370d8e10
https://www.iaptportal.co.uk/ServiceUser/SelfReferralForm.aspx?sd=c23a5e1a-d354-45f6-8a7d-f8dd370d8e10
https://www.hct.nhs.uk/news-and-events/healthy-memory-caf%C3%A9-in-lower-lea-valley/
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The Healthy Memory Café meets monthly at Tesco in Cheshunt's Brookfield Centre. It is 
supported by a wide range of organisations representing the health and social care sectors 
plus voluntary community, advice and statutory organisations. 

Waltham Cross GP Dr Haydar Bolat has a special interest in dementia. He said: “This venture 
brings together professionals from many local organisations, including the voluntary sector, 
in one place to support not only those who have been diagnosed with dementia, but anyone 
who is struggling with memory issues. 

“We have doctors, nurses, pharmacists, benefits and legal advisors, along with Herts police 
and fire services, who can advise on safety issues, and many more, making it easy for people 
to get the support and advice they need in one place.” 

Since the café opened in July, more than 200 local residents in total have attended. 

 

 

 

NEW INTEGRATED CARE TEAMS IN LOCALITIES 

This year, community services for adults in our CCG area have begun working more closely in 
multi-disciplinary teams. The aim is to focus more on keeping people well rather than just 
reacting to illnesses getting worse. The teams provide the care people need in a more 
holistic way.   
 
The CCG has asked Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, Hertfordshire Partnership 
University Foundation Trust and Hertfordshire County Council’s Adult Care Services to work 
together to provide improved nursing, therapy, mental health and social care. 
The new integrated care teams aim to keep people living independently at home, rather 
than in hospital and will do this by identifying and caring for frail patients, offering care at 
home within 24 hours to help stop people’s symptoms getting worse and putting in place 
extra support for patients who are coming out of hospital. 
 

COMMUNITY CARE 
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DISCHARGE HOME TO ASSESS  

Patients in east and north Hertfordshire are now able to leave hospital earlier and start their 
recovery at home thanks to a successful scheme. This year, the ‘discharge home to assess’ 
team looked after almost 650 patients in their homes, providing physio and occupational 
therapy, nursing, mental health, social care and GP care.  
 
Once the hospital medical team has decided that a patient is ready to be discharged from 
their care, but needs extra help, the new team provides that assessment and immediate 
support in a patient’s own home. In the past, this sort of assessment was done in hospital, 
but we know now that it is better for people to move away from a busy ward as soon as they 
are able to so that they can begin their recovery in a more suitable place. 
 
 
CARE HOME NURSING SCHEME  

In the North Herts area, a new service is giving care home residents extra nursing support. 
This locality has a disproportionate number of care home residents and GP practices have 
worked together with Garden House Hospice to find a way to meet the additional needs of 
this group of patients. Two frailty nurses provide help to care homes and initial signs show 
that unplanned admissions to hospital from care homes are reducing. 
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QUALITY, INNOVATION, PRODUCTIVITY AND PREVENTION (QIPP) 

 
The CCG is committed to finding innovative ways to improve patient care and make the most 
efficient use of NHS resources. Each year the CCG focuses on a number of projects which aim 
to improve the quality of its commissioned services and pathways for patients.  
In developing our ideas for various projects, the CCG received support from NHS England to 
help us understand what is working well in other parts of the country and share our good 
work with others.  
 
During 2018/19, thirty projects were underway which has saved a total of £12.64m. Some 
examples include: 
 

• more referrals being reviewed by a clinician through our ‘prior approval’ process, as 
happens in other CCG areas   

• making better use of the medicines that our care home residents take 
• implementing our new policies on the prescription of gluten-free foods and over-the-

counter medicines 
• supporting practices to make sure all referrals for outpatient appointments are 

appropriate  
• an additional ‘early intervention vehicle’ is now supporting frail patients who have 

fallen at home 
• reducing people’s use of A&E by providing good quality urgent care through our 

Integrated Urgent Care service. Read more on page 30 
 
The overall QIPP programme is managed by the Programme Office and Transformation team 
which ensures that projects are on track and delivering both the improvements in care and 
savings that the CCG expects. Where schemes are not having the intended impact, for 
example our work to improve the care of patients with long-term breathing problems, the 
team reviews and reshapes plans to learn from best practice elsewhere.    
 

 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT ON PERFORMANCE  

Looking back over the 2018/19 financial year, East and North Hertfordshire CCG has many 
reasons to be proud of the work we have done to ensure our patients have access to good 
quality healthcare services. 
 
Our organisation has been judged by NHS England to be ‘outstanding’ – with our work to 
support people with the right care in their own homes and communities, thereby reducing 
the need for patients to be admitted to hospital, being key to our success.  It has also been 
pleasing to see that our work to look after the health of frail, elderly care home residents has 
resulted in emergency admissions continuing to decrease. Even with our ‘vanguard’ project 
now considered ‘business as usual’, the momentum continues.      
 
Thanks to the hard work of GP practices, our pharmacy teams and care home staff; the 
number of emergency admissions from care homes has been falling steadily since 2015 and 
the latest available data shows emergency admissions have reduced by 7% from the baseline 
figure.  This compares extremely well to the five other vanguard areas which have actually 
seen an increase from the initial baseline.  
 
Those residents who need to be in hospital are also staying for less time before being able to 
return home to resume their care. The data shows a 5% reduction in the total bed days per 
resident compared to the baseline figure.  
 
We know how disruptive and worrying a spell in hospital can be for frail people and their 
families, so having supportive and innovative primary care in place to keep residents healthy 
in their care home is vitally important, particularly as our population continues to age.  
 
Our local health system, like most around the country, continues to face challenges; 
particularly with regards to the 4-hour A&E standard with attendances and short-stay 
admissions still not at our target level.  
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The CCG has been using contractual levers to drive forward improvements in emergency and 
urgent care performance with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust - our main provider. 
In response to this our hospital colleagues have been working to make best use of 
assessment space in the hospital and to ‘stream’ patients at Lister A&E to ensure they are 
seen by the most appropriate clinician.  
 
This year, for the first time, we have a single winter health plan for the whole of 
Hertfordshire and west Essex, designed to plan the way that health and care services are 
delivered during this particularly busy period, increase the resilience of essential services 
and anticipate issues that might arise.  
 
As the STP’s Urgent and Emergency Care workstream lead, I am pleased that common-sense 
schemes like the new ‘load-levelling’ agreement with the ambulance service have been 
making a difference. This year, our three STP acute hospitals agreed the principle that the 
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust can use live information about A&E pressures 
and ambulance handover delays to inform their decisions about the best hospital in the area 
to take patients to, when the system is under particular pressure. In the coming months, we 
will use the learning from this year to further strengthen our response for next winter.  
 
In primary care, the focus has also been on providing the right urgent care for people where 
and when they need it in order to manage pressures across the system. Our GPs are now 
working together in groups to deliver ‘extended access’ GP and nurse appointments. These 
are now available across east and north Hertfordshire, providing routine and on-the-day 
access outside of usual surgery hours, every day of the week. This work, alongside a high 
performing and nationally-regarded integrated urgent care service, aims to keep emergency 
departments for those with the most serious of needs.    
 
This year has been the first with our new responsibilities as commissioners of general 
practice services. Providing our patients with good quality primary care services remains one 
of our core areas of focus for the coming year and we are working closely with our practices 
to support them through CQC inspections and to implement any improvements needs as a 
result. In common with the rest of the country, one of the biggest risks facing CCGs is a 
shortage in the number of GPs and nursing staff available to work in primary care. The CCG is 
working to address this and continues to play a leading role in our STP’s workforce network.  
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As detailed elsewhere in this annual report, we recognise the additional efforts that need to 
be put in across the whole health system over the coming years to improve early diagnosis 
of cancer and ensure that as many people who receive a diagnosis of cancer begin their 
treatment within the national 62-day target. NHS organisations across our STP area have 
secured additional funding to improve cancer services and have begun to invest that money 
in improving services along the patient pathway.   
 
As STPs evolve and grow in maturity, we should acknowledge the impact that such structural 
re-organisations have on the operational duties of the CCG. Our staff here at East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG are both dedicated and resilient and my leadership team is committed to 
supporting them through periods of uncertainty. The year ahead will again be one of fluidity 
and change, with the CCG needing to work closely with others to ensure it achieves both its 
own objectives and to ensure that our contributions are effective at a system-wide level.       
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SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE 
The information on pages 43 - 46 is a summary of performance during 2018/19. Full 
performance data follows on pages 47 - 58. 

 
ACCIDENT AND EMERGENCY (A&E) DEPARTMENT PERFORMANCE 

There is a national requirement that patients attending an Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
department should be discharged, transferred or admitted within four hours at least 95% of 
the time. In 2018/19, both East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Princess Alexandra 
Hospital failed to meet the standard. 
 
 
AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIMES 

The CCG commissions services from the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
(EEAST). The ambulance trust has had a challenging year, but has made progress against the 
new Ambulance Response Programme standards and are contracted to achieve these by Q1 
2019/20.       
 
Ambulance services are measured on the time it takes from receiving a 999 call to a vehicle 
arriving at the patient’s location. There are four categories of call with associated required 
average response times: 

 
• C1 People with life threatening injuries and illness (mean response time of 7 minutes) 
• C2 Emergency calls (mean response time of 18 minutes) 
• C3 Urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 120 minutes) 
• C4 Less urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 180 minutes) 
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REFERRAL TO TREATMENT TIMES 

The NHS Constitution sets out that patients should wait no longer than 18 weeks from GP 
referral to treatment.  Hospitals are measured on the standard that 92% of patients on an 
incomplete pathway are within 18 weeks.  This standard has not been met for East and 
North Hertfordshire CCG patients during 2018/19.  The CCG ended the year with 90.87% of 
patients on an incomplete pathway under 18 weeks.  To note, CCG-level performance figures 
only include East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust data from October 2018 onwards due 
to trust issues with new software prior to this. 
 
  
 
STROKE  

National stroke performance standards state that stroke patients should spend 90% of their 
time in hospital in a specialist stroke unit. This standard has been met consistently 
throughout 2018/19 by ENHT, with improved performance on 2017/18. Patients who have 
had a stroke should also be admitted directly to a specialist stroke unit within 4 hours. Trust 
performance against this standard improved on 2017/18 to 72.78% in 2018/19 (against a 
standard of 90%) and remains above national average.  2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
2 Overall CCG level performance will be available in July 2019. The data for ENHT provided above will also be 
validated in July 2019. 

https://www.strokeaudit.org/
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CANCER 
 
We believe that our patients should receive high quality care without unnecessary delay and 
where cancer is suspected, patients have the right to be seen by a cancer specialist within 
two weeks of a referral being received. Patients should expect to be treated according to 
clinical priority and for patients diagnosed with cancer; their first definitive treatment to 
remove or shrink the tumour should be within 62 days of the date the referral was first 
received and within 31 days of the decision to treat date. 
 

• The ‘two week referral to first outpatient appointment’ standard has been met for 
2018/19 for our patients, together with the 2 week standard for urgent breast 
symptom referrals. 
 

• The 31 days to first definitive treatment standard has met the required 96% standard 
for the majority of months in 2018/19, achieving 96.66% for 2018/19. 
 

• The 62 day standard of 85% has not been achieved at CCG level throughout 2018/19, 
largely due to performance issues at ENHT, however improvements have been seen 
in the second half of the year.  
 
The trust’s achievement at year-end was 73.13% following adjustments made for late 
referrals. The Trusts revised recovery trajectory agreed with NHSI, anticipates them 
meeting the 85% standard in October 2019.  Considerable work has been undertaken 
between the trust and the CCG to identify improvement actions. 

 
 
DIAGNOSTIC WAITS 

There is a national requirement that patients should have their diagnostic tests within six 
weeks with a performance standard of 99%. Performance against this standard for 2018/19 
was just under expectation at 98.77%.  CCG-level performance figures only include ENHT 
data from October 2018 onwards due to trust issues with new software prior to this.  
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DIAGNOSING DEMENTIA  

For 2018/19, GPs in east and north Hertfordshire recorded a rate of 66.01% against a 
standard of 66.7% of the expected number of people over 65 diagnosed with dementia.  The 
standard was achieved in the months of October, November and March (achieving 66.8% 
respectively) and work to improve diagnosis rates continues, including the introduction of 
one-stop pathways and support to GP practices.  
 
 
QUALITY PREMIUM (2017-19) 

All CCGs have the potential to earn a ‘Quality Premium’ (QP) which is in recognition of 
improving the quality of services that they commission and for associated improvements in 
health outcomes and reducing inequalities.  
 
The 2017-19 Quality Premium is a two-year scheme and will be paid to the CCG in 2018/19 
and 2019/20 to reflect the achievements in 2017/18 and 2018/19 of national and local 
measures based on the priorities of the Five Year Forward View, NHS Mandate and Right 
Care Programme.  
 
CCGs must use any QP payment awarded to them to improve the quality of care or health 
outcomes and/or reduce health inequalities. 
 
In 2018/19 the CCG did not receive any Quality Premium payment relating to 17/18 as a 
result of constitutional performance targets for Cancer, A&E and Waiting Times not being 
met.  In 2019/20 the total maximum amount payable to CCGs for achievement of the 
2018/19 QP is £5 per registered patient which, for East and North Hertfordshire CCG, with a 
registered population of around 598,000, equates to around £2.99m. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-mandate-2016-to-2017
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/
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For 2018/19, quality indicators account for approximately 25% of the total Quality 
Premium monies available. The national quality measures, based on the Five Year Forward 
View and NHS Mandate are: 
 

• Cancers diagnosed at an early stage - worth 17% of the quality indicators; 
• Overall experience of making a GP appointment - worth 17% of quality indicators; 
• Reduction in bloodstream infections and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in 

primary care - worth 17% of quality indicators; 
• Improvements in continuing healthcare pathways - worth 17% of quality indicators; 
• Improvements in mental health pathways - worth 17% of the quality indicators. 

 
The local quality measure, based on priorities for East and North Hertfordshire CCG and 
agreed with NHS England, is: Increase in bowel cancer screening - worth 15% of quality 
indicators. 
 
For 2018/19, further to the quality indicators outlined, there are additional performance 
measures for Emergency Demand Management which account for approximately 75% of the 
total Quality Premium monies available: 
 

• Number of type 1 A&E attendances and non-elective admissions with a zero length of 
stay to be within plan - worth 50% of demand management indicators; 

• Number of non-elective admissions with length of stay of 1 day or more to be within 
plan - worth 50% of demand management indicators. 

 
 
For 2018/19, based on the anticipated performance as described in the tables above (*for 
indicators where data is available at time of reporting), the CCG may potentially receive 50% 
of the monies aligned against those Quality measures that are expected to achieve, totalling 
£164,412.  However, this is dependent on the clarification from NHS England of how the CCG 
will calculate its number of patients on incomplete pathways in March 2018 when ENHT had 
ceased reporting.  If the CCG does not achieve the incomplete pathway gateway, then 
monies aligned against any achieved Quality Premium Indicators, will be reduced to £0.   
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Domain/Measure Detail Performance at year end 

Emergency Demand Management Indicators 

A&E attendances 
and short stay non 
elective 
admissions  

Number of type 1 A&E attendances 
and number of non-elective 
admissions with zero length of stay 
to be no greater than planned. 

This metric was not achieved for 
2018/19 

Non elective 
admissions 

Number of non-elective admissions 
with length of stay of 1 day or more 
to be no greater than planned.  

This metric was not achieved for 
2018/19 

Quality Indicators 

Cancers diagnosed 
at an early stage 

Improvement in the proportion of 
cancers diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 

Data for this metric is produced 
annually and information for 2018/19 
will be available and published on the 
CCG website at the beginning of 2020.  

Overall experience 
of making a GP 
appointment 

Increase in the percentage of 
respondents to the GP Patient 
Survey who said they had a good 
experience of making an 
appointment. 

The data for this metric will be released 
in the July 2019 publication of the GP 
Patient Survey.  
 
The results of practices in East and 
North Hertfordshire CCG's area 
compared to the national average in 
2017/18 are available to view here. 

Blood Stream 
Infections 

Part A: Reduction in the number of 
gram negative blood stream 
infections 

Information available to December 2018 
(Qtr 3) indicates that this metric is 
unlikely to be achieved for 2018/19 
DATA NOT AVAILABLE AT TIME OF 
PUBLICATION 

Part B: Reduction of inappropriate 
antibiotic prescribing for urinary 
tract infections in primary care 

Information available to December 2018 
indicates that this metric is likely to be 
achieved for 2018/19  
DATA NOT AVAILABLE AT TIME OF 
PUBLICATION 

https://www.gp-patient.co.uk/
https://www.gp-patient.co.uk/
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/getinvolved/GPPS_CCG_results_2018_15052019%20%281%29.pptx
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Part C: Items per STAR-PU must be 
equal to or below England 2013/14 
mean performance (1.161) with a 
stretch target of 0.965  

Information available to December 2018 
indicates that this metric is likely to 
achieve the 1.161 target for 2018/19 
but not the stretch target DATA NOT 
AVAILABLE AT TIME OF PUBLICATION 

Continuing 
Healthcare 

Measure 1: Increase in percentage 
of CHC eligibility decisions made 
within 28 days of receipt of checklist 

This metric was not achieved for 
2018/19. 

Measure 2: Decrease in percentage 
of full NHS CHC assessments taking 
place in an acute hospital setting  

This metric was achieved for 2018/19. 

Mental Health 
Improved access to Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health 
services 

Information available to Qtr. 3 indicates 
that this metric will potentially be 
achieved for 2018/19. DATA NOT 
AVAILABLE AT TIME OF PUBLICATION 

Local Measure  

Increase in the percentage of 
people aged 60-69 who were 
screened for bowel cancer in the 
previous 30 months  

Information for this metric will be 
released in December 2019, however 
early indications suggest this metric is 
on track to be achieved.   

 
The total payment to CCGs, based on performance against the national and local measures 
detailed above, is further reduced if the NHS Constitution rights or pledges are not met for 
its patients: 
 

• The number of patients on an incomplete pathway not to be higher in March 2019 
than in March 2018– 50% reduction; 

• Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer – 50% reduction; 
 
 

Failure to meet these pledges results in a percentage reduction to the amount of Quality 
Premium earned for each standard not met, with the risk of losing the whole payment if 
none are met. CCGs must also manage within their total resource envelope for 2018/19 and 

https://www.nhs.uk/Scorecard/Pages/IndicatorFacts.aspx?MetricId=12030


50 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

not be in serious quality failure 3 in order to qualify for any Quality Premium payment.  
Failure to meet these criteria will result in CCGs not being awarded any of their Quality 
Premium payment.  
 
 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST NHS CONSTITUTION RIGHTS AND PLEDGES  
The table below shows our performance against the NHS Constitution Rights and Pledges.  

 

NHS Constitution 
Right / Pledge Detail Standard Performance 

Waiting List 

The number of patients on an 
incomplete pathway not to be 
higher in March 2019 than in 
March 2018 

< March 2018 

Performance 
against this 
standard is 
currently under 
review with 
ENHT not 
reporting in 
March 2018. 

Cancer two 
month (62-day) 
wait 

Maximum two month (62-day) 
wait from urgent GP referral to 
first definitive treatment for 
cancer 

85% or improving 
performance as 
agreed with NHS 
England 

This target was 
not met for 
2018/19 

 
 
 
                                                      
3 ‘Serious quality failure’ means that: a local provider has been subject to enforcement action by the Care Quality 
Commission; or has been flagged as a quality compliance risk and/or have requirements in place around breaches of 
provider licence conditions; or has been subject to enforcement action based on a quality risk; and the CCG, has been 
judged as not making an appropriate, proportionate response with its partners to resolve the above quality failure; and this 
continues to be the position for the CCG at the end of year assessment. 
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A&E four hour operational standard 

There is a national requirement that 95% of patients attending A&E are treated, admitted or 
transferred within 4 hours of arrival. Significant pressures over the winter period have 
affected performance at both East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Princess Alexandra 
Hospital NHS Trust. Nationally there is an expectation that all trusts will meet 90% by 
September 2018 and 95% by March 2019.  
 
A Contract Performance Notice was issued to East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust in 
December 2017, which resulted in the Trust submitting a remedial action plan to explain the 
key actions that will be undertaken to improve performance. Work has been continuing in 
the following areas:  

• The redesign of streaming model at Lister A&E to ensure that patients are seen by the 
most appropriate clinician  

• Increased utilisation of alternative urgent care pathways, including ambulatory care, 
frailty and discharge home to assess; 

• Capacity and demand modelling of assessment space within the Trust; 
• Implementation of professional standards and escalation protocols. 

 

Actions undertaken at Princess Alexandra Hospital to improve performance include:  

• Focusing on patient ‘flow’ in the department; 
• Changes to the allocation and use of medical and surgical assessment areas; 
• Early identification of patients to be discharged from wards; 
• Review of the GP streaming service;  
• Consultant presence in Rapid Assessment Team to lead and support early 

assessment. 
• The introduction of an improvement action plan and ‘Every Minute Matters’ work to 

improve the pathway for patients with urgent care needs, ensuring that they are 
treated by the most appropriate professional.  
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Response times to ambulance calls 

New ambulance performance standards came into operation at the end of October 2017 to 
measure ambulance response times. There are 4 categories of call with associated required 
average response times: 
 

• C1 People with life threatening injuries and illness (mean response time of 7 minutes) 
• C2 Emergency calls (mean response time of 18 minutes) 
• C3 Urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 120 minutes) 
• C4 Less urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 180 minutes) 

 
Discussions have been held locally and nationally to work collaboratively with 111 providers 
to reduce the number of C3 and C4 ambulances that are dispatched. The East of England 
Ambulance Trust has had a challenging year not meeting any of the new performance 
standards, however the standards are contracted to be met by Q1 in 2019/20. 

 
 
 

CCG Ambulance Response  Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2018/19 

C1 People with life 
threatening injuries and 
illness  

<7 
minutes 8:34 8:32 8:20 8:06 8:23 

C2 Emergency calls  <18 
minutes 26:39 30:22 27:44 27:34 28:04 

C3 Urgent calls  <120 
minutes 149:07 171:06 170:10 175:52 166:36 

C4 Less urgent calls  <180 
minutes 176:53 187:29 187:56 184:21 184:10 
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Waiting times for cancer treatment 

The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients with suspected cancer. There are a number 
of government pledges on cancer waiting times: 
 
 
Two-week waits 
 

• A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients 
referred with suspected cancer symptoms; 

• A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients 
referred for investigation of breast symptoms, even if cancer is not 
initially suspected. 

 
31 days 
 

• A maximum one month (31-day) wait from the date a decision to 
treat (DTT) is made to the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the 
treatment is surgery; 

• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the 
treatment is a course of radiotherapy; 

• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the  
treatment is an anti-cancer drug regimen. 
 

62 days 
 

• A maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent referral for 
suspected cancer to the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

• A maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS cancer 
screening service to the first definitive treatment for cancer;  

• A maximum 62-day wait for the first definitive treatment 
following a consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the 
patient (all cancers). 

14 

31 

62 
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East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  

Although East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has performed well against the 2-week 
standard in 2018/19, from Qtr 2 onwards, the 31-day and the 62-day standard to definitive 
treatment have proved more difficult to achieve.  
 
A Contract Performance Notice was issued to the Trust by the CCG in December 2017 and 
monthly cancer performance meetings were re-established.  A revised recovery action plan 
and trajectory to meet the 62 day standard by July 2019 has been agreed with NHSE and is in 
place.   
 
At year-end, the trust had treated 73.16% of patients within the 62-day standard, post 
adjustments for inter trust transfers, missing the target of 85%.  Performance has improved 
in the final quarter of the year however and work has been ongoing between the trust and 
CCG to: 
 

• model demand and capacity requirements at tumour site level; 
• develop timed pathways for lung and prostate cancer; 
• improve systems to track all cancer patients to ensure they are diagnosed and 

treated within appropriate timescales; 
• improve breach analysis and reporting. 

 
The CCG also has a Cancer Steering Group which discusses issues of performance against the 
national cancer waiting standards, national guidance and reviews and agrees ways in which 
cancer pathways can be improved. 
 
 
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust 

Performance at Princess Alexandra Hospital against the cancer waiting time standards has 
been good with all metrics meeting required standards for 2018/19 overall, with the 
exception of the 62-day standard. The Trust met the 62-day standard in four months of 
2018/19 and finished the year on 82.40%. 
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The table below shows cancer performance at CCG level which is for ENHCCG patients 
attending any hospital. With the majority of our CCG patients attending ENHT, the 
performance at ENHT has a significant impact on CCG performance. 
 
Table: Cancer waiting times for all CCG patients 
 
Cancer Waiting Times at CCG level Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2018/19 

Two 
Week 
Waits 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with suspected cancer 
by a GP 

93% 91.70% 94.56% 96.19% 

 
 

95.91% 
 
 

94.59% 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with breast symptoms 
(where cancer was not initially suspected) 

93% 92.16% 94.25% 95.26% 93.47% 93.79% 

31 
Day 
Waits 

Maximum one month (31-day) wait from 
diagnosis to first definitive treatment for 
all cancers 

96% 97.39% 95.53% 97.35% 96.38% 96.66% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is surgery 94% 90.20% 85.98% 85.74% 80.49% 85.60% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is an 
anti-cancer drug regime 

98% 98.01% 98.36% 100% 97.84% 98.55% 

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is a 
course of radiotherapy 

94% 93.87% 96.18% 97.93% 96.04% 96.00% 

62 
Day 
Waits 

Maximum two month (62-day) wait from 
urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer 

85% 74.18% 72.97% 76.62% 75.95% 74.93% 

Maximum 62-day wait from referral from 
an NHS screening service to first definitive 
treatment for all cancers 

90% 87.35% 76.81% 87.71% 83.22% 83.77% 

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive 
treatment following a consultant's 
decision to upgrade the priority of the 
patient (all cancers) 

85% 86.67% 85.29% 85.02% 85.25% 85.56% 
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Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
Under the NHS Constitution there is a performance standard related to patients waiting for 
treatment; the standard being that 92% of patients on an incomplete pathway should be 
within 18 weeks.   
 
The table below 4 details the RTT performance for East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients 
for 2018/19. 5  
 
RTT Waiting Times Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

18 
Weeks 

Patients on 
incomplete non- 
emergency pathways 
(yet to start 
treatment) should 
have been waiting no 
more than 18 weeks 
from referral 

92% 90.39% 89.40% 88.01% 90.87% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                      
4 Data shown is a ‘snapshot’ from month 3 of each quarter 
5 and 5 ENHT figures have only been included from October 2018 as ENHT were unable to report their figures 
prior to this as a result of issues relating to the implementation of a new software system. 
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Diagnostic test waiting times 
There is a requirement that 99% of patients have diagnostic tests within 6 weeks of clinician 
request. 6 
 
Diagnostic Test  Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Maximum six week wait for 
diagnostic test 99% 99.24% 98.57% 98.07% 98.77% 

 
 
Stroke performance 7 

Stroke performance is monitored nationally and reported publically, via the Sentinel Stroke 
National Audit Programme (SSNAP).  
 
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust met the 90% of time on a stroke unit consistently 
throughout 2018/19.  The 4-hours direct to stroke unit standard has been more challenging 
and ENHT is working hard to achieve the required standard, having improved on 
performance in 2017/18.  
 
The Trust successfully recruited a stroke consultant in September 2018 and is continuing to 
look at different recruitment programmes going forward.  Further progress throughout 
2018/19 includes a relaunched Stroke communications campaign and thrombolysis audit.   
 
The Trust attained an ‘A Rating’ on SSNAP for the period December 2017 to March 2018, 
which is a significant achievement;  SSNAP national ratings are based on 44 key indicators 
which are grouped into 10 domains covering key aspects of stroke care, with grade ‘A’ 
indicating delivery of a first class service indicative of world class stroke care.    
 
 

                                                      
 
7 Overall CCG level performance will be available in July 2019. The data for ENHT provided above will also be 
validated in July 2019. 

https://www.strokeaudit.org/
https://www.strokeaudit.org/
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Stroke Performance - ENHT Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2018/19 

4 hours direct to stroke unit 
(ASI 2) 90% 73.80% 72.33% 74.77% 70.23% 72.78% 

90% of time on the stroke 
unit (ASI 3, IPMR) 80% 86.43% 90.70% 92.43% 92.40% 90.49% 

Thrombolysed within 3 hours 12% 8.17% 12.10% 30.97% 10.27% 15.4% 

 
 
 
Dementia diagnosis  
By diagnosing patients more promptly with dementia, we will be better able to support 
them and their families. For 2018/19, GPs in east and north Hertfordshire recorded a rate of 
66.01%, against a target of 66.7% of the expected number of people over 65 diagnosed with 
dementia.  
 
GP practice visits have been undertaken to ensure that dementia registers are up to date 
and dementia diagnosis is correctly recorded, which resulted in the 66.7% target being met 
in the second half of 2018/19.  
 
 
 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)  
The national standards for the numbers of people accessing psychological therapies and the 
proportion of people assessed as having recovered as a result of their treatment have both 
been met for 2018/19. The national waiting time standard of 75% of people starting 
treatment within six weeks was not achieved in 2018/19 with a challenging final quarter of 
the year.  However, the standard of 95% of people starting treatment within 18 weeks, was 
achieved for the year.  
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MY NHS – HOW ARE YOUR LOCAL HEALTH SERVICES PERFORMING? 
 
My NHS is a website where organisations, professionals and the public can compare the 
performance of services across health and care, over a range of measures, and on local and 
national levels.  
 
In 2017/18, the CCG was once again rated as OUTSTANDING by NHS England in its annual 
assessment. The CCG was awarded the top rating for the second year in a row, one of only 
13 CCGs across the country to achieve this.  
 
The assessment is a detailed review of fifty indicators which show how well the CCG is 
working in four key areas: 

• Better Health: how the CCG contributed towards improving the health and wellbeing 
of its population; 

• Better Care: focusing on care redesign, performance against national standards, and 
outcomes in important clinical areas; 

• Sustainability: how the CCG is remaining in financial balance, and is securing good 
value for patients and the public from the money it spends; 

• Leadership: assessing the quality of the CCG’s leadership, our plans, how the CCG 
works with its partners, and our governance arrangements 

We performed well in reducing falls, offering personal health budgets, improving maternity 
care, starting cancer treatment within the expected two months and working well as a 
system leader. Areas where we need to make improvements include diagnosing cancer 
earlier, helping those with diabetes to manage their health and ensuring more patients have 
their hospital treatment within 18 weeks.   
 
The results for our 2018/19 assessment will not be published on My NHS until July 2019.  
 
You can keep up to date with the performance of the CCG and the wider local NHS by typing 
your postcode into www.nhs.uk/mynhs 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201807/ccg-rated-outstanding-again
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/news/201807/ccg-rated-outstanding-again
http://www.nhs.uk/mynhs
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ENSURING OUR PATIENTS RECEIVE  
HIGH QUALITY CARE  
Our ambition is to commission high quality, safe and clinically effective services for our 
patients. The indicators in the NHS Outcomes Framework; clinical effectiveness, patient 
experience and patient safety, allow the CCG to gain assurance about the quality of services 
being delivered by our providers and enables us to challenge and intervene when necessary. 

The CCG’s quality assurance strategy sets out our approach to commissioning and 
monitoring services in order to deliver high quality care to our patients.  

The quality team: 

• sets key safety, experience and effectiveness measures which are monitored 
regularly through quality review meetings, quality assurance visits and contract 
review meetings 
 

• provides an integrated performance and quality report for the Governing Body 
 

• has a robust Quality Committee which reports to the Governing Body, providing 
assurance on the quality of services we commission. The committee receives a 
quality dashboard detailing key metrics for all providers as well as a quarterly quality 
report detailing performance for all providers 
 

• monitors and reviews data from a number of sources, including the GP hotline, to 
ensure early warnings of a potential decline in quality are identified and appropriate 
action taken. The GP hotline is a direct way for GPs and practice staff to let the CCG 
know if there are any issues with healthcare providers 
 

• has put in place a robust programme of quality assurance visits to providers, using 
the expertise of patient representatives to support visits. We use visits to identify 
concerns and ensure appropriate actions are taken 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/nhs-outcome-framework-health-inequalities-indicators/
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• has a well-informed patient network group which plays an integral role in quality 
monitoring. All localities are represented on this group and provide feedback on the 
quality of services commissioned by the CCG 
 

• works in partnership with providers and other commissioners to ensure quality 
priorities are aligned to the current and future health needs of the local population. 
Where appropriate, improvements are incentivised through the commissioning for 
quality and innovation (CQUIN) national schemes 
 

• hosts the ‘designated professionals’ for Hertfordshire, who are members of local 
safeguarding boards. For further details of their work please see pages 57-59 
  

• works with NHS England to monitor the quality of primary care. The CCG supports 
practices undergoing CQC inspections and uses the expertise of our own specialists 
and external partners to help practices improve the quality of their services  
 

• manages the ‘prior approval’ process which ensures that clinical procedures are 
carried out at the optimum time for patients in line with best available clinical 
evidence and in accordance with clinical thresholds agreed by the Bedfordshire and 
Hertfordshire Priorities Forum.  There will always need to be a process for 
considering NHS funding for an individual based on either individual clinical 
circumstances or exceptional clinical circumstances. The team has clinical expertise 
and administration support to process applications for prior approval and ‘individual 
funding requests’ for both the Hertfordshire CCGs 
 

• reviews complaint themes and trends from our main providers. ‘Serious incidents’ in 
healthcare are adverse events, where the consequences to patients, families and 
carers, staff or organisations are so significant or the potential for learning is so great, 
that a heightened level of response is justified. The CCG’s Serious Incident panel 
meets weekly to review investigation reports from serious incidents to make sure 
they are robust and have considered all aspects of how an incident happened and 
what is being done to learn from it. 
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ccg-guidance-and-policies-final
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ccg-guidance-and-policies-final
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ifr
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ifr
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‘Never Events’ 

‘Never Events’ are particular types of serious incidents which meet the following criteria: 
 

• They are wholly preventable, where guidance or safety recommendations that 
provide strong systemic protective barriers are available at a national level, and 
should have been implemented by all healthcare providers 

• They have the potential to cause serious patient harm or death, although serious 
harm is not required to have happened in order to classify as a Never Event 

• There is evidence that the category of Never Event has occurred in the past 
(nationally) and a risk of recurrence remains. 

 
In January 2018, NHS Improvement published a revised Never Event List 2018.  
 
In 2018/19, six Never Events were reported regarding East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s 
patients; all occurred at East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust. The details of the incidents 
are as follows: 
 

Organisation Type of Never Event Detail 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust 

Unintentional connection 
of a patient requiring 
oxygen to an air flowmeter 

A patient requiring oxygen was given air as the 
equipment was connected to an airflow outlet. 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust  

Misplaced naso- or oro-
gastric tubes 

A patient was commenced on fluids via a 
feeding tube that was inadvertently placed in 
the lung instead of the stomach. 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Wrong site surgery A wrong lesion was removed from a patient’s 

arm. 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Wrong site surgery A biopsy was taken from the wrong lung. 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Wrong site surgery Wrong side surgery 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Wrong site surgery A nerve block was given on the wrong side.  

 

https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/never-events-policy-and-framework/
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ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE QUALITY TEAM IN 2018/19 

Throughout the year, the quality team has been involved with a number of workstreams that 
have improved quality, patient experience and clinical effectiveness: 

 

Mortality rates at East and 
North Hertfordshire NHS 
Trust 

The team continues to work with the trust and monitor 
progress against audits and action plans which has seen a 
sustained improvement in mortality rate levels which when 
compared to other trusts falls within the expected range.  
 
 

Delegated responsibility for 
primary care 
 

From 1 April 2018 the responsibility for monitoring quality 
and responding to concerns arising from general practices 
has been delegated to the CCG. The quality assurance and 
improvement framework was developed and supports our 
ongoing work with practices to develop and improve the 
quality of primary care, enabling a number of practices to 
maintain or improve their CQC ratings. 
 
 

Early adopter for 
safeguarding partnerships 
 

The CCG is a key partner in local safeguarding children’s 
arrangements and in 2018 funding was secured to become 
an early adopter of the new partnership arrangements, 
with the CCG playing an important role in leading the 
promotion of good safeguarding practice.  
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Attraction and 
recruitment strategy 
 

The CCG has been actively involved with STP workforce 
groups looking at ways of attracting, recruiting and retaining 
staff in the Hertfordshire health and social care sectors. This 
has involved developing a strategy that supports workforce 
initiatives to ensure we have the right levels and skills of staff 
for the future. 
 
 

Improving the diagnosis 
of children with autistic 
spectrum disorder 

The CCG has led a project where providers in partnership with 
families and the local authority are testing a new autism 
spectrum diagnostic pathway.  It is anticipated that the new 
way of working will offer a more timely and supported 
diagnosis. 
  

  
Expanding the CCG prior 
approval team 

The team has added more clinical expertise and 
administration support to process applications for prior 
approval and ‘individual funding requests’ to manage the 
process for both Hertfordshire CCGs. This means that services 
are more consistent across the county with more equitable 
application of clinical policies. 
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CARING FOR VULNERABLE RESIDENTS 
 
The CCG works hard to keep people who are known to be vulnerable safe, particularly 
children in the care of the local authority.  We are active members of the Hertfordshire 
Safeguarding Children Partnership and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board, both 
groups work to protect the welfare of all children and vulnerable adults.  

 

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 

Children have the right to be protected from abuse and neglect, to grow and develop to 
their full potential and live in safe environments. Safeguarding children is a cornerstone for 
the CCG and we are committed to minimising the risk of physical, sexual and emotional harm 
to all children and young people in Hertfordshire. 
 
Safeguarding children is integral to the commissioning process and the role of the CCG’s 
‘designated professionals’ is to assure the organisation that commissioned services have 
measures in place to safeguard and protect children at risk of harm. This is supported 
through contracts, training, review of processes and policy, constructive challenge, 
attendance at safeguarding committees and key performance indicators.  
 
There are strong systems in place to ensure that all provider health organisations are fully 
compliant with Section 11 of the Children Act (2004), including scrutiny through action 
planning, audit scheduling and quality meeting reporting.  
 
Following changes to legislation and statutory guidance, the Hertfordshire Safeguarding 
Children Partnership was established in February 2019. As part of this partnership, the CCG 
holds equal responsibility and accountability Hertfordshire County Council and Hertfordshire 
Constabulary for the safety of children and young people.  
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The CCG’s designated professionals are key members of sub-groups, which aim to monitor 
and evaluate the effectiveness of local organisations to individually and collectively 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 
 
The designated team also takes on the responsibility for child death arrangements in 
Hertfordshire under the revised guidance. 
 
Key achievements in 2018/19 
 

• Hertfordshire was one of the first areas to revise its multi-agency partnership 
arrangements following the publication of new guidance 

• We launched a number of multi-agency workstreams that will develop safe, robust 
and high quality safeguarding practice across all partner agencies  

• We implemented actions arising from serious case reviews and developed new 
protocols where needed, such as setting up a Complex Case Panel, to ensure safe and 
effective safeguarding practice  

• We reviewed safeguarding supervision across Hertfordshire, following 
recommendations from a serious case review. The CCG led on developing a multi-
agency Safeguarding Supervision Strategy. 

• Our bid for providing training for clinical staff on recognising sexually harmful behavior 
was successful   

• We delivered training across primary care through conferences and by ‘named GPs’ 
• We continued to monitor services to ensure that Looked After Children receive good 

care 
 
You can read more about our work to safeguard children here.   
 

 

 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777955/Child_death_review_statutory_and_operational_guidance_England.pdf
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/safeguarding-children-and-young-people


67 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 

We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and 
neglect so that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive 
contribution to society.  

Our Director of Nursing and Quality and Head of Adult Safeguarding are members of the 
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB).  This means we can make sure that the CCG 
works closely with partners to constantly improve the outcomes for adults at risk across the 
county. 

This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and Practice Nurses on adult safeguarding;  
we provided evidence to a health scrutiny topic group on Safeguarding Adult Reviews, 
completed assurance visits to partner agencies and began the second year with a revised 
self-assessment template.  

As Chair of the Domestic Homicide sub-group the Head of Adult Safeguarding has worked 
with colleagues to develop a work plan which has delivered a revised Domestic Homicide 
Review process, training for panel chairs and developed a process for quality assuring the 
overview report.  

We have developed a CCG training strategy and the Named Nurse has worked with the 
Children’s Safeguarding Team and the CCG’s HR shared service to develop and implement 
level 2 training for CCG staff. We have gained sufficient assurance from our main health 
providers regarding their adult safeguarding activities. 

In 2019/20 we have a number of work streams to deliver, including the training strategy, 
gaining assurance from smaller providers regarding safeguarding adult activity, chairing the 
HSAB’s Safeguarding Adult Review sub-group where we will be working with partners to 
identify learning and gain assurance that it is implemented with a positive outcome for 
people.  

We will continue to work with a number of other groups to ensure that we play an active 
role in protecting adults at risk of harm. 
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IMPROVING THE HEALTH OF PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES   

The integrated commissioning team across Hertfordshire County Council, and the two CCGs 
in Hertfordshire (ourselves and Herts Valleys  CCG) have been engaging and developing our 
joint commissioning strategy for learning disabilities in the county to cover the next five 
years. 
 
This ‘Big Plan for Learning Disabilities’ was launched in March 2019 and aims to help people 
with a learning disability to be healthy, independent and involved in their local community.  
It was put together in consultation with partners and people who have a learning disability.   
 
Key activities to improve the health of people with a learning disability this year have 
included:  
 

• Continuing to promote the Hertfordshire ‘Purple Star’ strategy as a quality standard 
tool and increasing the number of health services achieving the purple star 
accreditation. Chells Surgery in Stevenage and Wrafton House Surgery in Hatfield 
were amongst the local health services to be awarded the purple star in the past 12 
months 

• STOMP: Stopping the overmedicating of people with a learning disability to address 
where there is inappropriate over prescribing of psychotropic medication  

• Developing pathways to make it easier for people with a learning disability to access 
cancer screening, dementia diagnosis and epilepsy support  

• Raising awareness of conditions such as sepsis amongst people with a learning 
disability  

• Working with other commissioners to ensure mainstream health care services are 
able to offer support to people with a learning disability.  

 

Community Learning Disability Nurses (CLDNs) work within social care locality teams to 
support people with a learning disability to manage their own health conditions. Each CLDN 
is linked to several GP practices and can discuss individual cases and offer advice to GPs to 
ensure the needs of people are well managed.  

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Engagement/EqualityDiversity/Item%208b%20-%20Appendix%201%20the-big-plan-easy-read.pdf
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Ensuring people with a learning disability have an annual health check 8 and are offered a flu 
jab are key health promotion messages and CLDNs encourage people to attend these 
appointments. Each practice has a register of people with a learning disability. The CLDNs 
keep this up to date, enabling practices to be aware of all their patients who have additional 
learning needs. It is estimated that over 21,000 people in Hertfordshire have a learning 
disability but not all are included on practice registers. 

Hospital staff have access to specialist learning disability nurses from the health liaison team 
to help them make to make adjustments to their normal practices when patients come for 
their appointments. These adjustments could include a staff member not wearing their 
uniform, or using easy-read leaflets to help to explain procedures or treatments, for 
example. Specialist learning disability nurses also monitor whether patients with a learning 
disability have a good experience when they are admitted to, or discharged from hospital. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
8 NHS Digital publishes the percentage of people registered as having a learning disability who have received a 
health check. The data for 2018/19 is expected to be available in June 2019. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/learning-disabilities-health-check-scheme/england-quarter-3-2018-19
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PREPARING FOR EMERGENCIES 

The CCG has a responsibility in law to be fully prepared and able to respond effectively in the 
event of an incident which challenges the capacity or capability of the local health system.  
In 2018/19 we remained fully compliant with all nine areas of NHS England’s Core Standards 
for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).  
 
We have focused on:  
 

• our ability to deal with the most concerning issues on the community risk register  
• Supporting the providers we commission and our GP practices to improve their 

business continuity processes  
• Assisting in the development of the East of England Science and Technical Advice Cell 

(STAC) plan and UK Resilience Standards Consultation as part of the Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF)  

• Ensuring we had regular attendance at all multi-agency meetings  
• Engaging with multi-agency partners by attending external workshops and exercises 

to increase knowledge, networking and share experiences  
 
In 2019/20 our priorities will be:  

• to continue to develop our capability to deal with issues that are part of the 
community risk register 

• Reviewing our work programme for 2019/20 which will include online awareness 
training and ‘lunch and learn’ sessions to introduce emergency planning, 
preparedness and resilience to those staff who may have no exposure to the subject 
on a day to day basis  

• to ensure that the CCG and its providers are in line with the official guidance 
provided by the Department of Health and Social Care in regards to EU Exit 
preparations 

 

 

 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/business/business-continuity/risk-register.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/fire-and-rescue/are-you-ready-for-anything.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/fire-and-rescue/are-you-ready-for-anything.aspx
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REDUCING HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

HERTFORDSHIRE’S HEALTH HEADLINES 

The health and wellbeing of people in some of our communities is not improving at the same 
rate as others. Every year, far too many people suffer avoidable ill health or die earlier than 
they should – this is known as health inequality. These inequalities need to be tackled to 
make life better for everyone living in our area.  

Overall, Hertfordshire generally has better health outcomes compared with the rest of the 
country.  This reflects the fact that Hertfordshire is a more prosperous area than average – 
as we know that health outcomes are closely linked with levels of deprivation. If we compare 
health outcomes for Hertfordshire with those in other areas that have similar levels of 
deprivation, there are opportunities for improvement.  
 
Just looking at Hertfordshire as a whole can mask the differences in people’s health 
outcomes in different districts. For example:  

• Life expectancy for women in east Hertfordshire is two years longer than in north 
Hertfordshire. In the Welwyn Hatfield area – the gap is 8.9 years between the most 
and least deprived areas of this borough.   
  

• More people in the borough of Broxbourne have been diagnosed with diabetes than 
other areas of the county 
 

• Stevenage generally tends to have poorer health outcomes than other districts in the 
county. 
 

• Deaths from heart disease are more common in Stevenage than the rest of 
Hertfordshire  

 

Hertfordshire’s Director of Public Health has produced a detailed report looking at the state 
of the county’s health. This is available on Hertfordshire County Council’s website. 

https://www.hertshealthevidence.org/documents/key-resources/hertfordshire-director-of-public-healths-annual-report-201819.pdf
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THE ROLE OF HERTFORDSHIRE’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

     Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, Hertfordshire County 
Council and local district and borough councils, Healthwatch Hertfordshire and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, to plan how best to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and 
tackle local inequalities in health. East and North Hertfordshire CCG is one of the key decision 
makers represented on the Board.  

“The things that affect our health and wellbeing vary over the course of our lifetime so the 
Board’s partnership strategy for Hertfordshire 2016-2020 has been developed using four 
significant stages of the life course: Starting well; developing well; living and working well; and 
ageing well.  

“The CCG and our other partners are taking a joined-up approach to tackle the causes of poor 
health as well as supporting people to make healthier lifestyle choices and improving healthcare.  

“Hertfordshire has a strong history of partnership working and to date has had one of the largest 
pooled Better Care Funds in the country. This brings NHS and social care money into a single 
shared fund to help prevent older and vulnerable people going into hospital when they don’t 
need to and provide them with support in their community.  

“This year we will continue to focus on prevention work to keep people healthy, including a 
partnership plan to help tackle loneliness in Hertfordshire.  

 
 
Cllr Richard Roberts, Chair, Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board, 
Hertfordshire County Council 

 
 

“ 

” 
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Work of the board during 2018/19 

During 2018/19, as well as oversight of the Better Care  
Fund (BCF) Plan and receiving regular updates on the 
Hertfordshire and west Essex Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP), the board signed off  
or considered a number of strategic plans including: 

• The evaluation of Street Triage 
• Peer Challenge on Prevention and Public Health 
• CQC themed Review of Children and Young  

People’s Mental Health Services 
• Hertfordshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
• Updates on Housing and Hertfordshire Home 

Improvement Agency (HIA) 
• Hertfordshire Community First Strategy 
• Local Health Resilience Partnership 
• Developing a Population Health Management 

approach for Hertfordshire 
• HWB Strategy update: Starting Well and  

Developing Well – support for children and young 
people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing  

• Presentation from Hertfordshire All Age Autism 
Board 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board held its 5th stakeholder 
conference for 200 delegates in June 2018. The theme this 
year was ‘Ageing Well’, with guest speakers from several 
agencies providing different perspectives. 

 

 

HERTFORDSHIRE HEALTH 
EVIDENCE  

is a collaboration between 
county council and CCG 
intelligence teams and brings 
together health-related 
statistics, data briefings and 
reports.  
 
The website makes finding and 
using health evidence simple 
and quick and helps the CCG 
make evidence-based 
commissioning decisions which 
aim to reduce the disparities 
within our area. 
www.hertshealthevidence.org 
 
Read the Hertfordshire Public 
Health Service Strategy (2017-
2021) here.  

 

http://www.hertshealthevidence.org/
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2017/November/hertfordshire-ph-strategy-2017-21.pdf
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WORKING WITH PARTNERS TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

The CCG understands that by working together with partners across the health and social 
care system to identify and address health inequalities we can help secure improved health 
outcomes for our local population. 
 
We know that people’s health, access to services and experiences can be affected by many 
factors. As commissioners we are committed to planning services that meet the needs of 
everyone in our communities and we strive to continue to improve access for patients, in 
part by meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty and our requirements under the Equality Act 
2010. We are also working hard to give equal priority to physical and mental health needs. 
 
To help plan our work, we use information and data provided by Herts Health Evidence as 
well as the NHS RightCare Pack for our area.  These packs have been developed by a 
partnership of the NHS and a number of universities and aim to support health and care 
systems design and deliver services that work to reduce health inequalities in access to 
services and health outcomes for their diverse local populations. 
 
One of the challenges facing Hertfordshire is how we deliver the best care for our 
increasingly ageing population. We expect the number of over-75s to increase by 37% in the 
next 10 years. We are working to increase the support available, and we aim to identify 
people at risk of avoidable hospital admission sooner, before they reach the point where 
they are no longer managing to cope. We will achieve this by creating integrated teams; with 
primary care, community health, mental health and learning disability, ambulance and social 
care services working together in the community.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

Starting well Developing well Living well Ageing well 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-e-east_and_north_hertfordshire-ccg-dec18.pdf
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EXAMPLES OF OUR WORK TO REDUCE HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                   
of 40-74 year olds  
have been offered  
an NHS Health Check  

86%  

Across England the 
average is 90%, so we  
will be working with our 
partners in Public Health 
to offer more checks  
over the coming year 

of adults in Hertfordshire 
are overweight or obese 60% 

13% 

of people living 
in Hertfordshire 
smoke. Smoking 
is a recognised 
cause of high 
blood pressure. 

    Using £88,000 from the British 
Heart Foundation we will provide 
blood pressure testing at workplaces, 
supermarkets, football grounds and 
community events to target  
disadvantaged areas in Lower  
Lea Valley and Stevenage. 
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The population of our county is ageing. In north 
Hertfordshire 18.6% of people are aged over 65. There 
are health inequalities between older people living in 
care homes and those living in their own homes.  
  

A new checklist is being used in our care 
homes alongside urine dipstick tests. This helps 
make sure that antibiotics are only prescribed 
when a patient really does have a urinary tract 
infection. Using antibiotics properly minimises 
the chance of treatment-resistant bugs 
spreading easily through a care home.  

Only around two thirds  
of Hertfordshire adults  
claim to be physically active 

67% 

5 of our GP surgeries 
are already ‘parkrun 
practices’ and prescribe 
activity to patients.  
We encourage all our 
practices to sign up.  

A&E attendance rate is 0.96 
per 100 population for over 
65s living in care homes. This 
compares to 0.34 per 100 for 
the general over 65s 
population. 
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Between 2017 and 2026, the number of 
children and young people in Hertfordshire 
is expected to rise by nearly 12% 

We are supporting 
young people to take 
better care of their 
mental health. 500 
people, including 
teachers, social 
workers, care workers 
and Youth Connexions 
have been trained in 
youth mental health 
first aid. 

This year, Herts County 
Council adopted its 
new plan for children 
and young people.  
It sets out how the 
council and its partners 
will give every child, 
young person and their 
family the opportunity 
to live happy and 
fulfilling lives. 
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4 in 10 cancer cases can be prevented  

Our new ‘cancel out cancer’ programme 
aims to help people live healthier lives to 
avoid cancer,  helping them recognise and 
act upon early symptoms. 
 
We have worked with our main hospital 
and Cancer Research UK to develop leaflets 
encouraging people to attend all their 
appointments, even if they are worried 
about being diagnosed with cancer. 



79 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

A number of other CCG projects aim to ensure patients have access to the same standard 
of care, wherever they live and whatever their background. 

• Prioritisation framework – in 2017 we asked the public their views on how the CCG 
should focus its spending. Using that information, we introduced a framework to 
provide a structured, evidence-based way of considering which services could be 
commissioned by the CCG within its limited budget. This framework, used alongside 
our detailed equality impact assessment process allows our governing body to 
evaluate all proposals ensuring they produce the best outcomes for patients, offer 
good value for money and don’t negatively impact on particular groups of people.  
  

• The CCG actively supports young carers living in our area. This year all our contracts 
with providers have been rewritten to ensure that organisations who provide care for 
our patients also take account of the needs of young carers. Read more about our 
work with this important group of people on page 92.   
 

• Our GP practices have access to an electronic ‘clinical decision support tool’ (Ardens) 
which helps GPs to assess patients’ symptoms and ensure their conditions and any 
treatment they need are managed according to recognised best practice.   
 
 

CCG 360 STAKEHOLDER SURVEY 
The CCG was pleased with its results in the 360° stakeholder survey carried out by Ipsos Mori 
on behalf of NHS England. The annual survey which has been conducted online and by 
telephone since 2014, allows a range of key stakeholders to provide feedback on working 
relationships with their CCG. The results are used to support CCGs’ ongoing development 
and feed into improvement and assessment conversations with NHS England.   

Conducted in January and February, the survey results showed that the CCG continues to 
work collaboratively with its stakeholders in an effective manner to improve the health 
outcomes of its population.  
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PATIENT AND PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

A YEAR TO CELEBRATE 

In the NHS’ seventieth year, the CCG has continued to engage and involve its communities. 
The celebrations have provided us with an opportunity to reach out in new ways.  
 
Our 70th birthday was celebrated with a fountain dyed NHS blue, a community tea and 70 
mile relay walk through Welwyn Garden City, encouraging people to make healthy pledges 
to support the NHS – plus a special NHS 70 Christmas tree!  You can see highlights of our 
activities on our website.  
 
During 2018/19 we have further developed our work across the CCG. At the beginning of 
2018 we worked in collaboration with our volunteers, Hertfordshire Healthwatch, staff and 
other stakeholders to develop our public engagement and involvement strategy and action 
plan. 
 
As part of the strategy we adopted a set of 
involvement principles created by National 
Voices, to ensure our work meets national 
good practice.  
 
Our action plan aimed to transform the 
nature of our engagement throughout our 
activities. We have sought to maintain the 
existing strong structure of public 
involvement through patient participation 
groups and rigorous governance processes, 
while introducing a more diverse range of 
opportunities to engage with the CCG on all 
levels. 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/70th-birthday-nhs
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This includes supporting and seeking the views of patient 
participation groups across our area, to public 
representation and feedback within our core governance 
committees, including the new Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee and Priorities Forum which 
works across Hertfordshire and the wider region. 
 
The publication of assessments on our engagement 
processes by NHS England, along with internal audit 
recommendations and engagement with the National 
Association of Patient Participation and our own 
volunteer members has enabled us to reflect on our 
engagement practice and make improvements to our 
work. These are reflected in our action plan and strategy.  
 
  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

A patient’s view of the new 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 
 
 
        Our meetings consider the 
CCG’s high level workplan, what 
is being achieved, how they 
meet local needs and how they 
fit with the recently published 
NHS Long Term Plan. Having 
attended three meetings of the 
committee as a patient 
representative I am impressed 
by the commitment and 
expertise of its members and 
staff. I came to be involved 
through being active in my 
practice patient group and other 
local health networks and see 
my role as giving a patient’s 
perspective. The NHS works for 
us all, so local people’s interest 
in health plans would be 
welcome. Looking ahead, I hope 
to do more to promote the 
CCG’s work to the public it 
serves. Dates of committee 
meetings are listed on the 
website and members of the 
public are encouraged to attend 
and ask questions. 

 

Veronica Fraser, patient representative 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 

“ 

” 
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WHAT WE’VE BEEN DOING….  

Service design, commissioning and change 

Patient engagement is now embedded in service design and commissioning - ensuring that 
our population is directly involved and able to influence our day-to-day work. Alongside use 
of relevant population analysis and intelligence from our stakeholders and partners, we also 
look to directly involve our patient members in the decision-making processes we have. 
 
This year an example of this has been a large scale engagement on the introduction of 
‘extended access’ GP services in east and north Hertfordshire. Working with our GP practice 
members we surveyed our patient population and received more than 17,000 responses 
which informed the design and development of the service across our different geographic 
localities.  
 
Patient members and other stakeholders have also been keenly involved in the 
commissioning and procurement of our services throughout the last year. Representatives 
from Healthwatch Hertfordshire, charity and community organisations along with patient 
members have been part of our work to procure a phlebotomy service, develop strategies 
for frailty and long-term conditions and find a new provider for the minor injuries service in 
Cheshunt. 
 
We have also provided public engagement support to three GP practices which were 
relocating and two practices which merged, to ensure that patients were informed and 
understood why changes were proposed.  
 
Partners and patient members have also supported us in co-producing, developing and 
delivering new initiatives in our area. This has included developing a consistent care plan for 
patients living with long-term conditions, how ‘care navigation’ will work in our practices and 
the introduction of social prescribing. 
 
As well as our local work we are using our website and social media accounts to encourage 
patient members and the public to take part in regional and national consultations. 
 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/have-your-say
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Community engagement and education 

Two of our patient members sit on our cancer steering group, which looks to improve 
awareness of cancer signs and symptoms and increase the uptake of cancer screening 
opportunities in our area. A key output of this group has been the development of a 
community education and engagement campaign called ‘Cancel out Cancer’.  
 
We have worked with both patient members and Cancer Research UK in developing the 
content for an interactive engagement workshop, similar to a ‘Dementia Friends’ session, 
which can be delivered to community groups.  
 
The campaign officially launched on World Cancer Day in February, with our first ever 
Facebook Live session. We are now recruiting volunteers to deliver Cancel out Cancer 
sessions in the community, and also working with students at North Herts College to develop 
a website and mobile app version of the information session. 
 
To find out more about the campaign and find out how you can get involved then please 
visit: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer  
 
 
 

  

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer
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         Mike Carn and I are the patient representatives on the CCG Cancer Steering Group. We 
attend every meeting to represent patients and challenge the members of the committee 
including hospital trust staff to improve their services for cancer patients. We welcome any 
feedback from patients or families who want to improve cancer services for the CCG 
population and wish their voice to be heard, contact Justin.jewitt@me.com with your views 
or stories. 
 
“It’s quite a commitment; a lot of reading about performance and services for cancer 
patients. There is a great deal of difference in how our local hospitals are meeting cancer 
standards. Princess Alexandra Hospital in Harlow has recorded some of the best 
performance of any trusts in England whilst East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust has 
struggled with their own internal challenges.  
 
“I believe that all patients have the right to be made aware of what the treatment times 
should be and then monitor whether or not they are being seen appropriately. For example, 
I have championed putting the ‘two week wait’ standard (where there should be a maximum 
of 14 days from GP referral to a diagnosis) onto every GP website and also the websites of 
the hospitals. 
 
“Mike and I have worked with the CCG’s engagement team, plus Macmillan and Cancer 
Research UK to create a training programme for the public to help in the fight against 
cancer. The one hour training session is provided free of charge and available to anyone who 
makes contact.  
  
 
 
 

 

 

 

“ 

” 
Justin Jewitt, patient representative  

on the Cancer Steering Group 

mailto:Justin.jewitt@me.com
mailto:enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net


85 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

We have continued to support our organisation’s key priorities based upon the intelligence 
gathered through our quality assurance processes and research from strategic partners such 
as the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Here are some of the highlights of what we have 
achieved: 
 

• Raising awareness of stroke and Trans Ischaemic Attack (TIA)/mini strokes 

We have refined our education materials to raise awareness of the signs and 
symptoms of stroke and TIA and have created a wellbeing promotional pack and 
invited a range of businesses, including large employers such as Ocado, to 
incorporate it into their staff wellbeing initiatives. We have also started 
conversations with local football clubs and the Football Association in order to target 
working age men, who have been recognised as being at particular risk of stroke. 

 
• Dementia friendly communities 

We have continued to support the development of dementia friendly communities 
across our area, working with local charities, community organisations, businesses 
and councils. We have supported steering groups to get communities established and 
have delivered ‘dementia friends’ information sessions to more than fifty health 
professionals and community groups. 
 

• Parkrun practices 

We have supported and encouraged our patient participation groups to sign up to 
the Royal College of GPs ‘parkrun practice’ initiative which encourages patients to 
embrace the benefits of exercise to physical and mental wellbeing. We now have five 
parkrun practices across the patch, with more practices looking to join.  
 

• Future Heroes 

More than 700 students attended our annual Health and Social Care Careers Expo at 
the Fielder Centre in Hatfield. Ensuring that young people are engaged and 
understand the career opportunities available to them within the health and social 
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care sectors has been a key priority for our Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership. Working in collaboration with organisations across the health and care 
system, students who attended had the opportunity to meet 70 professionals, 
including nurses, doctors, physiotherapists, social workers and radiologists, and get 
first-hand insight into the wide range of careers available within the health and social 
care sectors. 
 

• Dealing with Diabetes events 

We have continued to work with our patient members and community service 
provider on developing high quality patient education and support for those living 
with Type 2 Diabetes. Over the course of the last year we have organised a further 
three events across east and north Hertfordshire, providing nutrition, lifestyle, and 
self-management advice to enable our population to better manage their condition. 
 

• Carers Café and community events 

We have supported our partner and patient community initiatives, working in 
partnership to raise awareness of engagement and health initiatives within those 
areas.  
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Supporting our volunteers 

We have sought to provide support to our regular volunteers and celebrate their 
contribution to our organisation. In the course of the last year, we have provided the 
following activities to better enable their contribution: 

• Herts Health Matters is our weekly e-newsletter which is sent to our patient 
volunteer network and anyone that signs up via the website. It gives an overview of 
all of the local and national health related news over the course of the last week and 
highlights opportunities public members can engage and have their say on local and 
national health and social care issues. You can read past editions and sign up to 
receive Herts Health Matters directly to your inbox here: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media  
 

• Our Facebook health involvement network – part of improvements to our digital 
engagement on social media has been to set up a closed Facebook group for 
members to join and share their views.   
 
The health involvement network is proving to be valuable resource, which enables 
members to share news, views and best practice from their own and other 
communities. The group is closed and moderated by members of staff from the CCG, 
which gives members more confidence and assurance to ask questions and debate in 
a safe space. We regularly post opportunities to engage and details of relevant 
events coming up. You can find out more details on our social media engagement 
activities here: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media 
 

• Training and support – we want our volunteers to feel supported in their role so have 
been providing specific training to meet their needs. For example for those 
volunteers involved in procurements, such as the Cheshunt MIU this year, we have 
provided specialist training on the process and systems used as part of that exercise. 
We have also signposted members to local, regional and national training events, 
workshops and conferences as well as online opportunities such as the collaboration 
between Future Learn and the Kings Fund. 
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media
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• Winter Celebration event – to recognise the contribution of our volunteers we held 
our first winter celebration event, which brought together volunteers, stakeholders 
and our staff and gave us the opportunity to say thank you for the contributions they 
have made throughout the year.    
 
 
 

        I was pleased to be involved in the procurement process for the new Cheshunt MIU 
service.  As a Cheshunt resident I am very aware of how difficult it can be to get to the main 
hospitals serving the area and really value the community hospital in the town.   
 
“The group was very welcoming and were happy to explain what numerous sets of initials 
meant (I have suggested that a glossary of these could be provided in future!).  As a patient 
representative I was given ample opportunity to express an opinion and ask questions.  I felt 
that my opinions were valued and taken account of in the decision making process.   
 
“I was also pleased to be able to report back to my PPG about the procurement and any 
other plans that might be in the pipeline.  The involvement of patient reps in these processes 
is an excellent idea and one that I hope will be continued. 

 

 

 
 

The above highlights are just a snapshot of the engagement activity we have undertaken 
over the course of the past year. You can see other examples of our activities, working 
alongside Healthwatch, the voluntary and community sector and of course our public 
volunteers on our website at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved  

“ 

” 
Janice Chalmers, patient representative involved 
in the new Cheshunt minor injuries service 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
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YOU SAID, WE DID 

One of the key areas of focus for our work in the past year has been to report back on the 
difference the contribution our patient members and stakeholders make through their 
engagement with us.  
 
To celebrate this, we produced a report on our activities throughout 2018 which was 
presented at our winter celebration event. Alongside this report, we have produced detailed 
analysis of the feedback we get from patient members on the engagement activities we 
have undertaken.  
 
These reports include both demographic analyses of respondents and the methodology we 
have undertaken and can be downloaded from our website here: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/you-said-we-did  
 
Here are a few highlights of the difference patients and stakeholders have made to our 
work:  
 
Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 

 
Procurement of 
the Cheshunt 
Minor Injuries 
Unit 

 
Two patient members were 
recruited to join the project 
group for the Cheshunt MIU 
and advocated for clearer 
communications and 
availability around the x-ray 
service at the hospital. 

 
Provision of X-ray was prioritised and 
a temporary service was installed 
with information sent out to the 
community.  
 
Patient members continue to sit on 
the project delivery board and are 
supporting the new provider to 
develop links with the community.  
 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/you-said-we-did
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Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 
 
Introduction of 
extended access 
to primary care in 
east and north 
Hertfordshire 

 
17,000 people contributed 
their views to our survey on 
what the new extended access 
service should look like.  
 
While respondents were 
proportionally slightly older 
than our general population, 
and more responses were 
received from women than 
men, the ‘protected 
characteristics’ were broadly in 
line with our population. A 
detailed analysis of each of the 
responses and demographics is 
supplied on the You Said, We 
Did web page. 

 
As a result of responses, extended 
access services were tailored to some 
of the preferences respondents 
showed. For example respondents 
showed an interest in having 
appointments from a wider skill-mix 
across primary care. As a result, the 
service in Lower Lea Valley offers a 
regular physiotherapy session as part 
of its extended access service. 
 
The location of service hubs was also 
given close consideration in relation 
to people’s willingness to travel for 
an evening or weekend appointment. 
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Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 
 
Young Carers 
Takeover 
Challenge 

 
We invited young members of 
local charity, Carers in Herts, 
to come and work with the 
CCG for a day as part of a 
‘Takeover Challenge’. 
 
Over the course of the event 
the young carers expressed 
their frustration at the lack of 
understanding of what a young 
carer is from both health and 
education professionals. They 
also asked for easier 
identification of their role as a 
young carer when coming into 
contact with health services 
and improved support in those 
circumstances. 
 

 
We have amended our core contract 
with all of our service providers to 
insert a requirement to ensure there 
is staff understanding of young carers 
their role, and support better 
identification of young carers. 
 
We are working with both Carers in 
Herts, the county council and the 
young carers themselves on a 
campaign to improve education and 
awareness of what a young carer is. 
 
These areas will be a continued focus 
of the work of our new young carers 
executive team. 
 

 
Design of our 
phlebotomy 
service 

 
To ensure a new phlebotomy 
service met people’s needs, 
views were gathered through 
online surveys and a 
questionnaire undertaken by 
patients at blood testing 
clinics. 

 
Accessibility and increasing the 
availability and flexibility of locations 
for blood testing came across as a key 
priority to respondents. As a result 
we ensured that this was reflected in 
the service specification.  
 
A patient member continues to sit on 
the procurement panel to feed in his 
expertise and advice. 
 

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/takeover-challenge/
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Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 
 
Public 
involvement with 
the CCG 

 
Following on from the 
engagement assessments 
conducted as part of NHS 
England’s IAF framework, we 
conducted a number of 
workshops and surveyed 
patient members for their 
perspective about how they 
engage with the CCG and what 
could be improved. 
 
On the whole patient member 
volunteers were pleased with 
the level of contact and 
content of engagement with 
our organisation. However a 
number of respondents felt 
that communications to the 
group could be improved and 
clearer to understand. 
 

 
We are conducting an analysis of our 
communications activity with 
patients, particularly the website and 
content included there.  
 
We will ensure that further 
communications are shared with our 
communications panel to gather their 
views prior to publication. 

INVOLVING ALL OF OUR COMMUNITY 

We continue to work on ensuring that all of our population is considered and consulted as 
part of our decision-making. Our activities are evidence based and intelligence led, with all 
projects subject to rigorous equality impact assessments developed across the organisation.  
 
These assessments are published publically as part of our Governing Body papers on the 
website here: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public  
 
To contribute to that intelligence and evidence, we seek to engage with a wide variety of 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
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partnership, stakeholder and community groups acting as advocates or representatives 
across Hertfordshire. For example over the course of the past year, the CCG have attended 
and actively contributed to the following groups: 
 

• Local authority health and wellbeing boards 
• Learning Disability Partnership Board 
• Hertfordshire Equality Committee 
• Mental Health Crisis Concordat  
• Gypsy and Traveller Empowerment meetings  
• Carers PPG 
• Hertfordshire Healthwatch Sensory and Physical Disability and Mental Health service 

user groups 
 
Where our work affects communities and there is no existing stakeholder group to reference 
or work with, we look to engage with specialist voluntary and community organisations, for 
example engaging with local CVS organisations to reach smaller community groups as 
representatives of their relevant communities. 
 
Our CCG is committed to supporting residents with additional needs to get involved with our 
work. We aim to ensure that these public engagement and involvement meetings are held in 
accessible venues and at a range of locations, to make them as convenient as possible for 
patients and carers to attend. Engagement and consultation exercises always include the 
option of telephoning or posting a response, to minimise the risk of digital exclusion. 
 
Key strategy documents, including our ‘year in review’ summary and public engagement 
strategy, are available in a range of formats and are checked with a panel of service users 
with learning disabilities before publication. Commonly-used patient-facing leaflets, such as 
those produced by the CCG to advise patients on the use of over-the-counter medicines, are 
also made available in easy read and large-print formats. 
 
We are currently in the process of refreshing our approach to the NHS Equality Diversity 
System (EDS2) – although this is currently on hold while waiting for the latest guidance on a 
refreshed system. 



94 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Over the past year an area of particular focus for us has been developing our work with 
carers, an audience we consider to be a 10th protected characteristic. Specifically we have 
sought to improve the organisation’s understanding and awareness of young carers.  
 
 
Case study: Meeting the needs of our young carer population 

As part of the national Takeover Challenge initiative towards the end of 2018, we invited 
members of the Carers in Herts Youth Carers Council to become our executive team for the 
day and work in partnership with us to address their priorities. Eight young people, aged 11 
to 17, shared their experiences as carers and put forward the ideas highlighted in the ‘You 
Said, We Did’ section above. 
  
One of the key issues highlighted by young carers was the transition to becoming an adult 
carer. To address this we worked with Carers in Herts and Hertfordshire County Council to 
host a special afternoon tea for both young and adult carers and encourage 
intergenerational discussion and advice sharing between the two groups. The event was 
held as part of the Council’s Feeling Good Week in February and further details and a video 
made at the event will shortly be made available on the website and for sharing with our 
stakeholder organisations.  
 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

For the forthcoming year, we will seek to continue to transform our public engagement 
work, ensuring that involvement principles are built into our everyday activity right across 
the organisation. This will include the following activities: 
 

• Supporting Healthwatch Hertfordshire on public engagement around the NHS Long 
Term Plan 
 

• We will seek to further use GP Practices and their wider reach to our patient 
population in order to gather feedback on the services we commission through a 
survey of their experience and perceptions of health services locally 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
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• Delivery of a summer conference and workshop for public members to formulate 
ideas and contributions on supporting the further development of community 
navigators across primary care in east and north Hertfordshire 
 

• Thanks to funding from NHS England, we are excited to continue our work from the 
Takeover Challenge Day with young carers. We will introduce a ‘Young Carers 
Executive’ who will work in partnership with ourselves and our service providers 
throughout the year developing the projects they have initiated as part of the 
Takeover Challenge 
 

• We will continue to deliver our health education and engagement campaigns and 
also continue to support patient member priorities in different areas, who have 
highlighted diabetes prevention as a key topic 
 

• Continuing the development of joint working between the CCGs within our 
Sustainable Transformation Partnership footprint – particularly looking at volunteer 
recruitment and development initiatives, along with a shared approach to 
stakeholder contributions 
 

 
 
Once again we would like to take this opportunity to thank our patient member volunteers 
and stakeholders for their contributions over the past year, and through those 
contributions challenging and improving our work and activity. We look forward to 
continuing this work with you throughout the next year. 
 
If you would like to get involved with any of the activities you have read about within our 
report, or simply have your say on local health services in east and north Hertfordshire, 
then please get in touch either by visiting: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved  
Or call: 01707 685 397 or email: enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net  
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
mailto:enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net
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THE VIEW FROM HEALTHWATCH HERTFORDSHIRE  

 
        We help people to find out about local health and social care services, and listen to 
people’s views and experiences of using these services. Using this information, we work with 
decision makers, like East and North Hertfordshire CCG, to help improve services and 
champion the involvement of patients, carers, and service users in changes to care.  
 
“We have again worked closely with the CCG over the past year, representing patients and 
involving the public in the CCG’s work. We have shared information and intelligence on 
service providers to enhance the CCG’s quality monitoring activities and improve patient 
experience.  
 
“We also provided a route for patients, communities and specialist interest groups to feed 
back. We are also able to explore the views of our membership about developments in the 
NHS. Most recently our December newsletter looked at patient experience of extended 
hours services at the request of the CCG.  
 
“The CCG also participates in our engagement with patients and service users such as their 
attendance at our Sensory and Physical Disability Service Watch Group which brought 
together patients, carers, providers and commissioners to share good practice and identify 
improvements from the perspective of people with sensory and physical disabilities.   
 
“We would like to take this opportunity to thank the CCG for its continued support, and look 
forward to continuing to work in partnership to improve services for patients - including the 
proposal to develop a Health Involvement network. 
 
 
  

 
 
 Geoff Brown, Chief Executive 
 Healthwatch Hertfordshire 

“ 

” 
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THE WORK OF HERTFORDSHIRE, BEDFORDSHIRE 
AND LUTON (HBL) ICT SERVICES 
 
Hosted by East and North Hertfordshire CCG, HBL ICT delivers IT services to a number of NHS 
clients, including the CCG and some of its key provider organisations.   
 
Building upon the successful technology transformation programme, the HBL Partnership 
now uses the more secure HBL Private Cloud, delivered through two load-balanced data 
centres. This new infrastructure is no longer a risk to the delivery of clinical services in our 
counties, but is now a key enabler to their individual and combined digital strategies. 
 
With continued prudent financial management, HBL ICT will achieve a ‘break-even’ financial 
position, meeting the stringent control total.  This has been achieved by delivering the 
efficiency target of 6% set by the partners.  

 
GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE 

We believe that digital technology should be both safe and beneficial, and we have an 
obligation to ensure that the CCG, GP practices, our partners and the public, can trust us to 
keep the IT systems safe, available, and properly protected from cyber threats. 
 
HBL ICT achieved the Cyber Essentials Certification in December 2017 and continues to work 
to the National Cyber Security Centre ‘10 Steps to Cyber Security’ framework. This goes 
beyond the Cyber Essentials Scheme, and is designed for organisations that are likely to be 
targeted by more technically-capable attackers.  
 
The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 outline the 
requirement for public authorities to appoint a Data Protection Officer (DPO) to aid them in 
meeting their obligations under the new data protection legislation. To assist our partner 
organisations, HBL ICT provides a data protection officer service to GP practices.  
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The service includes the data protection officer and other team members supporting, 
advising, monitoring and reporting compliance in accordance with the data protection 
responsibilities detailed in the requirements set out by the GDPR and DPA (2018).   

 

Migration to NHSMail 

In May 2018, HBL ICT successfully supported CCGs to migrate to the national NHSMail 
platform.  This move not only means that we now have access to a national email service, 
but CCGs now have ‘Skype for business’ which includes video conferencing and instant 
messaging.  
 

Wifi at all NHS sites 

In December 2018, HBL ICT successful delivered a new public Wifi service across all 122 
partnership sites; meeting the standards set by NHS Digital. This means that patients and 
visitors have access to internet services at our sites in a secure and controlled environment. 

 
 
Developing our ICT operations 

HBL ICT continues to develop the service support offered to customers by our ‘service desk’. 
This year we have agreed the funding of a service improvement plan focusing on five key 
areas: 

 

1. Automation – to support routine service desk support processes, starting with IT User 
Account Management 
 

2. New ways to contact us – we are introducing ‘Live Chat’ as a new communication 
channel to the service desk, to make best use of staff time 
 

3. Communications – we are redesigning our customer support portal, which will be more 
intuitive to use. We will promote self-help and self-service for routine activities such as 
resetting passwords 
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4. Training and engagement – All junior staff will undertake bespoke customer service 
training.  We are also looking to develop a new mandatory training module for all our 
service users 
 

5. Improving customer experience – We will invest in a new technology platform to enable 
greater control and real-time monitoring of all our user devices.  This means we can 
deliver proactive problem management and analyse faults with user’s computer more 
quickly  

 

Endorsing Our Shared Service Model 

This year HBL ICT has been informally reviewed by NHS Improvement, which has led to an 
endorsement of our service as a model that is both functional and scalable if formed based 
on; shared risk, shared costs and shared benefits. 

Our key unique selling point is our highly resilient private cloud infrastructure and our 
detailed activity-based costing model, which provides transparent accounting to the 
partnership. 
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

INTRODUCTION 

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 
way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve.  Sustainability means spending 
public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, 
resilient communities.   
 
By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health 
both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources.  
Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that the legal 
requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met. 
 
To fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, the CCG has created a sustainable 
development management plan (SDMP). 
 
Our sustainability mission statement is:  The vision for a sustainable health and care system 
by reducing carbon emissions, protecting natural resources, preparing communities for 
extreme weather events and promoting healthy lifestyles and environments. 
 

POLICIES 

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an 
SDMP.  The Governing Body approved our SDMP so our plans for a sustainable future are 
well known within the organisation and clearly laid out. 
 
Sustainability and social values will be embedded into all procurement specifications, along 
the lines of guidelines delivered in training by the Sustainable Development Unit. 
 
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare 
estates, but also to patient health.  Examples of recent years include the effects of heat 
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waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our 
Governing Body approved plans to address the potential need to adapt the delivery of the 
organisation's activities and infrastructure to mitigate climate change and adverse weather 
events. 
 

PARTNERSHIPS 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery.  The NHS policy 
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 
sustainable manner.  Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be 
provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 

 

HEAD OFFICE OCCUPANCY 

The CCG occupies a small head office space, which is rented from NHS Property Services who 
also provide facilities management on behalf of the organisation.  The energy rating of the 
building is ‘F’, which indicates the energy efficiency of the building fabric and the heating, 
ventilation, cooling and lighting systems. 

 
2018/19 

CCG Net Internal Area of Charter House (m2) 1,730 

Number of staff (Whole Time Equivalent) 286 

Average floor space per staff member (m2) 6 
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TOTAL ENERGY COST (ALL ENERGY SUPPLIES) 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £55,351 on energy in 2018/19. 

Energy used (consumption in kWh)9 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 kg CO2e (18/1910) 

Gas (natural) consumed 623,464 497,344 409,945 83,780 

Electricity consumed 575,969 620,989 352,221 99,703 

 

PAPER 

The CCG is committed to supporting the movement to a paperless NHS and will begin 
monitoring performance in this area from a baseline in 2017/18. 

 

Paper consumed 

 2017/18 kg CO2e (17/18) 2018/19 kg CO2e (18/19) 

Paper spend (£) 2,783  3,308  

Paper products used (kg) 4,191 87.2 5,006 107 
 

 

 

                                                      
9 Please note that East and North Hertfordshire CCG shares a building with other organisations and pays a 
percentage of the overall cost for utilities. It is not possible to identify consumption by organisation so the 
figures shown are for the overall building. 
10  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2018  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2018
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TRAVEL 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £89,979 on business travel costs in 2018/19.  
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting 
active travel to staff and to the patients and public that use our services.  CCG staff can claim 
cycle mileage for their business travel and the CCG has joined the government’s ‘cycle to 
work’ scheme. This allows staff to purchase a bike and cycle safety equipment as a tax-free 
benefit. 

Financial 
Year 

Total Pedal 
Cycle Mileage 
claimed as 
expenses (miles) 

Total Travel 
Mileage 
(cars) claimed 
as expenses 
(miles) 

Average 
Whole Time 
Equivalent 
(WTE) staff 
employed 

Average Travel 
Mileage (cars) 
per WTE staff 
employed 

Total kg CO2e from 
Travel Mileage (cars)  
 
Estimated using 
figures for the 
average car of 
unknown fuel type, 
see here.   

2015/16 19 251,159 248 1,013 75,569 

2016/17 18 269,889 272 992 81,204 

2017/18 10 221,613 263 842 65,059 

2018/19 0 203,344 285 713 59,116 

 
WASTE DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING 
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £30,048 on waste disposal in 2018/19. This 
includes confidential waste, general waste and mixed recycling including glass. 

 
WATER AND SEWAGE COST 
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £2,976 on water costs in 2018/19. 

 
KEY INITIATIVES 2018/19 
During 2018/19, the organisation continued to champion recycling across the organisation 
and will also continue this throughout the coming year. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2018
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REVIEW OF 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 

SUMMARY 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this Annual Report.  
The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012).  

 
CCGs have a statutory duty to keep their expenditure within the resources available.  There 
are six separate duties with this regard, although there is some overlap between them and 
some are not relevant to the CCG in 2018/19.  The duties, their relevance in 2018/19 and the 
performance of East and North Hertfordshire CCG in 2018/19 are set out in the following 
table.   
 
Further details are provided in note 15 of the accounts on page 220 of this Annual Report. 
 

Duty [and section of 2012 Act] Relevance 
in 2018/19 Achievement 

Expenditure does not exceed sums allotted to 
the CCG plus other income received [223H(1)] Applicable  Breakeven (Cumulative 

underspend of £18.851m) 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions [223I(2)] Applicable  Breakeven 
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Duty [and section of 2012 Act] Relevance 
in 2018/19 Achievement 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions [223I(3)] Applicable  Breakeven (Cumulative 

underspend of £18.851m) 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 
[223J(1)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2018/19 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions [223J(2)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2018/19 

Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 
[223J(3)] 

Applicable   Underspend £1.267m 

 

FUNDING ALLOCATED TO THE CCG 

NHS England continued with issuing firm allocations for 3 years along with “indicative” 
allocations for the following two years. Underlying 2018/19 CCG programme allocations are 
unchanged from those published in January 2016. They have, however, been amended to 
take account of locally agreed adjustments and transfers and national adjustments for NHS 
Property Services market rents funding, specialised services identification rules and HRG4+, 
all of which have already been notified to CCGs. An additional increase in allocation of 
£5.964m (0.82%) was published for 2018/19 resulting in overall growth of 3.68% in 2018/19 
for the CCG. Other future allocations are as shown in the following table: 
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CCG Programme allocation 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation (£’000) 734,308 776,641 809,535 842,819 875,349 906,680 

% increase allocation 3.68% 5.72% 4.24% 4.11% 3.86% 3.58% 

% increase per capita 11 2.7% 4.85% 3.39% 3.29% 3.06% 2.82% 

Opening Distance from Target %  3.50% 3.83% 4.09% 4.44% 4.77% 

Closing Distance from Target % 2.41% 2.71% 3.00% 3.39% 3.72% 4.04% 
 
 
In calculating these allocations, NHS England took account of individual CCG’s distance from 
a ‘target’, with the target being their fair share of the total funding being made available to 
CCGs. For 2019/20, NHSE introduced a new target allocation formula which resulted in the 
CCG moving from being underfunded to being overfunded hence the CCG received funding 
growth at the average rate for the country. Adjusted closing distance from target for East 
and North Hertfordshire CCG programme allocation for 2018/19 is above by 2.41%. 
 
Also, in 2018/19, CCG assumed responsibility for managing the Primary Care Devolved 
Commissioning Budget. The allocation to CCG for 2018-19 and future years are as shown in 
the following table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
11 i.e. after taking account of estimated population increases 
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Primary Care Devolved 
Commissioning 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation (£’000) 71,486 76,951* 80,739** 85,270** 88,959** 92,756** 

% increase allocation 3.68% 7.64% 4.92% 5.61% 4.33% 4.27% 

% increase per capita 12 2.7% 6.76% 4.07% 4.78% 3.53% 3.50% 

Opening Distance from Target %  -0.44% 0.44% 0.68% 0.63% 0.61% 

Closing Distance from Target % -1.07% -0.18% 0.09% 0.09% 0.07% 0.05% 
 
* Excludes Clinical Negligence central allocation adjustments of (£2.215m) resulting in adjusted allocation of £74.736m. 
** Excludes Clinical Negligence central allocation adjustments. 
 
Adjusted closing distance from target for East and North Hertfordshire primary care 
devolved commissioning allocation for 2018/19 is below by 1.07%. 
 
When considering the total Place Based funding position of individual CCGs, NHS England 
also considered spending on specialist services in each CCG area. The aggregate of these 
three spending categories is used to create a “place” based target allocation for the CCG. 
 
The closing total Place Based allocation in 2018/19 is above by 1.96% and this is also above 
target over the five-year period as shown in the following table:  
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

                                                      
12 i.e. after taking account of estimated population increases 
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Total Place Based 
Allocation £’000 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent allocation 
(£’000) 957,177 1,017,609 1,065,791 1,116,224 1,166,897 1,218,081 

% increase allocation  6.28% 4.73% 4.73% 4.54% 4.39% 

% increase per capita  5.41% 3.89% 3.91% 3.74% 3.62% 

Opening Distance from 
Target %  3.01% 3.39% 3.67% 3.99% 4.30% 

Closing Distance from 
Target% 1.96% 2.32% 2.63% 2.99% 3.31% 3.61% 

 
The CCG received an Administration Cost allocation of £12.668m in 2018-19 and a reduced 
level of growth (less than inflation which effectively is a real term reduction in funding) in 
2019-20. However, CCGs are asked to deliver a 20% real terms reduction against their 
2017/18 running cost allocation in 2020/21, adjusted for the recent pay award. This was 
communicated in a letter of shared commitment between NHSE and NHS Improvement 
following their new operating model. Opportunities for achieving this efficiency requirement 
include: CCG working more closely with organisations across local health economies to 
improve efficiency, reduce duplication and remove bureaucratic and expensive contracting 
processes.  
 
The figures for East and North Hertfordshire CCG are shown in the following table:  
 
CCG Administration Cost 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Recurrent Administration  
Cost allocation (£’000) 12,668 12,712 11,216 11,216 11,216 11,216 

% increase 0.2% 0.19% -11.77% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 
 
 
 



109 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

FINANCIAL BUSINESS RULES FOR 2018/19 
The 2018/19 planning guidance to CCGs sets out the key business rules for commissioners, 
over and above the statutory duties set out above.   
 
All CCGs were required to sign up to deliver an NHS England set revenue Control Total.  For 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG this is an in-year breakeven position requiring the 
cumulative brought forward underspend to be maintained at £18.851m. 
 
The requirement for CCGs to underspend 0.5% of their allocation as Non Recurrent reserve 
was lifted in 2018-19 thus releasing resources to fund local pressures and transformation 
priorities. A new £400m Commissioner Sustainability Fund (CSF) was created to enable CCGs 
to return to in-year financial balance. East North Hertfordshire CCG did not receive anything 
from this fund given its previous strong financial performance.  
 
The CCG’s Operating Financial Plan allocated resources to fund cost pressures of £5.74m and 
increased investment to support the CCG’s continued commitment to deliver cancer waiting 
time standards, General Practice forward view commitments, compliance with the Mental 
Health Investment standard and service expansions set out by the Mental Health Taskforce. 
Additional investment was provided in acute services to fund realistic levels of emergency 
activity and elective activity necessary to tackle long waiting times.  
 
The CCG has delivered the revenue Control Total of in-year financial balance and an 
£18.851m cumulative underspend agreed with NHS England. This financial performance was 
achieved despite a significant unplanned overspend on acute hospital services which was 
offset by underspends within prescribing, non-acute budgets , Primary Care including 
devolved commissioning , running costs and the deployment of contingency reserve. 
 
The cumulative underspend of £18.851m will be carried forward into 2019/20 and the CCG’s 
revenue Control Total for 2019/20 requires the position to be held at that level. 
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LOCALITY LEVEL PERFORMANCE 
The Governing Body has continued to review financial performance at locality level.  Funding 
was retained centrally by the CCG to cover reserves, administration costs and where 
healthcare costs could not be attributed to a Locality, with the balance distributed to 
Localities on a fair share basis using updated practice list sizes. This method of managing 
performance at Locality level allows the CCG to engage effectively with Localities who jointly 
own delivery of the financial duty. 
 
As can be seen from above, East and North Hertfordshire CCG was successful in meeting all 
of its financial duties and the business rules. Four out of six locality groups achieved financial 
balance against their agreed budget, as can be seen from the table below. 
 
Locality Budget £'000 Spend £'000 Variance £'000 
        
North Herts £144,586 £144,474 (£113) 
Lower Lea Valley £96,407 £97,847 £1,441 
Stevenage £118,603 £118,068 (£535) 
Welwyn and Hatfield £139,388 £137,386 (£2,002) 
Upper Lea Valley £141,048 £144,083 £3,035 
Stort Valley and Villages £68,309 £66,702 (£1,607) 
Central budgets £115,016 £114,797 (£219) 
  

  
 

Total Surplus (in year) £823,357 £823,357 £0 
Cumulative Surplus b/f   (£18,851) 
Cumulative Surplus carried forward   (£18,851) 
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MENTAL HEALTH INVESTMENT STANDARD 
A very important requirement in the 2018/19 planning guidance related to the Mental 
Health Investment Standard, under which all CCGs were required to increase their spending 
on mental health services by at least the percentage increase in the CCG’s allocation growth.  
In 2018/19 this equates to 3.68% for East and North Hertfordshire CCG. In addition, spend 
on Children’s and Young People’s (CYP) mental health must also increase as a percentage of 
each CCG’s overall mental health spend and any historical underspend must be spend on the 
service.  

The CCG targeted the increased investment at delivering the Mental Health Five year 
forward view and Learning difficulty national priority. Some of the schemes with increased 
funding includes IAPT – delivering national target of 19% of the population who could 
benefit from having access to the service, Child and adolescent mental health service, the 
Transforming Care Programme, continuation of Core24 psychiatric liaison service, early 
intervention in psychosis and access and quality improvements in community crisis 
resolution and home treatment. 

Mental Health spend within Learning Disability and Dementia is currently excluded in the 
calculation of Mental Health Investment Standard. Achievement of the Investment Standard 
is measured by comparing expenditure in 2018/19 to that in 2017/18, after taking into 
account any mental health specific recurrent or non-recurrent allocations received by CCGs 
in either of these years.  These adjustments are made to ensure that changes in spending are 
not skewed by non-recurrent allocations and are limited to reviewing spending funded from 
the CCGs’ general allocation.  The table below demonstrates that East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG met the requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard in 
2018/19.  The CCG’s budget for 2019/20 has also been set to also achieve the standard in 
2019/20. 
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Description £000 unless stated otherwise 

2018/19 Mental health spending  92,080 
Less spending on Learning disability and dementia (28,045) 
Less spending covered by allocations received (602) 
2018/19 spending funded by general allocation 63,433 
2017/18 spending funded by general allocation (Adjusted) 61,170* 
Increase in spending 2,263.3 
  
Increase in spending (%) 3.7% 
Increase in allocation (%) 3.7% 
   
Has the Mental Health Investment Standard been met? Yes 
*Expenditure relating to dementia was reclassified in line with more recent guidance 

 

With effect from 2018/19, the Mental Health Investment Standard calculation will be subject 
to a separate assurance engagement which is not expected to take place until after the 
accounts are signed. 

 

FUTURE FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has a strong underlying financial level of performance and 
has met its revenue Control Total every year since inception.  At the end of 2018/19 the CCG 
delivered an in-year breakeven financial position which maintained the cumulative 
underspend of £18.851m, well above the standard national requirement (1% of its 
allocation).  
 
The CCG’s future Financial Outlook has been updated for the 2018/19 financial position, the 
impacts on future years and the recently published updated allocations to provide assurance 
on the financial sustainability of the CCG. 
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Changes to the CCG’s operating environment require closer working relationships across the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP partners with STP wide strategic, operational and financial 
plans; the aim being to improve the overall system’s performance and achievement of 
financial sustainability for the system as a whole.  
 
The CCG Financial outlook for 2019/20 has been prepared in line with the national planning 
guidance issued namely: NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019/20; NHS 
Five year funding settlement; NHS Long Term Plan and impact of the draft National Tariff 
Payment System (NTPS) prices. 
 
Alongside this publication, NHS England has also confirmed that it requires the CCG to meet 
all its financial business rules for 2019/20; the main one being to achieve a breakeven in-
year financial position in 2019/20. The CCG will not be allowed to draw down any of the 
£18.851m accumulated underspend. This freezing of the cumulative underspend is likely to 
continue into the foreseeable future, with the CCG being required to maintain this position 
although not improve on it any further. It may be possible that in future years the CCG will 
be able to draw down some of this additional underspend, but that is likely to be possible 
only if the NHS as a whole improves its financial performance. 
 
When planning for future years CCGs have to take into account changes to the national tariff 
(prices charged by providers), growth in activity, meeting National targets and inflationary 
increases in other spend areas compared to changes in funding.  Changes to national tariffs 
are based on guidance issued by NHS England and NHS Improvement, the sector regulators 
for health services in England. 
 
Growth in activity and spend is estimated based on a number of factors.  Firstly, population 
growth, which is based on the Office of National Statistics estimate of the population 
increase in the CCG by age-band according to the age of the population using the services we 
commission.  Secondly, non-demographic growth which is based on previous years’ trends in 
activity and extrapolated assuming the trend continues into future years.  Thirdly, there are 
other inflationary increases in costs, e.g. prescribed drugs and Continuing Healthcare.  There 
is also recurrent investment in schemes which may have been previously funded non-
recurrently or funded for part of the previous year.  Finally a contingency reserve is created 
to meet unexpected events during the year. 
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On the funding side, new 5-year allocations were issued by NHS England in January 2019. For 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG, the annual growth in CCG programme allocation for 2019-
20 is 5.72% or £41.973m, for Primary Care Devolved Commissioning growth is 7.64% or 
£5.465m and for running costs it is 0.35% or £44k. Cost neutral transfers of funding have also 
taken place. The total CCG allocation for 2019/20 is £861.185m 
 
On the expenditure side the CCG needs to recreate the contingency reserve utilised in 
2018/19, fund the full year effect of investments made part way through 2018/19 and cover 
the impact of non-recurrent benefits realised in 2018/19.  Together these total about £6.6m.  
Inflation and other tariff changes have a cost impact of £24m and the activity/cost impact of 
demographic and non-demographic changes add a further £21m.  Spending to meet the 
Mental Health Investment Standard needs to grow by a further £1.8m above this and all 
other changes and service developments required to deliver the CCG’s ambitions add £7.7m. 
 
The CCG received an allocation of £74.736m (after adjustment for the centrally held Clinical 
Negligence on GP contracts) for Primary Care Devolved commissioning and is planning to 
spend this allocation in full. The budget has taken account of the price changes to global 
sum, provision for rent reviews, QOF (aspiration and achievement) and the financial impact 
of other contract changes as published. A contingency of 0.5% has also been provided. 
 
Taking account of all the factors described above, growth in expenditure would exceed 
growth in funding in 2019/20 by £13.0m.  This is the minimum target for efficiency savings in 
2019/20. Projecting further forward into 2020/21 and 2021/22 and a similar picture emerges 
with projected expenditure growing in each year by £3-6m more than the growth in funding 
available to the CCG.  These gaps will be managed through the development of efficiency 
(QIPP) schemes. In order to deliver the required financial position, the CCG will need to 
recurrently deliver QIPP efficiencies of £13.0m in 2019/20 and a further £3-6m in each of 
2020/21 and 2021/22.  This compares to an efficiency requirement in 2018/19 of £13.45m.  
 
The CCG has identified potential QIPP savings of £14.106m and will require an additional 
investment of £1.106m to support delivery, resulting in net identified QIPP of £13.0m most 
of which are already worked up from 2018/19 and now expected to deliver in 2019/20. 
Further initiatives will be developed during 2019/20 for implementation later in the year or 
in 2020/21. 
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Driving the CCG’s financial strategy are our over-arching aims to improve the health of the 
population, to reduce health need and to find different ways of commissioning high quality 
services at lower cost.  This will include investing in primary and community care services, 
and together with colleagues in Hertfordshire County Council, into social care services, 
bearing down on the demand for and expenditure on acute hospital care. 
 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG recognise that the delivery of the financial challenge is 
closely intertwined with the delivery of the commissioning challenge. Some of the 
commissioning challenges being addressed by the CCG’s strategic plan include: 
  
• The challenge in efficient use of financial resources, management resources, sound risk 

management and sound governance arrangements 
• Inter-practice collaboration working to reduce referrals to secondary services by using 

expertise currently residing within general practice, community and voluntary services, 
and specialist services commissioned in a community setting 

• Working with constituent practices to change health behaviours and so clinical and 
patient activity to make the best use of available resources. 

• Involving patients in commissioning decisions affecting their care 
• Working with Community Services, Local authority, Public Health and other sectors, to 

identify those at risk of admission to hospital and provide integrated services to meet 
their needs. 

• Continuing the strong performance management of commissioned services to ensure 
that the needs of the population that we serve are met 

 
The CCG continues to support the use of its Primary Care Consolidated Funding Framework 
as a mechanism to invest in additional capacity and transformation of services in primary 
care and so improve population health and reduce avoidable pressure on hospitals.  
Investment will continue to be made into services focussing on long term conditions and our 
ageing population and we will work with our partner organisations and patients to reduce 
avoidable hospital admissions and improve the safety and patient experience wherever care 
is delivered.  
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The CCG has identified risks to the delivery of its financial position, e.g. activity growth 
beyond the level included in the budget which may result in an overspend and other 
unexpected increase in spend. To mitigate, the CCG will deploy its contingency reserve, 
identify additional efficiency savings schemes, reduced/delay level of in-year investments 
and use its contract levers with providers to ensure they operate within contractual rules. 
System-wide risks will need to be managed through closer working relationship with STP 
partners and finding efficiency schemes where system-wide costs reduce and savings can be 
shared. 

On 28th March 2019 the Governing Body of the CCG agreed a balanced in-year budget for 
2019/20, which meets the planning requirements and delivers in-year financial balance and 
maintains the required cumulative underspend of £18.851m. 

REVIEW OF STATUTORY DUTIES 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on us by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislative and regulations. We are clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which we are responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 



Beverley Flowers, Accountable Officer 

23 May 2019 
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PART ONE: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

MEMBERS REPORT 

The Governing Body is made up of a group of individuals, who are appointed to the CCG with 
the main function of ensuring that the organisation has made appropriate governance 
arrangements, and for formulating policy and directing its affairs. 

 

THE CCG GOVERNING BODY AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 

 

 

 Dr Prag Moodley, CCG Chair (from September 2018) 
Prag has been a GP for over 20 years and a GP Partner in Stevenage 
since 2004.  Prag took up the role of CCG Chair in September 2018, 
and has held various roles in CCG commissioning over the last ten 
years.  Prior to becoming CCG Chair, Prag’s Governing Body 
responsibilities were Mental Health and Learning Disabilities.   

   
   
   

 

 Dr Ashish Shah, CCG Deputy Clinical Chair (from September 2018) 
and GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn and Hatfield  
Ashish has been GP principal at Wrafton House surgery, Hatfield 
since 2009.  He is qualified as a GP trainer and has a special interest 
in cardiology and respiratory medicine.  He is currently the 
prescribing lead for the CCG. 
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  Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive/Accountable Officer 
Beverley joined the CCG in April 2014 from NHS England. Previous to 
this she held a range of commissioning, partnership and contracting 
roles across health and social care organisations in London and the 
East of England. Beverley became Chief Executive of East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG in December 2015. 
 
 

   

 

 Denise Boardman, Director for Primary Care Development 
(from April 2018) 
Denise trained as an occupational therapist and worked in a variety 
of clinical and managerial roles including leading multidisciplinary 
teams in acute and community services in the northwest and 
southeast of England. She is also a former member of the Royal 
College of Occupational Therapy Professional Practice Board. In 
2013, Denise joined East and North Hertfordshire CCG as Associate 
Director for Unscheduled Care and more recent roles include the 
CCG’s Programme Director leading the countywide Integrated 
Urgent Care procurement, General Practice Forward View 
programme and STP Director lead for Primary Care. 

   
   
  Sharn Elton, Director of Operations 

Sharn originally trained as a nurse at Bedford Hospital and moved to 
the Lister hospital in Stevenage as a matron in 2001. Sharn moved 
into general management in 2003 and worked in a variety of 
hospital services across surgery, medicine, women’s and children’s 
specialities. Through developing her networks beyond the hospital 
Sharn became interested in the broader aspects of health and 
subsequently moved to work for NHS England across Hertfordshire 
and the South Midlands in 2013. Sharn was delighted to be 
appointed as the Director of Operations at the CCG in 2015 when 
the post became available. 
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 Dr Rachel Joyce, Medical Director 
Rachel is a medical doctor, who is both a GP and a public health 
consultant by background. In the past she has worked as a Director 
of Public Health and a Medical Director in Bedfordshire, and has 
been working in the Hertfordshire health system for over 10 years. 
Rachel has particular expertise in clinical effectiveness (ensuring 
health services are as safe and effective as possible), the redesign of 
services from a clinical perspective, including the development of 
pathways and the prioritisation of scarce resources, wellbeing and 
the prevention and early identification of illness. 
 

   

 

 Alan Pond, Chief Finance Officer (Senior Information Risk Owner) 
Alan has been a Finance Director/Chief Finance Officer since 2001.  
During this time he has worked for numerous NHS commissioning 
organisations.  He has over 30 years’ experience in the NHS in both 
provider and commissioner organisations and 2 years at the 
Department of Health.  He has a broad range of experience within 
the finance function and also other areas, having been involved in 
strategy development and implementation and with direct 
operational responsibility for financial management, costing and 
pricing, contract negotiation, contract management and business 
case preparation. 

   
 

 

 Sheilagh Reavey, Director of Nursing and Quality  
(Caldicott Guardian) 
Sheilagh has trained as a nurse, midwife and health visitor and has 
worked at a senior level in the NHS for a number of years. She has 
both operational service delivery and commissioning experience and 
has significant experience in relation to quality and safeguarding 
issues. 
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 Dianne Desmulie, Lay Member – Co-Commissioning 
Dianne has a career background in local government and the NHS. 
She has experience within the Department of Health and Adult 
Social Care in the Eastern region, promoting Dignity in Care and 
working closely with carers’ organisations. Dianne was a local 
councillor in East Herts for 8 years and in 2001 was Mayor of 
Hertford, where she has lived since 1982. She is a member of 
Hanscombe House Surgery Patient Participation Group and 
volunteers for Carers in Hertfordshire as a Hub Lead in Hoddesdon. 
 
 

 

 Linda Farrant, Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Governance and Audit 
A qualified accountant, Linda spent much of her career in local 
government working on finance, regeneration policy and practice 
and developing devolved public sector services. She has undertaken 
various non-executive director roles in the voluntary and public 
sectors and became the Lay Member for Governance and Audit at 
the CCG in April 2013. 

   
   

 

 Dr Mark Andrews, GP Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley 
Mark has worked at the Limes Surgery in Hoddesdon since 1989.  He 
has been engaged with commissioning in Hertfordshire continuously 
since 1995 and as an East and North Herts CCG governing body 
member since 2013. He has been co-lead of the Upper Lea Valley 
Locality throughout that time. In addition he has been the CCG's 
clinical lead for cancer and end of life care. 
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 Dr Tara Belcher, GP Governing Body Member, North Herts  
Tara is a GP Partner at The Portmill Surgery in Hitchin, where she has 
worked since 2003. She is also a GP trainer and appraiser. 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 Dr Haydar Bolat, GP Governing Body Member, Lower Lea Valley 
Dr Haydar Bolat is a highly motivated, dedicated and competent GP 
who is a partner at Stanhope Surgery, Waltham cross. He joined the 
CCG in May 2017 as a Governing Body member and is the co-chair 
for Lower Lea Valley locality working alongside Dr Jackson. Dr Bolat 
is our GP quality lead for Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS 
Foundation Trust and also leads on mental health. He is a honorary 
lecturer at University of Hertfordshire teaching physicians associate 
trainees. 
 

   

 

 Dr Simon Chatfield, North Herts. Locality Link 
Dr Chatfield qualified in London at the Royal Free Hospital Medical 
school in 1980 and worked locally, as a House Officer at the Lister 
Hospital in Stevenage where he joined the GP training rotation. He 
then worked as a Medical Officer in a remote community on the 
coast of Newfoundland.  This was followed by a GP position in 
Letchworth, which he started in July 1985 and held through until his 
retirement in April 2016. Since retirement Simon has undertaken a 
variety of roles; working as a GP locum, and developing the North 
Herts locality link role on the Governing Body.  He also contributes 
time and expertise to the CQC, Local Medical Committee and NHS 
England. 
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 Dr Sarah Dixon, GP Governing Body Member, Stort Valley and 
Villages (from May 2018) 
Sarah has worked as a GP Partner at South Street Surgery in Bishops 
Stortford since 2001.  She is the workforce and education lead for 
her locality, the cardiology lead for the CCG and is also a GP trainer 
and appraiser. 
 

   

 

 Dr Sachin Gupta, GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn Hatfield 
Sachin is a GP at Garden City Practice in Welwyn Garden City. He has 
previously worked as non-executive director and Medical Director at 
Herts Urgent Care, MacMillan GP and Royal College of General 
Practitioners Clinical Lead. 
 
 

   

 

 Dr Russell Hall, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage 
Russell has worked as a full time GP in Stevenage since 1999. Before 
joining the CCG Governing Body, he was the prescribing lead for 
Stevenage. He is the CCG’s Urgent Care lead. 
 
 
 

   

 

 Dr Alison Jackson, GP Governing Body Member, Lower Lea Valley 
Alison is a GP based in Cheshunt with over 18 years’ experience. She 
is the co-chair of the Lower Lea Valley locality and works closely with 
other local GP practices and local organisations within the Lower Lea 
Valley locality. Alison’s lead area of work for the CCG includes Long 
Term Conditions. 
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 Dr Rini Saha, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage 
(from October 2018) 
Rini qualified from Imperial College London and has practised as a 
GP for 15 years. She has been a partner at King George Surgery in 
Stevenage for the past 12 years. She has been the prescribing lead 
for Stevenage since 2012 and has been active at locality level for the 
past 8 years. 
 

   

 

 Dr Nabeil Shukur, GP Governing Body Member,  
Stort Valley and Villages 
Nabeil is a GP at South Street Surgery in Bishop’s Stortford. He has 
several years’ experience on the locality commissioning board. He is 
the CCG quality lead for the Princess Alexandra Hospital contract. 
 
 

   
   

 

 Dr Dermot O’Riordan, Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 
Dermot is a Consultant General Surgeon at West Suffolk NHS 
Foundation Trust and previously was Medical Director for 5 years 
and interim-Chief Executive Officer.  Dermot is also Chief Clinical 
Information Officer. 
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Member practices 
The membership body of the CCG is currently formed of 56 member practices: 

 

Lower Lea Valley locality 
 
• Abbey Road Surgery 
• Cromwell and Wormley Medical 

Centres 
• Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre 
• The High Street Surgery 
• The Maples Health Centre 
• Stanhope Surgery 
• Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre 
• Warden Lodge Medical Practice 
 

North Hertfordshire locality 
 
• Ashwell Surgery 
• The Baldock Surgery 
• Bancroft Medical Centre13 
• Birchwood Surgery 
• Garden City Surgery 
• Knebworth and Marymead Surgery 
• Nevells Road Surgery 
• Portmill Surgery 
• Regal Chambers Surgery 
• The Sollershott Surgery 
• Whitwell Surgery 

 
Stevenage locality  
 
• Bedwell and Roebuck Surgery  
• Chells Surgery 
• King George Surgery 
• Manor House Surgery 
• Shephall Health Centre 
• Stanmore Medical Group   
• Symonds Green Health Centre 

 
 

 
Stort Valley and Villages locality 
 
• Central Surgery 
• Church Street Partnership 
• Much Hadham Health Centre 
• Parsonage Surgery 
• Sawbridgeworth Medical Services 
• South Street Surgery 

  

                                                      
13 Courtenay House Surgery and Orford Lodge Surgery merged in October 2018 and became Bancroft Medical 
Centre 
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Upper Lea Valley locality 
 
• Amwell Surgery 
• Buntingford Medical Centre 
• Castlegate Surgery 
• Church Street Surgery 
• Dolphin House Surgery 
• Hailey View Surgery 
• Haileybury College Health Centre 
• Hanscombe House Surgery 
• The Limes Surgery 
• Orchard Surgery 
• Park Lane Surgery 
• Puckeridge Surgery 
• Wallace House Surgery 
• Ware Road Surgery 
• Watton Place Clinic 

Welwyn and Hatfield locality 
 
• Bridge Cottage Surgery 
• Burvill House Surgery 
• The Garden City Practice 
• Hall Grove Group Practice 
• Lister House Surgery 
• Peartree Lane Group Practice 
• Potterells Medical Centre 
• Spring House Medical Centre 
• Wrafton House Surgery 

  

 

 

Composition of Governing Body 

The Chair of the CCG was Dr Hari Pathmanathan until September 2018 when he stood down 
and was succeeded by Dr Prag Moodley following an election process.  The Chief Executive 
was Beverley Flowers throughout 2018-19.   
 
From April 2018 to the time of writing this report, the Governing Body has featured the 
following members: 14  

 

 

                                                      
14 Dr Simon Chatfield is not a member of the Governing Body, but regularly attends meetings to provide 
support to North Herts Locality. 
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Role Name 
Chair Dr Hari Pathmanathan (until August 2018) 

Chair Dr Prag Moodley (from September 2018, 
previously GP Member for Stevenage) 

Deputy Clinical Chair Dr Nicky Williams (until September 2018) 
Deputy Clinical Chair Dr Ashish Shah (from September 2018) 
Chief Executive (Accountable) Officer Beverley Flowers 
Director for Primary Care Development Denise Boardman (from April 2018) 
Director of Commissioning Harper Brown (until September 2018) 
Director of Operations Sharn Elton 
Medical Director Dr Rachel Joyce 
Chief Finance Officer Alan Pond 
Director of Nursing and Quality Sheilagh Reavey 
Lay Member Dianne Desmulie 
Lay Member and Deputy Chair Linda Farrant 
Lay Member Vacant 
GP Member Dr Mark Andrews 
GP Member Dr Tara Belcher 
GP Member  Dr Haydar Bolat 
GP Member  Dr Sarah Dixon (from May 2018) 
GP Member Dr Sachin Gupta 
GP Member Dr Russell Hall 
GP Member Dr Alison Jackson 
GP Member Dr Rini Saha (from October 2018) 
GP Member Dr Nabeil Shukur 
GP Member Vacant 
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Dr Dermot O’Riordan 
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Committee(s), including Audit Committee 

The members of the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the 
signing of the Annual Report and Accounts and unless otherwise stated: 

• Dianne Desmulie – Lay member (patient and public engagement) until May 2018 
• Linda Farrant – Lay member (governance and audit), Deputy Chair of the Governing 

Body and Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee. 
• Dr Ashish Shah– Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair from September 2018 
• Nicky Williams – Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair until September 2018 

The Remuneration Report starting on page 166 provides details of the membership of the 
Remuneration Committee. 

The Governance Statement, from page 135 provides details of the attendance of the 
Governing Body and its Committee members at their respective meetings, namely: 
 

• Governing Body in Public 
• Governing Body in Private 
• Governing Body Workshops 
• Governance and Audit Committee 
• ICT Stakeholder Board 
• Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 
• Locality Committees x 6 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
• Quality Committee 
• Remuneration Committee 
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Register of Interests 

The Governing Body maintains an up-to-date Register of Interests, which formally records 
the declarations of interests made by its employees and members, and is available on the 
Clinical Commissioning Group’s website.  Any interest that arises during the course of a 
meeting is declared immediately and recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  This ensures 
that the Governing Body acts in the best interests of the organisation and avoids situations 
where there may be a potential conflict of interest.  To view details of the Register of 
Interests please visit our website: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest  

 

Personal data related incidents 

The organisation has not reported any Information Governance Serious Untoward Incidents 
to the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2018-19. 

 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms: 

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
clinical commissioning group’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the 
purposes of their audit report 
 

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of it. 

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest
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Modern Slavery Act 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the 
Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking, but does not 
meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement, 
as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

 

 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning 
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive to be 
the Accountable Officer of the NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 
is answerable,  
 

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction),  
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• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 
 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 
 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 
 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial a set of 
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The accounts 
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, 
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis, 
 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis, 
 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements; and, 
 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 



• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts

and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and

understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 

out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and 

in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I also confirm that: 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG's

auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that

I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to

establish that the CCG's auditors are aware of that information .

............

signed 23 May 2019 

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive 

Annual Report and Accounts 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Introduction and context 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 
 
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 

 
As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS 
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing Public 
Money’.  I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.   
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I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND EFFECTIVENESS 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However the CCG follows the principles in the code that are most relevant to it given its size 
and nature, but does not comply with the code as a whole. The following section discusses 
the most relevant parts of the code where the CCG has complied. 
 

Governance Structure 
The Governing Body has created the statutorily-required Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.  Additionally the Governing Body has established six Locality 
Committees, a Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee, a Quality 
Committee, and an Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board.  On 1st April 
2018 the CCG also created a Primary Care Commissioning Committee and took on delegated 
responsibility for primary care co-commissioning on behalf of NHS England. 
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Council of Members 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership 
organisation currently made up of 56 GP member practices.  The main function of the 
Council of Members is to provide clinical leadership across east and north Hertfordshire. All 
of the GP practices are members and a representative from each practice make up the full 
council. 

The Council of Members meet annually and discuss various themes relating to primary care, 
for example, the extended access to general practice to ensure everyone has easier and 
more convenient access to GP services, including appointments at evenings and weekends. 
The membership also received a presentation from Hertfordshire Constabulary on 
identifying safeguarding signs in vulnerable children and adults, with regard to ‘county lines’ 
knife and gang crimes. 
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Governing Body 

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 
are relevant to it.  The Governing Body met regularly during 2018/19 in both public and 
private sessions. 
 

Governance and Audit Committee 
The Governance and Audit Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It provides 
assurance to the Governing Body that the organisation’s overall internal control and 
governance system operates in an adequate and effective way.  The committee’s work 
focuses on the adequacy of the controls on finance, risk management and clinical quality.  It 
does this by reviewing the assurance framework, strategic and operational risk and obtaining 
independent assurance on controls.  It also oversees internal and external audit 
arrangements, for both financial and non-financial systems.  As part of its role the 
committee reviews audit reports and monitors implementation of recommendations.  
Members also undertake in-depth analysis of specific risks. 

During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the committee ensured 
that any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing Body's attention through 
the Governance Report. 

 
ICT Stakeholder Board 
The Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board is a committee of the 
Governing Body.  This committee brings together the stakeholders of the ICT Shared Service 
and its role is to ensure focus on strategy, policy and the overall operational performance of 
information and communications technology. 
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Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 
The Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee has a focus on the 
partnerships that the CCG has with Hertfordshire County Council, in particular covering the 
Better Care Fund, mental health and learning disability services and children and young 
people.  It also considers areas of joint interest such as care homes, home care and public 
health issues.  During the year the Board discussed issues such as SEND transformation, the 
development of the new joint Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy, community 
perinatal mental health services, the future contractual arrangements with Hertfordshire 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and the Core 24 model of mental health support in acute 
hospitals.   

 
Locality Committees 

There are six Locality Committees of the Governing Body, which are responsible for ensuring 
the Governing Body is informed by the members of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
that local knowledge is fed into the decision making process.  The committees are 
responsible for ensuring that members have the opportunity to contribute to the 
development of policy and commissioning strategy. 
 
 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
The role of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee is to carry out the functions relating 
to the commissioning of primary medical services provided under General Practice Contract 
arrangements, for example, General Medical Services and Alternative Provider Medical 
Services contracts.  This is with the exception of those functions relating to individual GP 
performance management, which have been reserved to NHS England.  A minimum of six 
scheduled public meetings take place per year, and where required, additional meetings are 
arranged. 
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The remit of the committee has covered premises, supporting transformation and resilience 
in general practice, technological developments, workforce, education and training, new 
care models and mergers, monitoring quality and improving standards. 
 
 
Quality Committee 

The Quality Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It works to ensure that 
commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring that 
quality sits at the heart of everything the organisation does.  It is responsible for providing 
assurance and information on quality to allow the Governing Body to fulfil its role and 
responsibilities in relation to quality.  It also reports on quality related risks to the 
Governance and Audit Committee.  The committee takes on overall responsibility for leading 
the organisation’s patient care, quality and safety agenda and reports directly to the 
Governing Body on these matters.  To support it in this role the committee includes the chair 
of the Patient Network Quality Group to provide an invaluable patient perspective. 

 
Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It makes 
recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about pay and remuneration 
for all ‘Very Senior Managers’, and Governing Body members, including GPs and Lay 
Members of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  A Very Senior Manager typically has 
Executive Director level responsibility and reports to the Chief Executive.  During the year, 
the committee considered new contracts for services and letters of appointment for all 
individual who are not employees of the organisation.  No individual is involved in 
determining their own remuneration. 
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Governing Body Attendance for 2018/19 

Members’ attendance records are detailed in the following table: 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 Public (4) Private (4) Workshops (13) 
Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
Dr M Andrews Upper Lea Valley 4/4 4/4 13/13 
Dr T Belcher North Herts 3/4 3/4 12/13 
D Boardman Director for Primary Care Development 3/4 3/4 12/13 
Dr H Bolat Lower Lea Valley 3/4 3/4 7/13 
H Brown15 Director of Commissioning 2/2 2/2 6/7 
S Chatfield16 North Herts. Locality Link N/A N/A 12/13 
D Desmulie Lay Member – Co-Commissioning 4/4 4/4 13/13 
S Dixon17 Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 4/4 12/12 
S Elton Director of Operations 4/4 4/4 12/13 
L Farrant Lay Member – Governance and Audit, Deputy Chair 4/4 4/4 13/13 
B Flowers Chief Executive 4/4 4/4 11/13 
Dr S Gupta Welwyn and Hatfield 3/4 3/4 10/13 
Dr R Hall Stevenage 4/4 4/4 12/13 
Dr A Jackson Lower Lea Valley 4/4 4/4 11/13 
Dr R Joyce  Medical Director  2/4 2/4 11/13 
Dr P Moodley Chair 4/4 4/4 13/13 
Dr D O'Riordan18 Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 3/4 3/4 N/A 
Dr H Pathmanathan19 Chair 1/2 1/2 5/5 
A Pond Chief Finance Officer 3/4 3/4 13/13 
S Reavey Director of Nursing and Quality 4/4 4/4 8/13 
Dr R Saha20 Stevenage 2/2 2/2 6/6 
Dr A Shah Welwyn and Hatfield, Deputy Chair - Clinical 4/4 4/4 10/13 
Dr N Shukur Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 4/4 10/13 
Dr N Williams21 Upper Lea Valley, Deputy Chair – Clinical 1/2 1/2 6/6 

                                                      
15 On secondment from 1st October 2018  
16 This role is not required to attend public and private meetings 
17 Joined the Governing Body in May 2018 
18 This role is not required to attend workshop meetings 
19 Left the Governing Body in August 2018 
20 Joined the Governing Body in October 2018 
21 Left the Governing Body in September 2018 
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Governing Body Committee Attendance for 2018/19 
All members have good attendance records – these are detailed in the following tables. 
 
Governance and Audit Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 4 
Name: Title: Attendance: 

D Desmulie Lay Member – Co-Commissioning and  
Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement 

1/1 

L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/4 
Dr A Shah Deputy Chair – Clinical 2/2 
Dr N Williams Deputy Chair – Clinical 2/2 
Vacant Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement 0/3 
 
* Chair of Governance and Audit Committee 
 

 

Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Luton Information and Communication 
Technology (ICT) Stakeholder Board 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 5 
Member Organisations: Attendance 
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group ** 4/5 
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 4/5 
HBL ICT Shared Services Director 5/5 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust 5/5 
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 4/5 
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group 2/5 
Luton Clinical Commissioning Group ** 4/5 

 
** From November 2018, Bedfordshire and Luton CCGs have joint representation. 
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Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 8 
Name: Title: Attendance: 
Kate Barker 
 

Assistant Director Children’s Young People and Maternity 
Services, ENHCCG 2/7 

Haydar Bolat Governing Body GP Lead for Mental Health, ENHCCG 0/3 
Harper Brown * Director of Commissioning, ENHCCG 6/6 
Ruth Harrington Head of Integrated Community Commissioning, HCC 

(Hertfordshire County Council) 5/8 

Tom Hennessey  Assistant Director Health Integration, ENHCCG / HCC 4/8 
Marion Ingram Operations Director, Specialist Services for Children, HCC 3/8 
Jim McManus Director of Public Health (or deputy), HCC 1/8 
Prag Moodley  Governing Body GP Lead for Mental Health, ENHCCG 3/5 
Sally Orr CCG Assistant Director Children’s Young People and 

Maternity Services, ENHCCG 
2/3 

S Pattison Head of Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team, 
ENHCCG / HCC 

7/8 

S Reavey * Director of Nursing and Quality, ENHCCG 2/2 
 
* Chair of Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

To address the relatively poor attendance at this committee, a governance review has been 
undertaken and revised terms of reference submitted to the Governing Body, which includes 
a revision to the membership and a new Chair.   
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Locality Commissioning Committees 

Lower Lea Valley: Out of total of 7 meetings 

Abbey Road Surgery, Waltham Cross 6/7 

Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centres, Cheshunt 4/7 

Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre, Cuffley 6/7 

The High Street Surgery, Cheshunt 7/7 

The Maples Health Centre, Broxbourne 7/7 

Stanhope Surgery, Waltham Cross 5/7 

Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre, Cheshunt 7/7 

Warden Lodge Medical Practice, Cheshunt 7/7 

North Herts: Out of total of 7 meetings 

Ashwell Surgery, Ashwell 6/7 

The Baldock Surgery 6/7 

Bancroft Medical Centre 22 4/4 

Birchwood Surgery, Letchworth 5/7 

Courtenay House Surgery 1/3 

Garden City Surgery, Letchworth 6/7 

Knebworth and Marymead Surgery, Knebworth 5/7 

Nevells Road Surgery, Letchworth 7/7 

Portmill Surgery, Hitchin 5/7 

Orford Lodge Surgery 2/3 

Regal Chambers Surgery, Hitchin 5/7 

The Sollershott Surgery, Letchworth  3/7 

Whitwell Surgery, Whitwell 6/7 

Stevenage: Out of total of 8 meetings 

Bedwell and Roebuck Surgery, Stevenage 7/8 

Chells Surgery, Stevenage 7/8 

                                                      
22 Previously Courtenay House and Orford Lodge surgeries 

http://abbeyroadsurgery.org.uk/index.html
http://www.cromwellandwormleymedicalcentres.nhs.uk/
http://www.cuffleyvillagesurgery.co.uk/
https://www.highstreetsurgerycheshunt.co.uk/
http://www.themapleshealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.stanhopesurgery.nhs.uk/index.aspx
http://www.stockwell-lodge.nhs.uk/
http://www.wardenlodge.co.uk/
https://www.ashwellsurgery.co.uk/
https://baldocksurgery.co.uk/
http://www.birchwoodsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=8022B685-7D3B-4D3E-8D31-E9F8070D012B
http://www.knebworthandmarymeaddrs.co.uk/
http://www.surgerynevellsroad.co.uk/
http://www.portmillhealth.co.uk/
http://www.regalchambers.co.uk/
http://www.thesollershottsurgery.nhs.uk/
http://www.whitwellsurgery.nhs.uk/index.aspx
http://www.bedwellandroebucksurgery.com/
http://www.chellssurgery.co.uk/
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King George Surgery, Stevenage 8/8 

Manor House Surgery, Stevenage 7/8 

Shephall Health Centre, Stevenage 8/8 

Stanmore Medical Group, Stevenage  7/8 

Symonds Green Health Centre, Stevenage 4/8 

Stort Valley and Villages: Out of total of 5 meetings 

Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth 5/5 

Church Street Partnership, Bishop’s Stortford 5/5 

Much Hadham Health Centre 5/5 

Parsonage Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford 5/5 

Sawbridgeworth Medical Services, Sawbridgeworth 23  N/A 

South Street Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford 4/5 

Upper Lea Valley: Out of total of 4 meetings 

Amwell Surgery, Hoddesdon 4/4 

Buntingford Medical Centre, Buntingford 24 4/4 

Castlegate Surgery, Hertford 4/4 

Church Street Surgery, Ware 4/4 

Dolphin House Surgery, Ware 3/4 

Hailey View Surgery, Hoddesdon 4/4 

Haileybury College Health Centre, Hertford Heath 25 N/A 

Hanscombe House Surgery, Hertford 4/4 

The Limes Surgery, Hoddesdon 1/4 

Orchard Surgery, Buntingford 0/4 

Park Lane Surgery, Broxbourne  4/4 

                                                      
23 This GP practice provide services to a limited cohort of patients (care home) and are therefore not required 
to attend meetings. 
24 Buntingford Medical Centre and Puckeridge Surgery are in a soft merger, and the locality has agreed that one 
Practice Representative can represent both practices 
25 This GP practice provide services to a limited cohort of patients (boarding school) and are therefore not 
required to attend meetings. 

http://www.kinggeorgesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.manorhouse-surgery.org.uk/
http://www.shephallwaysurgery.co.uk/
http://www.stanmoremedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.symondsgreenhealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.centralsurgerysawbo.nhs.uk/
http://www.churchstsurgery.co.uk/
http://parsonagesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=9257A209-E59F-4E73-BF59-1B2C38B86B14
http://www.southstreetsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.amwellsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.buntingfordmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://castlegatesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.churchstware.org/
http://www.dolphinhousesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.hailey-viewsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/servicedirectories/pages/gp.aspx?pid=36c90d78-fc80-4f0f-90b7-6805a6a68b0f
http://hanscombehousesurgery.nhs.uk/welcome%2C43020.htm
http://www.thelimessurgery.co.uk/
http://www.orchardsurgerybuntingford.co.uk/index.php?home
http://www.parklanesurgerybroxbourne.nhs.uk/
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Puckeridge Surgery, Puckeridge 26 4/4 

Wallace House Surgery, Hertford 4/4 

Ware Road Surgery, Hertford 1/4 

Watton Place Clinic, Watton at Stone  3/4 

Welwyn and Hatfield: Out of total of 6 meetings 

Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn 5/6 

Burvill House Surgery, Hatfield 6/6 

The Garden City Practice, Welwyn Garden City 6/6 

Hall Grove Group Practice, Welwyn Garden City 4/6 

Lister House Surgery, Hatfield 6/6 

Peartree Group Practice, Welwyn Garden City 4/6 

Potterells Medical Centre, Hatfield 5/6 

Spring House Medical Centre, Welwyn Garden City 5/6 

Wrafton House Surgery, Hatfield 5/6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
26 Buntingford Medical Centre and Puckeridge Surgery are in a soft merger, and the locality has agreed that one 
Practice Representative can represent both practices 

http://www.nhs.uk/Services/gp/Overview/DefaultView.aspx?id=38046
http://www.wallacehousesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.wareroadsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/ServiceDirectories/Pages/GP.aspx?pid=0692288D-FBDA-4A3E-91DE-FD4393CE16D8
http://www.bridgecottagesurgery.nhs.uk/
http://www.burvillhousesurgery.org.uk/
http://www.gardencitypractice.nhs.uk/contact1.aspx
http://www.hallgrovesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.listerhouse.nhs.uk/
http://www.peartree-surgery.co.uk/index.aspx
http://www.potterells.net/
http://www.springhouse.nhs.uk/
http://www.wraftonhousesurgery.co.uk/
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

  Public Private 
Number of meetings held during 2018/19 5 7 
Name Title/Locality Attendance: 
Dr T Belcher  North Herts 4/5 6/7 

D Boardman  Director for Primary Care Development 5/5 7/7 

H Brown Director of Commissioning 2/2 3/3 

Dr F Chowdhury Independent GP  1/1 2/2 

D Desmulie* Lay Member – Co Commissioning 5/5 7/7 

L Farrant  Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/5 6/7 

B Flowers  Chief Executive 5/5 6/7 

A Pond  Chief Finance Officer 4/5 6/7 

S Reavey  Director of Nursing and Quality 5/5 7/7 

Dr A Shah  Welwyn and Hatfield 5/5 7/7 

Dr N Shukur  Stort Valley and Villages 2/2 2/3 

Dr N Williams  Deputy Chair – Clinical 1/2 2/3 

 
* Chair of Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 
 

Remuneration Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 2 
Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 1/2 
Dr D O’Riordan Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 2/2 
Dr A Shah GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn and Hatfield 1/1 
Dr N Williams GP Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley 1/1 
 
* Chair of Remuneration Committee 

 



146 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Quality Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2018/19 5 
Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
Dr H Bolat GP Governing Body Member, Lower Lea Valley 4/5 
L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 5/5 
Dr R Hall  GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage 4/5 
J Jewitt or Nominated Deputy Patient Network, Quality 4/5 
Dr R Joyce  Medical Director 3/5 
S Reavey  Director of Nursing and Quality 4/5 
N Shukur  GP Governing Body Member, Stort Valley and Villages 5/5 
C Slater  Associate Director of Quality and Patient Experience 5/5 
 
* Chair of Quality Committee 

 

 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group 
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for 
which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.  
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Executive 
Director.  Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties. 
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 

The CCG undertakes proactive holistic identification of risks utilising a top down and bottom 
up approach to ensure a robust process is in place.  These risks are managed using tiered risk 
registers, which include:- 

• Assurance Framework: The framework brings together in one place all of the relevant 
information on the principal risks to the Governing Body’s principal objectives.  The 
Governing Body is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the risks it is 
willing to take in achieving its principal objectives. 
 

• Corporate Risk Register: Risks are managed by Associate/Assistant Directors across 
the CCG with an assigned Executive Director responsible for oversight, as the risk 
owner. 
 

• Directorate and Project Risk Registers: These risk registers are maintained for 
Directorate and work stream oversight and risks may be escalated to the Corporate 
Risk Register. 

 

The Risk Management Strategy and Policy sets out the strategic aim, commitment to and 
objectives of the risk management process.  It also identifies the leadership and 
responsibilities for risk management throughout the organisation.  Roles and responsibilities 
are based around the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model. 
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First Line of Defence – Management and Staff 

Each department and employee is responsible for implementing the requirements of the 
Risk Management Strategy and Policy.  All line managers have a responsibility for identifying, 
assessing, managing and reporting risk within their area of responsibility, which could affect 
achievement of any of the organisation’s objectives.  They are also responsible for putting 
actions into place to mitigate these risks and for reporting activities or circumstance that 
may give risk to new or changed risk. 

 

 



149 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Second Line of Defence – Specialist Support Functions 

The second line of defence is made up of the functions that specialise in risk management or 
compliance.  The Governance and Corporate Affairs team is responsible for facilitating risk 
management activity across the CCG.  This includes providing training and advice to staff in 
the management of risk, embedding best practise risk management, co-ordinating and 
reporting risk information to the Governing Body and its committees.  In addition, this role is 
also responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management Strategy and Policy are kept 
relevant and in line with current best practise. 
 
Third Line of Defence 

The third line of defence relates to functions that provide independent assurance, which 
includes Internal Audit. 

 
Committee effectiveness 
Governing Body members have undertaken mandatory training throughout the year, which 
included risk management, health and safety, bullying and harassment, equality and 
diversity and information governance.  Annual mandatory training enables the members to 
regularly keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date.  In addition, each member is allocated 
sufficient time to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively. 

The Governing Body made two new appointments throughout the year to ensure 
progressive refreshing of the membership.  The election process is formally overseen by 
Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Local Medical Committee for openness and transparency.  
New members are subject to a probationary period and to re-election after 4 years. 

The Governance and Audit Committee and Quality Committee undertake self-assessments 
of their effectiveness on an annual basis.  The Chairman and Chief Executive undertake 
performance evaluations through regular 1:1 and appraisals of the members.  Some 
individuals undertook structured leadership assessment and feedback sessions to support 
their personal development in role. 
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Capacity to Handle Risk 

The Governing Body delegates to the Chief Executive and Executive team primary ownership 
and responsibility for operating risk management and control.  It is management’s job to 
provide leadership and direction to the employees in respect of risk management, and to 
control the organisation’s overall risk-taking activities in relation to the agreed level of risk 
appetite.  The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for risk management within the 
organisation.  The Director of Nursing and Quality has delegated responsibility for clinical risk 
and the Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for financial risk and information 
risk. 
 
The amount and type of risk that the Clinical Commissioning Group is willing to take on in 
pursuit of its strategic objectives is determined by the Governing Body in their determination 
of the organisation’s Risk Appetite.  This appetite is influenced by a number of key factors 
including (but not limited to) the overall level of risk, as well as the economic, regulatory and 
operational landscape. 
 
Strategic risks are identified by the Executive team based on the Strategic Objectives and 
informed by other sources.  The Clinical Commissioning Group is an active member of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and regularly participates in scrutiny meetings led by 
Hertfordshire County Council to discuss local health issues.  This level of joint activity enables 
stakeholders to work with the organisation to understand and manage any risks that may 
impact on them.  The Assurance Framework and highest scoring risks are published for 
Governing Body Meetings, in which they are reviewed three times a year, providing a further 
opportunity for public engagement with stakeholders in risks that impact on them. 
 
All Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that key and emerging strategic risks are 
identified, assessed and managed.  They also monitor the effectiveness of risk assessment, 
mitigating actions and assurances in place.  The Directorate teams are responsible for 
reviewing their work areas to identify risks to the achievement of objectives and to put in 
place actions to mitigate these. 
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Members of the Governing Body have attended specific training in risk management.  Risk 
management training is also mandatory for all managers and staff.  At 31 March 2019, 94% 
of staff had completed risk management training. 

 

Risk Assessment 

The risk management process starts with the organisation setting its strategic objectives and 
identifying possible risks to their achievement.  The controls in place to mitigate the risks are 
assessed together with the assurance in place on those controls.  Gaps in controls and 
assurance are evaluated and further actions identified and implemented.  If the residual risk 
is not acceptable further actions are identified, assigned to named individuals and timescales 
for implementation agreed. 
 
The Risk Management Strategy and Policy is used by all levels of staff and contains the risk 
scoring matrix and descriptors, which helps staff to ensure that risks are scored consistently 
so that priority can be given to the risks that could hinder the achievement of objectives.  It 
also details the process by which risks are managed and escalated to the Corporate Risk 
Register. 
 
The Assurance Framework details the risks that, at a strategic level, could have an impact on 
achieving the organisation’s objectives.  Updates to the Assurance Framework take into 
consideration the risks on the Corporate Risk Register.  These updates include a review of 
the nature of the risk, the risk description including causes and impact, risk scoring, 
discussion and challenge of the controls and identification of further actions required to 
mitigate the risk.  The Corporate Risk Register is reviewed on a monthly basis by the Risk 
Review Group. 
 
The following table details the strategic objectives of the organisation and the risks affecting 
these, which reflect both the ‘in-year’ and ‘future’ risks faced by the CCG. 

 

 



152 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Strategic Objective Risks that score 12 and above 

 
1 - Living well and preventing ill health 
To support people to improve their health and 
wellbeing, and to live well with long term 
conditions via three enabling approaches to 
prevention: 
1) Social Prescribing / Community First  
2) Personalisation (including Frailty) 
3) Self-management and supporting people to 
live well with their long-term conditions. 

 
The impact of the following risks may result in poor patient 
outcomes; 
 
M1 - The risk of poor access to service or incorrect 
assessment if the third sectors and localities do not 
engage or follow clinical pathways   
 
M2 - The risk of continued pressure on current services for 
the ageing/frail population if there are delays in the rollout 
of shared decision making and self-management support 
(i.e., myCOPD App to help people with chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease). 

 
2 - Integrated Commissioning for Better 
Outcomes 
To improve outcomes through integrated 
commissioning taking a person-centred, place-
based and outcomes-focused approach, working 
closely together to improve clinical quality, 
patient experience and affordability, and give 
equal priority to physical and mental health 
needs. 

 
The following risks are identified; 
 
NQ1 -  The risk of potentially compromising the delivery of 
Cost Improvement Programmes and quality of care 
(including Infection Prevention Control and Cancer) due to 
increased turnover and financial pressure resulting in 
patient harm 
 
NQ2 - The risk to effectively commission new services or 
provide existing services if the CCG does not adequately 
address the existing shortage of skilled staff resulting in 
diminished services or failure to deliver core services and 
poor patient outcomes  
 
NQ6 - The risk that the quality of care provided to patients 
will be compromised if Providers do not address concerns 
relating to their services resulting in poor patient 
outcomes. 
 
NQ14  - The risk of not achieving better outcomes if the 
national shortage of beds for children and young people in 
mental health continues resulting in more extended 
admission waiting in local areas and the impact on families 
with children placed outside Hertfordshire 
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Strategic Objective Risks that score 12 and above 

 
NQ15 - The risk of failing to identify serious underlying 
health conditions if the CCG does not achieve/make 
reasonable adjustments in healthcare settings and offer 
regular GP health checks to patients with learning 
disabilities resulting in poorer outcomes for patients. 

 
3 - Improving urgent care services 
To deliver improved urgent and emergency care 
pathways across our commissioned services for 
unplanned care. 

 
OP1 - The risk that an increase in demand and reduced 
capacity may impact on patient flow throughout the 
system resulting in an inability to sustain commissioned 
services and a potential impact on patient outcomes. 
 
OP2 - The risk that the CCG may not be sufficiently 
prepared for Pandemic Flu impacting on the delivery of 
essential services, patient outcomes and staff welfare.  
 

 
4 - Delivering health and care more efficiently 
and effectively 
To deliver health and care more efficiently and 
effectively, and successfully achieve financial and 
activity targets, including successful delivery of 
QIPP initiatives. 

 
F2 - The financial risk to achieving improved patient 
outcomes if the CCG does not deliver on its medium-term 
initiatives, which are designed to improve patient 
outcomes 
 
F8 - The risk that the CCG will be under a cost pressure if 
the CCG is unable to resolve provider dispute  
 

 
5 - Local Digital Roadmap 
To maximise the use of new technology to 
deliver the Local Digital roadmap in four areas: 
1) Interoperability 
2) Urgent care dashboards 
3) Joint Business Intelligence 
4) Collaborative working environment 

 
ICT231 - The risk to objective if the CCG does 
not  adequately prevent cyber-attacks due to 
vulnerabilities within its cyber security resulting in possible 
legal actions from clients or regulators 
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Strategic Objective Risks that score 12 and above 

 
6 – Workforce 
To ensure that the CCG recruits, retains and 
develops staff to ensure the organisation has the 
capability to successfully deliver its ambitions 
and objectives, and transition to an Integrated 
Care System. 
 

 
HR1 - There is a risk of failure in staff retention and talent 
management if the CCG does not adequately engage in 
staff skills development resulting in a reduced ability to 
achieve its objectives. 
  

 
7 - Participation and Engagement 
To ensure that the public are involved in 
designing, planning and monitoring the health 
and care services we commission and are 
encouraged and supported to take responsibility 
for their own health and wellbeing. 
 

 
CE3 - The reputational risk for the CCG if it does not have 
sufficient input in the planning and funding of local health 
services due to poor engagement with the patients and 
public 
  

 
8 - Sustainability of General Practice 
To deliver the five year forward view for General 
Practice set out in the CCG's Primary Care 
Strategy and NHS England’s GP Forward View. 
 

 
PC1 – The risk that GP practices hand back their contracts 
due to financial, and/or workforce or quality issues before 
plans to transform and support are fully delivered.  This 
could affect the provision of primary care services for the 
local population. 
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Other sources of assurance 

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 
 

Internal Audit 

The organisation uses an internal audit function to monitor the internal controls in operation 
to try to identify and correct any weaknesses identified.  The system is embedded in the 
activity of the organisation through an annual Internal Audit Work Plan.  The Internal Audit 
services for the organisation are currently provided by RSM.  The Head of Internal Audit 
reports independently to the Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee and provides 
objectivity and independent assurance on the effectiveness of its system of internal control, 
including the application of the Risk Management Framework.  The annual Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion (see page 161) provides independent overarching assurance to the 
organisation. 
 

Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management 

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management.  To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has 
published a template audit framework.  
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The organisation received substantial assurance for this audit and is currently in the process 
of implementing one low management recommendation agreed with the auditors to make 
sure the identified risk continues to be managed effectively.  The area found to be partially 
compliant related to making sure individuals declare their gifts and hospitality within 28 days 
of receiving the offer. 

 
Data Quality 

The CCG undertakes monthly validation of all ‘Secondary Uses Service’ data for all 
contracted providers against a comprehensive list of validation rules.  There is also a 
monthly Organisational Performance and Delivery Day held with Governing Body members 
to discuss and resolve a range of issues associated with the organisation’s main providers, 
including data quality and validation issues.  Commissioning Information Groups are held 
monthly with all the main acute and community providers to discuss and agree 
improvements in performance and data quality issues.  Data Quality Improvement Plans 
have been agreed with all the main providers and monitored at the Commissioning 
Information Data Groups on a monthly or quarterly basis. 
 
The CCG has access to the national Hospital Episode Statistics data, through Mede/Analytics, 
to undertake bespoke comparative data analysis to be compared alongside any national 
benchmarking reports such as Right Care. 

 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a 
toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively.  Risks to data security are managed through a series of 
management, technical, operational and privacy controls.  
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Cyber security risks are a sector wide issue following the Wannacry attack and other general 
threats against the NHS as a whole since, the CCG regularly reviews its IT policies and takes 
action in response to CareCERTs and guidelines issued to the CCGs by NHS Digital with cyber 
security a regular matter reviewed by the CCGS governance and audit committees. 

 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit 

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit is an online self-assessment tool that all 
organisations must use if they have access to NHS patient data and systems.  It replaces the 
previous Information Governance toolkit from April 2018 and enables organisations to 
measure and publish their performance against the National Data Guardian's ten data 
security standards. 

The CCG has undertaken an assessment of its position against the toolkit and has submitted 
its ‘assured’ rating.  Policies and processes for the management of information have been 
agreed at the Information Governance Forum. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient confidentiality and corporate information.  We 
have established an Information Governance Management Framework and have developed 
information governance processes and procedures in line with the toolkit.  We have ensured 
that all staff members undertake information governance training annually, which is 
mandatory and ensures they are aware of their roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  
We have appointed a Senior Information Risk Owner who is the Chief Finance Officer and 
continue to embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation.  We also 
appointed a Data Protection Officer who is the Company Secretary in line with the General 
Data Protection Regulation. 
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Business Critical Models 

The CCG uses activity models that are based on official Government produced information; 
for example, population demographics, provided by the Office for National Statistics and 
NHS Right Care.   
 
The CCG currently uses a local risk stratification model that was jointly developed between 
health and social care and is made available through Mede/Analytics.  This model is used to 
identify a discrete group of patients who are at risk of being admitted to hospital as an 
emergency, who may be better looked after through local community frailty services.  The 
patients identified by this model are followed up by a multi-disciplinary team of clinicians 
from primary care, community health, mental health, and social workers as part of a clinical 
review process to provide assurance only patients suitable for the schemes developed are 
followed up.  The CCG has developed a model to calculate the elderly frailty index (EFI) using 
primary care data. 
 
The organisation does not use any other sophisticated models beyond those described 
above, but is currently undertaking further analysis to develop new risk stratification models 
using the wider range of data that is now available through the data integration and 
pseudonymisation at source project. 

 

Third Party Assurances 

The CCG has a contract with Mede/Analytics to provide Business Intelligence support as a 
Data Processor.  As a third party supplier assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of 
the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and they are entered on the Data Protection 
Register with the Information Commissioners Office (ICO.)  In addition there is a 
confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and Mede/Analytics and they have 
been audited by NHS Digital with an assessment of minimal risk of inappropriate exposure 
and/or access to data provided by NHS Digital, and were highlighted with a number of areas 
of good practice. 
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The CCG also has a contract with Arden & GEM Commissioning Support Unit to provide Data 
Services for Commissioning (DSCRO) services.  As a third party supplier assurance is provided 
by satisfactory completion of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and they are entered 
on the Data Protection Register with the ICO.  Further assurance is provided by the inclusion 
of a confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and Arden & GEM CSU. 

The organisation does not have any other contracts with third party suppliers who have 
access to and process patient identifiable data.  All other third party contractors are 
assessed on an annual basis and contract clauses included where appropriate. 
 

Control Issues 

The Head of Internal Audit has concluded that there are no significant control issues 
currently facing the organisation. 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively the organisation has implemented processes, which are described below: 

• the CCG has agreed its prime and detailed financial policies, which set out the systems to 
be adhered to in order to ensure that resources are used efficiently. 

• developed and implemented strategic and operational plans, which include an agreed 
annual budget approved by the Governing Body. 

• contracts with providers that use the national standard NHS contract and include 
detailed finance, activity and quality schedules.  The contracts require providers to 
innovate to improve quality and efficiency. 

• comprehensive programme of contract monitoring, covering all aspects of performance, 
quality, activity and finance against agreed plans. 

• corporate wide process for the development and review of business cases for 
investment.  Processes include assessment of value for money and contribution to the 
achievement of CCG objectives. 

• reports on finance and quality presented on a monthly basis to the Governing Body, with 
actions identified when performance is off track. 
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• report on identified key financial risks to regular meetings of the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 

• implementation of an internal audit programme that is targeted at the strategic risks and 
key financial control processes. 

• annual fraud risk assessment undertaken by an independent party, providing 
recommendations for key actions. 

• comprehensive suite of Fraud and Bribery policies agreed and in place with local counter 
fraud specialist delivering an agreed work plan. 

• requirement as part of mandatory training that all staff undertake counter fraud and 
bribery training 

• training for staff on how to raise concerns under the Raising Concerns 
(Whistleblowing) Policy – with the mechanisms being used appropriately 

• NHS Right Care allows the organisation to compare the amount we spend, the health 
services we commission and the health of our population against that of other areas in 
England.  These comparisons help the CCG to identify whether our population is 
receiving high quality, efficient and effective health services. 

• QIPP work programme  
• the NHS Benchmarking Network CCG Functions Project provides comparisons about 

CCG’s in their own right, rather than just the services they commission. 
 
 
Delegation of functions 

On 1st October 2018 arrangements were put into place to implement a new model for 
managing Excess Treatment Costs (ETCs) in non-commercial research.  The Governing Body 
were asked and agreed to delegate their ETC commissioning function to a nominated lead 
CCG, which for the Eastern region is NHS South Norfolk CCG.  This CCG will take on 
responsibility for commissioning and managing all ETC requests for the region, which will be 
managed on its behalf through an agreement with the local Clinical Research Network.  A 
delegation agreement has been signed by both parties.    
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Counter fraud arrangements 

The Clinical Commissioning Group contracts RSM to provide the counter fraud provision by 
way of a nominated lead local counter fraud specialist (LCFS).  The LCFS is accredited by the 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority and qualified to undertake the duties of that role. 
 
RSM provides the Clinical Commissioning Group with a LCFS Annual Report, which details all 
work undertaken in respect of counter fraud activities for the reporting year and measures 
each task as specified in the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for NHS Commissioners: 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.  The LCFS work plan is designed to meet the requirements set 
out in the Standards and each task is designed to provide compliance with each of the 
standards described.  The LCFS work plan is designed to address the locally and nationally 
identified fraud risk areas in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer holds Governing Body level responsibility for the delivery of the 
LCFS work and provides the support to the LCFS in achieving this.  The LCFS works with the 
Chief Finance Officer in submitting the annual NHS Counter Fraud Authority Self-Review 
Tool.  An action plan is produced on the findings of this tool which is monitored at the 
Governance and Audit Committee for any areas not deemed as fully compliant with the 
standards. 

Please see page 189 of this report for the CCG’s ‘whistleblowing’ procedures.  

 

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION  
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s system of 
risk management, governance and internal control.  The Head of Internal Audit concluded 
that: 
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The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management, 
governance and internal control. However, our work has identified further 
enhancements to the framework of risk management, governance and internal 
control to ensure that it remains adequate and effective. 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given 

Delivery of the Vanguard Programmes - implementation of 
lessons learned.  

Reasonable Assurance 

Primary Care Delegated Commissioning Substantial Assurance  

Delivery of the Patient Transport Service Contract Reasonable Assurance 

Financial Planning and Delivery (including QIPP) Substantial Assurance 

General Data Protection Regulation Governance Advisory – opinion given 

Information Systems Assurance (including HBL)  
- Effectiveness of GP IT Service 

Reasonable Assurance 

Key Financial Controls and Payroll Reasonable Assurance  

Management of Conflicts of Interest Substantial Assurance 

Risk Management and Assurance Reasonable Assurance 

STP New Models of Care Reasonable Assurance 

Follow Up 
Good Progress – 95% 
implemented 

Personal Health Budgets Reasonable Assurance 

Prescribing Substantial Assurance 

GP Practice Extended Opening Hours Reasonable Assurance 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 
control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the Internal Auditors, the Executive Directors and senior management within the Clinical 
Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework.  I have drawn on performance information available to me.  My 
review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their annual audit 
letter and other reports. 
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principal objectives have 
been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the: 

• Governing Body 
• Governance and Audit Committee 
• Quality Committee 
• Internal Audit 
• External Audit 

 

Conclusion 

As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined above, I can confirm 
that the Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual controls position and 
there are no significant internal control issues identified for the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
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PART TWO: REMUNERATION  
AND STAFF REPORT 
 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
The information on pages 166 to 168 is not subject to audit, except for ‘payments to past 
senior managers’. 
 
 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
The members of the Remuneration Committee for the year were as follows. The committee 
met twice during 2018/19 and all members were in attendance. 
 

• Linda Farrant – Lay member (Governance and Audit), Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee 

• Dr Nicky Williams – Deputy Clinical Chair (until September 2018) 
• Dr Ashish Shah – Deputy Clinical Chair (from September 2018) 
• Dr Dermot O’ Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 

 
 
POLICY ON REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGERS (not subject to audit) 

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Remuneration Committee used the remuneration 
guidance provided by NHS England to inform its decisions regarding the pay of all very senior 
managers. We can confirm that the pay of all our very senior managers is within the pay 
ranges identified in the guidance. Additional payments have been agreed on a post-by-post 
basis for additional responsibilities and complexity, as assessed by the Remuneration 
Committee. 
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SENIOR MANAGERS PERFORMANCE RELATED PAY (not subject to audit) 
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that there will be no performance related pay for 
senior managers. 
 

POLICY ON SENIOR MANAGERS’ CONTRACTS  
As at 31 March 2019 there were seven permanent executive team managers. GPs on the 
Governing Body are engaged on fixed term contracts: 

• Drs Andrews and Jackson (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2019) 
• Dr Belcher (4 year fixed term from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2021)   
• Dr Bolat (4 year fixed term from 5 May 2017 to 30 April 2021) 
• Dr Chowdhury (4 year fixed term from 20 February 2019 to 19 February 2023) 
• Dr Dixon (4 year fixed term from 1 May 2018 to 30 April 2022) 
• Dr Gupta (4 year fixed term from 1 November 2015 to 31 October 2019) 
• Dr Hall (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021) 
• Dr Moodley (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2022)  
• Dr Pathmanathan (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2014 to 31 August 2018) 
• Dr Saha (4 year fixed term from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2022) 
• Dr Shah (4 year fixed term from 10 September 2018 to 9 September 2022) 
• Dr Shukur (3 year fixed term from 16 February 2017 to 29 February 2020) 
• Dr Williams (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2017 to 9 September 2018) 
 
Lay members are also employed on fixed term contracts: 
 

• Linda Farrant (1 April 2013 to 31 March 2022) 
• Dianne Desmulie (27 November 2014 to 26 November 2022) 
 
 

SENIOR MANAGER SERVICE CONTRACTS (not subject to audit) 
We do not have any senior manager service contracts. 

PAYMENTS TO PAST SENIOR MANAGERS (subject to audit) 
There have been no payments to past senior managers.
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SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES (AUDITED SECTION) 

The salary and pension entitlements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s senior managers are disclosed in the following two tables. The 
definition of a senior manager is a person in a senior position having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities 
of the clinical commissioning group. This means those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than 
the decisions of individual directorates or departments, people including advisory and lay members. The Chief Executive confirms that this 
definition covers members of the Governing Body only. 

SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN 2018/19 

TABLE 1: SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE 

 
2018-19 

Name and Title 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Beverley Flowers -  Accountable Officer  130-135 0 0 0 7.5-10 140-145 
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer 130-135 200 0 0 0 130-135 
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality 115-120 0 0 0 0 115-120 
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations  115-120 100 0 0 0-2.5 115-120 
Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning (1 April - 30 September 2018) - Note 1 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 
Rachel Joyce - Medical Director  130-135 0 0 0 50-52.5 180-185 
Denise Boardman - Director for Primary Care Development (from 1 April 2018) 115-120 100 0 0 130-132.5 245-250 
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair (1 April - 31 August 2018) - Note 2  40-45 0 0 0 £NIL 40-45 
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair (1 April - 9 Sept 2018) - Note 3 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member. Appointed CCG Chair from 1 Sept 2018 - Note 3 & 6 105-110 0 0 0 £NIL 105-110 
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member. Appointed CCG Vice Chair from 10 Sept 2018 - Note 3 & 4 95-100 0 0 0 £NIL 95-100 
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member - Note 5 75-80 0 0 0 £NIL 75-80 
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
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Russell Hall - GP Board Member  50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member  50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Tara Belcher - GP Board Member - Note 3 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Haydar Bolat - GP Board Member   50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Sarah Dixon - GP Board Member (from 1 May 2018) - Note 3 35-40 0 0 0 £NIL 35-40 
Anindita Saha - GP Board Member (from 1 October 2018) - Note 3 25-30 0 0 0 £NIL 25-30 
Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member  10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Linda Farrant - Lay Member 15-20 200 0 0 0 15-20 
Dermot O'Riordan - Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
 
Notes       
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises 
from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business 
travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage 
allowance payments" rate in 2018-19 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.     
  
The "All pension related benefits" in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the course of the past year, i.e. the 
additional money (lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2019 
compared to their entitlements as at 31 March 2018. These benefits are funded by East and North Hertfordshire CCG and are calculated on the 
assumption that the annual pension will be paid for 20 years after the date of retirement.       
       
Note 1 - Harper Brown was seconded to the Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) as Director of 
Strategy during the year. He received a total salary of £118,366 for the year of which £74,142 has been recharged to West Essex CCG 
representing 40% of July and August salary, 60% of September's salary and 100% of salary as from 1 October 2018.     
   
Note 2 - In addition to his remuneration as a GP Board Member and CCG Chair, Hari Pathmanathan also received £3,349 in salary which was 
recharged to West Essex CCG for his role as the clinical lead in the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP.   
 
 
 
     



168 __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Note 3 - Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC 
rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionable on the payroll and 
submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. 
The salary banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.      
  
Note 4 - The total remuneration for Ashish Shah includes £11,534.90 paid via payroll to his limited company relating to a locality workforce 
lead role for 42 sessions. 
       
Note 5 - The total remuneration for Mark Andrews includes £25,341 relating to a clinical lead role.       
 
Note 6 - The total remuneration for Prag Moodley includes £10,559 relating to a clinical lead role for the period April - August 2018.  
     
Note 7 - Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does 
not include employer pension contributions (with the exception of those GPs see Note 4 above, where employer pension contributions are 
included in accordance with guidance) and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.       
 

FAIR PAY DISCLOSURE (AUDITED ELEMENT OF REMUNERATION REPORT) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in the organisation 
and the median remuneration of the CCG's workforce, as at the reporting date (31 March 2019).       
      
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in East and North Hertfordshire CCG at the reporting date was £130,000-
£135,000 (2017/18: £130,000-£135,000). This was 3.5 times (2017/18: 3.63) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £37,844 
(2017-18: £36,461).       
       
In 2018-19 and 2017/18, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's 
Governing body. The lowest paid member of staff received £15,565 (2017/18: £13,047).        
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TABLE 2: SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN PREVIOUS YEAR (2017/18) 
 

Name and Title 
Salary   

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest £100 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses (bands 
of £5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses (bands 

of £5,000) 

All pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Beverley Flowers -  Accountable Officer  130-135 0 0 0 30-32.5 165-170 
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer  125-130 200 0 0 22.5-25 150-155 
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing and Quality 110-115 0 0 0 15-17.5 125-130 
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations  110-115 0 0 0 25-27.5 135-140 
Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning  110-115 0 0 0 15-17.5 125-130 
Rachel Joyce - Medical Director  120-125 0 0 0 115-117.5 235-240 
Denise Boardman - Programme Director (from 1 Apr 2017)  95-100 100 0 0 12.5-15 110-115 
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair - Note 1 & 2 105-110 0 0 0 £NIL 105-110 
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair - Note 2 100-105 0 0 0 £NIL 100-105 
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member - Note 2 50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member - Note 2 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member - Note 2 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Russell Hall - GP Board Member - Note 2 50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member (1 Apr 2017 to 5 Feb 2018) - Note 2 50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member - Note 2 50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member (1 Apr 2017 to 30 June 2017) - Note 2 5-10 0 0 0 £NIL 5-10 
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member - Note 2 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member - Note 2 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Tara Belcher - GP Board Member (from 1 Jul 2017)- Note 2 30-35 0 0 0 £NIL 30-35 
Haydar Bolat - GP Board Member (from 1 Apr 2017) - Note 2 40-45 0 0 0 £NIL 40-45 
Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member  10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Yvette Twumasi - Ankrah - Lay Member (1 Apr to 22 March 2018  ) 5-10 100 0 0 0 5-10 
Linda Farrant - Lay Member 15-20 200 0 0 0 15-20 
Dermot O'Riordan - Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
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Notes       

The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises 
from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business 
travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage 
allowance payments" rate in 2017-18 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.     
  
The "All pension related benefits" in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the course of the past year, i.e. the 
additional money (lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2018 
compared to their entitlements as at 31 March 2017. These benefits are funded by East and North Hertfordshire CCG and are calculated on the 
assumption that the annual pension will be paid for 20 years after the date of retirement.       
       
       
Note 1 - In addition to his remuneration as a GP Board Member and CCG Chair above, Hari Pathmanathan also received £8,854 in salary which 
is recharged to Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust for his role as the clinical lead in the Hertfordshire and West Essex 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.       

Note 2 - Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC 
rulings, the position is pensionable under the ‘Practitioner Pension Scheme’. The CCG must make the post non pensionable on the payroll and 
submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. 
The salary banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where relevant. 
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PENSIONS BENEFITS 2018/19 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
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Relating to the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Beverley Flowers -  Accountable Officer  0-2.5 0 40-45 95-100 677 79 796 0 
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer  0 0 55-60 85-90 877 0 887 0 
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 125-130 873 73 989 0 
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations  0-2.5 0 45-50 115-120 739 90 867 0 
Harper Brown - Director of Commissioning  (1 Apr -30 Sept2018) - Notes 1 & 2 0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 105-110 0 0 0 0 
Rachel Joyce - Medical Director 2.5-5 2.5-5 35-40 105-110 679 109 828 0 
Denise Boardman - Director of Primary Care Development  5-7.5 17.5-20 45-50 140-145 835 216 1,093 0 
Hari Pathmanathan - CCG Chair (1 April 2018 - 31 August 2018) £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member &  CCG Chair (CCG Chair from 1 Sept 2018) - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Nicky Williams - CCG Vice Chair - (1 April 2018- 9 September 2018) - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair (CCG Vice Chair from 10 Sept 
2018) - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 

Mark Andrews - GP Board Member  £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Sachin Gupta - GP Board Member - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Tara Belcher  - GP Board Member - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member  £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Haydar Bolat - GP Board Member  £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Russell Hall - GP Board Member  £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Sarah Dixon - GP Board Member (from 1 May 2018) - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Anindita Saha - GP Board Member (from 1 October 2018) - Note 3 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Linda Farrant - Lay Member - Note 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Dianne Desmulie - Lay Member  - Note 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Dermot O'Riordan - Lay Member - Note 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Notes 

1. The officer has no CETV at 31st March 2019 as at that date they were past the normal retirement age meaning that their pensions cannot
be transferred.

2. The officer was seconded to the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) on a full time basis as
from 1 October 2018.

3. Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the
position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and for GPs
who are members of the Practitioner scheme, submit GP SOLO forms to include the employers pension contribution of 14.3% plus 0.08%
administration levy to the NHS Pensions Authority.

4. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.

5. NHS employees contribute towards their pension benefits. In 2018/19 contribution rates were 14.5% of salary where the individual earned
in excess of £111,377 and 13.5% where the individual earned between £70,631 and £111,377.

6. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particularly point in time.  The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the
scheme.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement
when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.

The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension
scheme. This may be more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension
details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS
pension scheme.



They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service 
in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries. 

7. Real Increase in CETV

The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or 
arrangement) . 

8. The factors used to calculate the CETV increased on 29 October 2018 and will have affected the calculation of the real increase in CETV.

Date: 23 May 2019 
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Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit) 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that 
last longer than six months.  

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 23 
Of which… 
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 11 
Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 12 
Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 0 
Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 0 
Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting 0 

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last longer 
than six months (not subject to audit) 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019  20 

Of which… 
Number assessed as caught by IR35 20 
Number assessed as not caught by IR35 0 

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 
departmental payroll 0 

Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance purposes 
during the year  0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 0 
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Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to audit) 
 
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019. 
 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure 
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements   

24 

 
EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
The total spend on consultants in 2018/19 is shown on page 209 of the accounts. 

 
EXIT PACKAGES AGREED IN THE FINANCIAL YEAR (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
There was one exit package of £6,307 paid during the year in respect of contractual pay in 
lieu of notice (nil for 2017/18).      
  
 
TRADE UNION FACILITY TIME (NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT)  

Union representatives have a statutory right to reasonable paid time off from employment 
to carry out trade union duties and to undertake trade union training.  Union duties must 
relate to matters covered by collective bargaining agreements between employers and trade 
unions and relate to the union representative’s own employer, unless agreed otherwise in 
circumstances of multi-employer bargaining, and not, for example, to any associated 
employer.   
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Union representatives and members also have a statutory right to reasonable unpaid time 
off when taking part in trade union activities.  Employers can also consider offering paid time 
off.  

Activities can be, for example, taking part in: 

• branch, area or regional meetings of the union where the business of the union is
under discussion

• meetings of official policy making bodies such as the executive committee or annual
conference

• meetings with full time officers to discuss issues relevant to the workplace.

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force 
on 1st April 2017 and put in place the provisions in the Trade Union Act 2016 requiring 
relevant public sector employers to publish specified information related to facility time 
provided to trade union officials. 

The specified information is provided in Tables 1-4 below. 

Table 1: Relevant union officials  

Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during 2018/19 

Full-time equivalent 
employee number 

2 2 

Table 2: Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 



Percentage of time 

1-50%

51%-99% 

100% 

Table 3: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Description 

Total cost of facility time 

Total pay bill 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time 

Table 4: Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a 

percentage of total paid facility time hours 

Beverley Flowers, Chief Executive 

Annual Report and Accounts 

Number of employees 

2 

0 

0 

Figures 

£2,643 

£14.149m 

0.02% 

15% 

23 May 2019 
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STAFF REPORT 

As at 31 March 2019, East and North Hertfordshire CCG employed a total of 332 staff (286 full 
time equivalents).  These figures include all governing body members and 4 staff on external 
secondment to partnership organisations. 
 
The table below details how many senior managers are employed by the CCG by banding (as 
at 31 March 2019). 
 

Agenda for Change 
Band 

Number  
of Staff 

8a 38 
8b 26 
8c 13 
8d 14 
9 2 

VSM 6 
 
 

Equality and Diversity (not subject to audit) 

The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due regard to 
the need to:  
 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
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• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  

 
Throughout 2018/19, East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s engagement approach was fully 
cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of opportunity for the 
population of East and North Hertfordshire in the context of all its commissioning 
engagement activities in the future.  
 
The CCG met statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS 
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce Race 
Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and diversity work and 
identify where improvements can be made.  

 
NHS Workforce Race Equality Standards (WRES) 

The CCG is required to have ‘due regard’ to the WRES in respect of its own workforce. It is 
recognised that the small size of many CCGs means that a literal application and 
interpretation of the indicators should be approached with caution. CCGs should pay due 
regard to the WRES both as an indication they are complying with their Public Sector 
Equality Duty and in order to demonstrate that as commissioners they also take the intent of 
the WRES seriously. 
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The CCG’s profile for staff-declared ethnicity appears in the table below (at 31 March 2019). 

 
Ethnic Origin Headcount % 
A White – British 63.86 
B White – Irish 2.41 
C White - Any other White background 4.52 
D Mixed - White & Black Caribbean 1.81 
E Mixed - White & Black African 0.60 
F Mixed - White & Asian 0.30 
G Mixed - Any other mixed background 10.24 
H Asian or Asian British – Indian 1.20 
J Asian or Asian British – Pakistani 1.51 
K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi 1.20 
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background 0.30 
LE Asian Sri Lankan 0.30 
M Black or Black British - Caribbean 1.81 
N Black or Black British – African 5.42 
P Black or Black British - Any other Black background 0.30 
R Chinese 0.30 
S Any Other Ethnic Group 1.51 
Z Not Stated 2.41 

 

 

 

 

 



181 __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report and Accounts  

Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) 

The CCG is required to implement EDS2. The last assessment took place a number of years 
ago as part of a Hertfordshire-wide assessment and was graded as ‘Developing’ (on a scale 
of Undeveloped, Developing, Achieving and Excelling). A review of the CCG is underway and 
the findings will be used to refresh our equality and diversity strategy and action plan.  
Equality and diversity support is delivered to the CCG, via a shared service resource 
alongside Herts Valleys, Bedfordshire, Luton and West Essex CCGs. This model enables best 
practice and expertise to be shared amongst all organisations.  
 

Disability 

The CCG previously held the ‘Positive About Disabled People’ (PADP) award presented by 
Jobcentre Plus to those employers who demonstrated a commitment to recruiting disabled 
employees and developing their skills and prospects. This award was also known as the ‘Two 
Ticks’ award because of the design of logo looked like two ticks. 
 
The PADP award was replaced by the Disability Confident award. This has been awarded to 
the CCG for two years from June 2017, recognising our commitment to recruiting and 
developing disabled employees.  
 
At 31 March 2019, 92.17% of staff have declared they have no disability, with 3.31% declaring 
a disability and the remaining 4.52% declaring they do not wish to disclose. 

 
Gender Profile (not subject to audit) 

Gender Profile – overall workforce (at 31 March 2019) 
 
Gender % 
Female 63.55 
Male 36.45 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/disability-confident-campaign
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% gender by pay band (at 31 March 2019) 

Agenda for Change (AfC) Male (%) Female (%) 
Band 3 0.3 0.3 
Band 4 4.2 7.5 
Band 5 6.0 7.5 
Band 6 6.0 9.3 
Band 7 5.1 13.6 

Band 8A 2.4 9.0 
Band 8B 3.6 4.2 
Band 8C 1.8 2.1 
Band 8D 1.2 3.0 
Band 9 0.3 0.3 

Very Senior Managers (VSM) 0.3 1.5 
 

Non-AfC  5.1 5.1 

 
Gender breakdown (as at 31 March 2019) 
 
Governing Body members (covers VSM pay framework grades) 

Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 

11 50 11 50 
Bands 8a and above 

Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 

35 32.71 72 67.29 
All other bands (band 7 and below) 

Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 

72 36.18 127 63.82 
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Gender pay gap reporting regulations 
 
From 31 March 2017, all public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff 
have been required to publish gender pay gap information annually, both on their website 
and on the designated government website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap. The results for 
the CCG published on 31 March 2019 will be available here and are based on the gender pay 
position for the CCG on 31 March 2019. 
 
East and North Hertfordshire is one of the few CCGs nationally which is required to publish 
this information, as most CCGs employ fewer than 250 members of staff.   
 
Gender pay reporting is different to equal pay. Equal pay deals with the pay differences 
between men and women who carry out the same jobs, similar jobs or work of equal value. 
It is unlawful to pay people unequally because they are a man or a woman.  
 
The gender pay gap shows the difference in the average pay (both mean and median) 
between all men and women in our workforce. Calculations are based on the hourly rate of 
ordinary salary paid to each employee on a snapshot date in the financial year. This includes 
staff employed under Agenda for Change terms and conditions, clinical advisers and very 
senior managers.   
 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG employs more women than men, with women making up 
approximately 60% of the workforce.   

The data for East and North Hertfordshire CCG shows that the average (mean) gender pay 
gap, the amount more that male employees earn compared to female employees, is 19.27% 
and that the median gender pay gap is 0%. This is an increase in the mean gender pay gap 
from the 10.70% in 2017 but no change in the median pay gap.  

 

 

 

http://www.gov.uk/genderpaygap
https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/Employer/dHj4ZdiL
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Religion and beliefs 

The declared religion or belief of CCG staff at 31 March 2019 appears in the table below: 
 
Religious Belief Headcount % 
Atheism 11.75 
Buddhism 0.60 
Christianity 36.14 
Hinduism 4.82 
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief 31.33 
Islam 2.41 
Jainism 0.30 
Judaism 0.90 
Other 5.72 
Sikhism 0.90 
Not stated 5.12 
 
The declared sexual orientation for the CGG at 31 March 2019 appears in the table below: 
 
Sexual Orientation Headcount % 
Bisexual 0.60 
Gay  or Lesbian 0.90 
Heterosexual 68.07 
I do not wish to disclose my sexual orientation 25.30 
Not stated 5.13 
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Sickness Absence Data (not subject to audit)  
 
Sickness absence data relating to the year 2018/19 extracted from ESR, utilising data 
available as a snapshot at 9 April 2019: 
 

Total days lost: 3,123 days (equivalent calendar days) 

Total absence (FTE)  3,007 days out of a total of 99,152.82 available FTE days 

Average absence per 
employee: 

9.40 days (average of total days lost by CCG employee 
headcount at 31 March 2019) 

Of total days lost,  
long term absence episodes:  31 (taken from ESR) 

Long term days total:  1,820 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost) 

 

The CCG’s sickness absence rate for 2018/19 was 3.03% 27  

  
 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
27 3,123 FTE days lost to sickness / 99,152.82 available days  = 3.03% 
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND STAFF NUMBERS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

Employee benefits 2018/19 
 

Total 
  

 

Admin 
 

  
Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 

Other 
 

Total 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

 

Other 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
Employee Benefits 

       
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 Salaries and wages 13,182 
 

11,257 
 

1,925 
 

9,807 
 

8,481 
 

1,326 
 

3,375 
 

2,776 
 

599 
Social security costs 1,327 

 
1,327 

 
0 

 
1,118 

 

1,118 
 

0 
 

209 
 

209 
 

0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,558 

 
1,558 

 
0 

 
1,288 

 

1,288 
 

0 
 

270 
 

270 
 

0 
Other pension costs 2 

 
2 

 
0 

 
2 

 

2 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Apprenticeship Levy 48 

 
48 

 
0 

 
43 

 

43 
 

0 
 

5 
 

5 
 

0 
Termination benefits 6 

 
6 

 
0 

 
6 

 

6 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure 16,123 

 
14,198   1,925 

 
12,264 

 

10,938   1,326 
 

3,859 
 

3,260   599 

        
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 16,123 

 
14,198   1,925 

 
12,264 

 

10,938   1,326 
 

3,859 
 

3,260   599 
                  
Employee benefits 2017/18 

 
Total 

  
 

Admin 
 

  
Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Restated 
Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Restated 
Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
 

£'000 
Employee Benefits 

       
 

         Salaries and wages 12,366 
 

11,083 
 

1,283 
 

9,848 
 

9,056 
 

792 
 

2,518 
 

2,027 
 

491 
Social security costs 1,279 

 
1,272 

 
7 

 
1,106 

 

1,106 
 

0 
 

173 
 

166 
 

7 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,511 

 
1,511 

 
0 

 
1,283 

 

1,283 
 

0 
 

228 
 

228 
 

0 
Other pension costs 1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
1 

 

1 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Apprenticeship Levy 46 

 
46 

 
0 

 
41 

 

41 
 

0 
 

5 
 

5 
 

0 
Termination benefits 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 15,203 
 

13,913   1,290 
 

12,279 
 

11,487   792 
 

2,924 
 

2,426   498 

                  Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 15,203 

 
13,913   1,290 

 
12,279 

 
11,487   792 

 
2,924 

 
2,426   498 
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AVERAGE NUMBER OF PEOPLE EMPLOYED (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

 

 
2018-19 

 
2017-18 

 
Total 

 

Permanently 
employed 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Restated 
Permanently 

employed 
 

Restated 
Other 

 Number  Number  Number  Number  Number  Number 

            Total 286.0 
 

254.3 
 

31.7 
 

281.7 
 

257.2 
 

24.4 
 

 

HR shared service model 

In order to continue to respond to the developing needs of the CCG, the Human Resources 
provision continues to be delivered via a shared service, hosted by Herts Valleys CCG. The 
service also provides support to Bedfordshire, Luton and West Essex CCGs.  
 
As part of a shared service, the CCG benefits from economies of scale, an enhanced 
knowledge base and a wider pool of HR and organisational skills and expertise, as well as 
access to a dedicated Director of Workforce, who is representing the CCG in aspects of the 
STP workforce agenda across both Hertfordshire and West Essex.  
 
In March 2019, HRXtra was launched, a telephone and online service providing managers 
with advice and guidance on people and employee relations issues. 
 

Staff Policies 

The HR Shared Service has developed a policy forum that spans across five CCGs. The policy 
forum has HR, management and staff representatives from each CCG and works together to 
adopt best practice in people management policy across the organisations. Through this 
group, 25 policies were reviewed, amended and maintained, with supporting guidance 
developed during 2018/19: 
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• Agency and Interim Use Policy 
• Agile Working Policy 
• Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy 
• Annual Leave Policy 
• Appraisal and Performance Review Policy 
• Apprenticeship Policy 
• Attendance and Wellbeing Policy 
• Bullying and Harassment Policy 
• Capability Policy 
• Disciplinary Policy 
• Education, Training and Development Policy 
• Employment Break Policy 
• Equality and Diversity Policy 
• Flexible Working Policy 
• Grievance Policy 
• Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering Parental Leave Policy 
• Organisational Change Policy 
• Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy 
• Probation and Induction Policy 
• Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy 
• Recruitment and Selection Policy 
• Secondment Policy 
• Special Leave Policy 
• Verification of Professional Registration Policy 
• Volunteer Policy 

 

Support for staff  

The CCG is fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing of its employees and 
understands that a healthy and happy workforce is crucial to delivering improvements in 
patient care. 
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The CCG offers an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), provided by Wellbeing Solutions 
Management and accessed through a free and confidential helpline.  During 2018 the service 
provided information, advice and counselling covering a range of personal, family and 
workplace issues to 35 members of staff. The CCG also has access to Occupational Health 
services, to support staff with health concerns. 

 

Whistleblowing 

The CCG has in place a ‘Raising Concerns at Work – Whistleblowing’ policy which provides 
staff with information and reassurance regarding their rights and responsibilities in reporting 
concerns. It sets out clearly how staff can report in confidence, good faith and without fear 
of retribution. As part of this policy, the CCG has nominated a lay member- Dianne Desmulie 
- to oversee the effectiveness of this process.  During 2018/19, Dianne has held staff sessions 
to help staff better understand when and how to report concerns.    

 

Health and safety  

The CCG is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of all its staff and 
providing a secure and healthy environment in which to work. 

The CCG recognises its legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 
(HASAWA) 1974, to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its staff, so far as is reasonably 
practicable. The CCG also accepts such responsibility for other persons who may be affected 
by its activities.  
 
During 2018/19, the CCG obtained professional health and safety guidance through 
Hertfordshire County Council which also delivered face-to-face health and safety training for 
CCG staff. Staff first aiders also received refresher training this year to ensure their skills 
were up to date.  
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Training 

In November 2018, a new mandatory programme was introduced, including three additional 
courses (Conflict of Interest, Stamping Out Bullying in the CCG and Prevent Awareness). 
Compliance with mandatory training for 2018/19 is 57.3%, including the new courses and 
79.8% excluding the new courses. 

During 2018/19 a wide range of optional learning and development opportunities were 
offered to staff via the MindTools web portal and face to face through the HR shared service. 
The CCG also offers protected time each Friday in order for staff to focus on personal 
development, including a monthly ‘Learning Hour’.  

 

Apprenticeship Levy 

During the year, staff were also able to make use of the Apprenticeship Levy to access 
professional development qualifications. 
 
The Apprentice Levy was introduced in April 2017 to help deliver new apprenticeships and to 
support quality training by putting employers at the heart of the system. As part of the 
program, the government is committed to developing vocational skills, and to increasing the 
quantity and quality of apprenticeships.   
 
Employers with annual pay bills in excess of £3 million are required to pay 0.5 % of their pay-
bill into the scheme. This means that East and North Hertfordshire CCG has an annual Levy 
budget of £50k.  
 
The CCG currently has one employee enrolled in an apprenticeship scheme with a total 
spend of £2k for the 2018/19 financial year.  Although there is disappointment with the slow 
uptake of the scheme, the CCG remains committed to investing in its staff and will 
encourage staff to take up further opportunities.  
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Employee consultation and communications 

The Joint Partnership Forum meets regularly and is a chance for staff and union 
representatives to discuss key issues affecting their working lives with executive members 
and make plans for improvements. During 2018/19 the forum agreed a fairer car parking 
charging policy amongst other issues. 
 

Internal communications  

We have a range of internal communication channels for all our staff including our magazine 
‘Charter Chat’, team meetings, chief executive briefing sessions and a weekly all staff email 
which contains a round-up of local and national health news, HR and staff information.  

In February, the CCG’s staff intranet was relaunched with ideas for content and layout 
provided by staff. It aims to provide staff with easy-to-access information about working for 
the CCG.  

Results from the annual staff survey, carried out in the autumn, showed that communication 
between staff and senior managers had improved over the year, with areas for improvement 
to be addressed by an action plan led by the HR and communications teams.   

The ‘learning and development hour’ continues to be popular on a Friday, where staff can 
hear updates from other teams on their key projects and talks from external organisations. 
Topics covered this year included diabetes prevention, becoming a ‘Dementia Friend’, 
safeguarding responsibilities, ‘spot the signs’ suicide awareness and carers’ rights.     

 

Staff health and wellbeing 

The NHS Five Year Forward View encourages employers to introduce a range of initiatives 
including promoting physical activity, reducing stress, and providing health checks for staff. 
The CCG is committed to supporting its staff to live as healthily as possible both physically 
and mentally and has a range of health and wellbeing initiatives in place.  
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The staff wellbeing group organises team and individual activities throughout the year. 
Lunchtime walks were held every week and teams of staff took part in charity challenges. 
Staff have been offered free ‘mini health checks’ and could have either a free flu vaccination 
in the office or be reimbursed for a vaccination they have at a local pharmacy.              

Other initiatives to help staff keep fit and healthy include the cycle-to-work scheme which 
allows staff to buy a bike at a reduced cost and pay for it monthly through tax efficient salary 
deductions.  

 

PART THREE:  
PARLIAMENTARY 
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 
REPORT 

East and North Hertfordshire CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability 
and Audit Report but has opted to include disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses 
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included in the Financial Statements of 
this report. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 193.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE  
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE  
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 
 



 

______________________________________________________________________     194 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

______________________________________________________________________     195 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



______________________________________________________________________     196 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 



______________________________________________________________________     197 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 



 

______________________________________________________________________     198 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

 

ACCOUNTABILITY  
REPORT 

_____________________
__ 

 
 

 
 

ACCOUNTS 
2018/19 

_______________________ 
 



______________________________________________________________________     199 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

31 March 2019 Restated 
2018-19 2017-18 

Note £'000 £'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 2 (10,730) (11,611) 
Other operating income 2 (359) (254) 
Total operating income (11,089) (11,865) 

Staff costs 3 16,123 15,203 
Purchase of goods and services 4 817,096 719,480 
Depreciation 4 690 569 
Provision expense 4 20 98 
Other Operating Expenditure 4 517 509 
Total operating expenditure 834,446 735,859 

   Net Operating Expenditure 823,357 723,994 

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2019 823,357 723,994 

The notes on pages 199 to 225 form part of this statement. 



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets: 

Property, plant and equipment 6 4,260 3,400 

Trade and other receivables 7 209 278 

Total non-current assets 4,469 3,678 

Current assets: 

Trade and other receivables 7 7,355 9,066 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 430 169 

Total current assets 7,785 9,235 

Total assets 12,254 12,913 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 9 (57,559) (48,083} 

Provisions (118) (98) 

Total current liabilities {57,677) (48,181} 

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities {45,423} {35,268) 

Assets less Liabilities {45,423} {35,268} 

Financed by Taxpayers' Equity 

General fund (45,423} {35,268) 

Revaluation reserve 0 0 

Other reserves 0 0 

Charitable Reserves 0 0 

Total taxpayers' equity: {45,423} {35,268} 

The notes on pages 199 to 221 form part of this statement. 

The financial statements on pages 195 to 196 were approved by the Governing Body on 

and signed on its behalf by: 

Beverley Flowers, Chief Accountable Officer 

23 May 2019 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

General fund 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 

Balance at 1 April 2018 (35,268) 
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances (1) 
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018 (35,269) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19 
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (823,357) 

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year 
including balance brought forward from previous year (858,626) 
Net funding 813,203 
Balance at 31 March 2019 (45,423) 

General fund 
£'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18 

Balance at 1 April 2017 (38,130) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18 
Net operating costs for the financial year (723,994) 

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year 
including balance brought forward from previous year (762,124) 
Net funding 726,856 
Balance at 31 March 2018 (35,268) 

The notes on pages 199 to 225 form part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

2018-19 2017-18 
Note £'000 £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (823,357) (723,994) 
Depreciation 4 690 569 
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards (1) 0 
Decrease / (Increase) in trade & other receivables 7 1,780 (3,518) 
Increase in trade & other payables 9 8,771 918 
Provisions utilised 0 (275) 
Increase in provisions 20 98 
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities (812,097) (726,202) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (845) (782) 

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (845) (782) 

Net Cash Outflow before Financing (812,942) (726,984) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Grant in Aid Funding Received 813,203 726,855 

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 813,203 726,855 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 8 261 (129) 

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 169 298 

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 430 169 

The notes on pages 199 to 225 form part of this statement. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning 
groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting 
Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the 
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group 
Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The 
accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate 
to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. 

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to 
be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining 
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. 
If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis. 

1.2 Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
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1.3 Pooled Budgets 

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, 
identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement. 

If the CCG is in a joint operation, the CCG recognises: 

• its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

• its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

• its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation;

• its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

• its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

If the CCG is involved in a joint venture, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises: 

• its share share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the
nature of the assets);

• its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

• its share of the expenses jointly incurred.

The CCG has entered into a partnership agreement and a pooled budget with 
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) in respect of the Better Care Fund.  This is a 
national policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts.  
Having reviewed the terms of the partnership agreement, the Department of Health 
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and the appropriate financial reporting 
standards, the CCG has determined that there are three elements to the Better Care 
Fund and they are accounted for as follows: 

(1) the major part is controlled by HCC which commissions services from various non-
NHS providers.  Whilst the services are determined in partnership, the risks and
rewards of the contracts remain wholly with HCC. The CCG accounts for this on a lead
commissioner basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.

(2) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from
NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of these contracts are the
responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner
for those services on behalf of the partnership. The CCG accounts for these costs as
healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
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(3) The final part are services which are jointly commissioned by the CCG and HCC, 
including mental health services, equipment services, intermediate care services and 
protection of social care services. HCC acts as the host body for these services which 
are provided by a third party. Each partner is however wholly responsible for their 
own share of the expenditure and this is accounted for as a joint operation. 
  

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The CCG is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements and key sources of 
uncertainty that will materially affect these financial statements. 
  

1.5 Revenue 

The transition to IFRS 15 is complete with the application of the Standard 
retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application. 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. 
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following 
year, that income is deferred. A review undertaken by the CCG has determined that 
the application of IFRS 15 has little or no impact on the CCG. 

The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the 
Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with 
IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an 
accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training 
expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 
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1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees. 

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme is taken as 
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable. 

1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.8.1 Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential
will be supplied to the CCG;

• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
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• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually 
have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control; or, 

• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, 
ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.8.2 Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the 
cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation. 

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not 
considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, 
the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores 
the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing 
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
  

1.9 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 

Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual 
value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of 
economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an 
asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or service 
potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the 
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  

At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that 
any of its tangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is 
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. 
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A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service 
potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the 
extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to 
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic 
benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the 
recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined 
had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is 
credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and 
thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

1.11 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial 
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 
have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost;

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics 
of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

1.12 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 
CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in 
the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired. 
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1.13 Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output 
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT 
is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
 

1.14 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) Group Accounting Manual does 
not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-
19: 

• IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. However the implementation of this standard has been 
deferred by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) for all NHS entities 
for one year to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020.  

•  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by HM Treasury 
into the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM): early adoption is not therefore 
permitted.  

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

 
The application of IFRS 17 and IFRIC 23 has no impact on the accounts for 2018-19, 
were they applied in that year, as the CCG does not have any transactions covered by 
these accounting standards. The impact of IFRS 16 is unknown once it is applied as an 
assessment has not yet been undertaken. 
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2 Other Operating Revenue 

Restated 
2018-19 2017-18 

Total Total 
£'000 £'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Education, training and research 31 180 
Non-patient care services to other bodies 10,267 11,324 
Other revenue 432 107 
Total Income from sale of goods and services 10,730 11,611 

Other operating income 
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 2 0 
Other non contract revenue 357 254 
Total Other operating income 359 254 

Total Operating Income 11,089 11,865 

The recognition of revenue is over time. Other operating income is derived from the 
rendering of services. 

Note: The 2017-18 comparator for other revenue was restated and shown under contractual 
and non contractual  revenue in order to be consistent with the current year. 

2.1  Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts) 

Education, 
training 

and 
research 

Non-
patient 

care 
services to 

other 
bodies 

Other 
Contract 

Income Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Source of Revenue 
NHS 0 10,164 342 10,506 
Non NHS 31 103 90 224 
Total 31 10,267 432 10,730 
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers 

3.1 Employee benefits 
    

2018-19 
 

2017-18 

     
Total 

 
Total 

     
£'000 

 
£'000 

Employee Benefits 
       Salaries and wages 
    

13,182 
 

12,366 
Social security costs 

    
1,327 

 
1,279 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 
    

1,558 
 

1,511 
Other pension costs 

    
2 

 
1 

Apprenticeship Levy 
    

48 
 

46 
Termination benefits 

    
6 

 
0 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 
    

16,123 
 

15,203 
 

3.3  Pension costs 
 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.   

 
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices 
and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.  

 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   

 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements 
do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date 
by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows: 

 
a) Accounting valuation 
 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in 
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes.  
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The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data 
as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed 
by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer
contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care
have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution
rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative
to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from
the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part
of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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4.  Operating expenses 

   
Restated 

 
2018-19 

 
2017-18 

 
Total 

 
Total 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

Purchase of goods and services 
   Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,280 

 
932 

Services from foundation trusts 70,930 
 

65,092 
Services from other NHS trusts (note b) 385,960 

 
366,042 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 173,599 
 

169,747 
Purchase of social care 13,823 

 
13,647 

Prescribing costs 79,452 
 

83,009 
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS (note a) 77,788 

 
8,850 

Supplies and services – clinical 415 
 

13 
Supplies and services – general 1,641 

 
1,290 

Consultancy services 497 
 

170 
Establishment 5,887 

 
5,624 

Transport (note b) 3,620 
 

3,091 
Premises 1,393 

 
1,249 

Audit fees (note c and d) 64 
 

54 
Other professional fees (note e) 477 

 
103 

Legal Fees 20 
 

213 
Education and training 250 

 
354 

Total Purchase of goods and services 817,096 
 

719,480 

    Depreciation 
   Depreciation 690 

 
569 

Total Depreciation  690 
 

569 

    Provision expense 
   Provisions 20 

 
98 

Total Provision expense 20 
 

98 

    Other Operating Expenditure 
   Chair and Non Executive Members 155 

 
170 

Grants to Other bodies 0 
 

109 
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 2 

 
0 

Other expenditure 360 
 

230 
Total Other Operating Expenditure 517 

 
509 

    
    Total operating expenses 818,323 

 
720,656 
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Notes 

a) This is the first year of delegated commissioning arrangements whereby the CCG has
assumed full responsibility for contractual GP performance management, budget
management and the design and implementation of local incentive schemes, all of
which were previously the responsibility of NHS England. The total expenditure
relating to this was £69,733k.

b) To be consistent with 2018-19, the 2017-18 comparator for transport was restated
whereby patient transport services provided by NHS and Non NHS Providers are now
disclosed under the single heading transport rather than services from other NHS
Trusts and transport respectively.

c) Audit fees above is shown inclusive of VAT and represents £54k (£45k excluding VAT)
in respect of statutory audit services. There is no change from 2017-18. In addition,
there are further audit fees of £10k (£8.3k excluding VAT), in respect of the review of
the Mental Health Investment Standard (2017-18 NIL).

d) Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial
year 2018-19 is £1million or, if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the
Engagement Letter.

e) Other professional fees includes the sum of £41k for Internal Audit Fees (2017-18
£41k). Internal audit fees is shown net of VAT.

5. Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18 
Number £'000 Number £'000 

Non-NHS Payables 
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year         21,131       297,695      18,793  215,472 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target         20,920       294,512      18,525  213,779 
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.00% 98.93% 98.57% 99.21% 

NHS Payables 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year  3,779       471,700        3,640  464,284 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target  3,685       470,284        3,544  460,601 
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 97.51% 99.70% 97.36% 99.21% 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the 
due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 



 

______________________________________________________________________     215 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

6.  Property, plant and equipment 
 

2018-19 Information 
technology 

Furniture 
& fittings Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2018 3,955 597 4,552 

    
Additions purchased 1,550 0 1,550 
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 

    
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 5,505 597 6,102 

    
Depreciation 1 April 2018 1,074 78 1,152 

    
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 
Charged during the year 621 69 690 

    
Depreciation at 31 March 2019 1,695 147 1,842 

    
Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 3,810 450 4,260 

    
Purchased 3,810 450 4,260 
Total at 31 March 2019 3,810 450 4,260 

    
Asset financing:    
    
Owned 3,810 450 4,260 

    
Total at 31 March 2019 3,810 450 4,260 
 
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any revaluation reserve balance for property, 
plant & equipment in 2018-19 and 2017-18. 
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7. Trade and other receivables

Current Non-current Current Non-current 
31 March 

2019 
31 March 

2019 
31 March 

2018 
31 March 

2018 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,645 0 4,845 0 
NHS prepayments 2,560 0 2,994 0 
NHS accrued income 316 0 71 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: 
Revenue 1,529 0 340 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 873 209 562 278 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 108 0 79 0 
VAT 192 0 174 0 
Other receivables and accruals 132 0 1 0 
Total Trade & other receivables 7,355 209 9,066 278 

Total current and non current 7,564 9,344 

The majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no 
credit scoring is considered necessary. 

8. Cash and cash equivalents

2018-19 2017-18 
£'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 169 298 
Net change in year 261 (129) 
Balance at 31 March 430 169 

Made up of: 
Cash with the Government Banking Service 429 168 
Cash in hand 1 1 
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 430 169 

Balance at 31 March 430 169 

There were no patients' monies held by the clinical commissioning group in 2018-19 and 
2017-18. 
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9. Trade and other payables 
 

 
Current Current 

 
31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

 
£'000 £'000 

   NHS payables: revenue 5,783 7,389 
NHS accruals 7,508 3,795 
NHS deferred income 7 101 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 5,274 6,167 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital 1,057 352 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 35,882 24,235 
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 99 2 
Social security costs 210 189 
Tax 181 164 
Other payables and accruals 1,558 5,689 
Total Trade & Other Payables 57,559 48,083 

   Total current and non-current 57,559 48,083 
 
Other payables include £885k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019 (£221k - 
31 March 2018). 
 
 
10. Financial instruments       
       
10.1  Financial risk management       
       

International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a 
body faces in undertaking its activities.       

        
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, 
it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, 
financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards 
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or 
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.     
 
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the clinical commissioning group standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is 
subject to review by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors. 
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10.1.1  Credit risk 

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes from 
parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. 

10.1.2 Liquidity risk 

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource 
limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical 
commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical 
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

10.2 Financial assets 

Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost 

Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost 

2018-19 2017-18 
£'000 £'000 

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 991 1,915 
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 1,076 3,001 
Trade and other receivables with external bodies 1,533 419 
Other financial assets 131 1 
Cash and cash equivalents 430 169 
Total at 31 March 4,161 5,505 

10.3. Financial liabilities 

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

2018-19 2017-18 
£'000 £'000 

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 588 297 
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 27,246 10,887 
Trade and other payables with external bodies 27,670 30,754 
Other financial liabilities 1,559 5,689 
Total at 31 March 57,063 47,627 
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11. Operating segments 
 

Healthcare costs are attributed to localities as shown below.  Transformation 
schemes, running costs and other costs which cannot be attributed directly to 
localities are charged centrally. 
 

  2018-19 2017-18 

  
Net 

expenditure 
Net 

expenditure 

  £'000 £'000 
North Hertfordshire locality 144,474 138,769 
Lower Lea Valley locality 97,847 92,880 
Stevenage locality 118,068 113,357 
Welwyn Hatfield locality 137,386 133,148 
Upper Lea Valley locality 144,083 135,650 
Stort Valley & Villages locality 66,702 65,228 
Total 708,560 679,032 
 
 
11.1.  Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE 

 

 2018-19 2017-18 
  £'000 £'000 

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments 708,560 679,032 
Reconciling items - Central Budgets 114,797 44,962 
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 823,357 723,994 

 

12.  Pooled budgets          
 

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with 
Hertfordshire County Council, Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group, and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group. The pool is hosted 
by Hertfordshire County Council.       
            
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for 
the commissioning of services as follows: mental health, learning disabilities, child 
and adolescent mental health, integrated health and social care community 
equipment service, residential and nursing care in a number of care homes, social 
care services complementary to the NHS. The pooled budget only includes that 
expenditure over which the partners have joint control. 
 
The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by 
the pooled budget in the financial year were:      
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Mental Health, Learning 
Disabilities & CAMHS Equipment Service Intermediate Care Protection of Social 

Care Services Total CCG 

Total Pooled-
Budget CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG 
Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG 
Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG Contribution 

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Original Contribution 347,257 78,033 5,740 1,395 5,349 1,966 21,506 14,166 95,560 
Expenditure and revised 
contribution 346,760 77,831 5,566 1,394 5,038 1,946 17,313 14,167 95,338 

497 202 174 1 311 20 4,193 (1) 222 

Mental Health, Learning 
Disabilities & CAMHS Equipment Service  Intermediate Care Protection of Social 

Care Services Total CCG 

Total Pooled-
Budget CCG 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG 
Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG 
Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

CCG Contribution 

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Original Contribution 336,582 73,900 5,745 1,395 6,225 2,934 17,904 13,980 92,209 
Expenditure and revised 
contribution 336,528 73,851 5,074 1,232 4,923 2,069 17,904 13,648 90,800 

54 49 671 163 1,302 865 0 332 1,409 
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13. Related party transactions     
     

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:  
   

During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health 
and Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 
    
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of 
payments made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the 
GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:     

 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

     Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan           1,806  0 1 0 
Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall           1,711  0 7 0 
Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams           1,134  0 6 0 
Garden City Practice - Dr. S Gupta           1,088  0 0 0 
King George Surgery - Dr. A Saha           2,109  0 19 0 
Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher           1,707  0 4 0 
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur & Dr. S Dixon           2,245  0 9 0 
Stanhope Surgery - Dr. H Bolat             671  0 2 0 
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley           3,443  0 12 0 
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews               23  0 4 0 
The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson           1,327  0 2 0 
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah           1,127  0 10 0 
Bedfordshire & Hertfordshire LMC - Dr N Williams 
& Dr S Gupta             298  0 0 0 
 
The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP 
Governing Body Member is a Partner in that organisation: 
 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Mills & Reeves                29  0 0 0 
 
  



_______________________________________________________________________     222 
Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19 

The following are payments made in the normal course of business to GP Federations of 
which GP practices are shareholders. 

Payments to 
Related Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
12 Point Care  1,060 0       22 0 
Ephedra Healthcare Limited    702 0     108 0 
Generating Health Limited  1,640 0       48 0 
Lea Valley Health Limited  1,851 0   7 1 
Stevenage Health Limited    319 0       29 0 
Stort Valley Health Care Limited    328 0       16 0 

As from 1 April 2018, the CCG assumed delegated responsibility for primary care 
commissioning arrangements. This has resulted in an increase in the value of payments to 
practices shown above.  

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the 
CCG has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent organisation. The CCG has adopted a disclosure level of £5million and 
the most significant related parties are listed below. In addition, the clinical commissioning 
group had a number of material transactions with other local government bodies. Where 
appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below: 

• East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
• East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
• Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
• Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
• North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
• Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
• University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Hertfordshire County Council

Comparators for 2017-18 are shown on the following page. 
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13a  Related party transactions (2017-18)   

 Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:  
 
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health 
and Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 
    
 
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of 
payments made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the 
GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:     

  

 

Payments to 
Related Party 

Receipts from 
Related Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Regal Chambers Surgery - Dr. F Sinclair 109 0 0 0 
Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams 142 0 10 0 
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews 88 0 12 0 
The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson 122 0 3 0 
Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan 199 0 31 0 
Garden City Practice - Dr S Gupta 114 0 7 0 
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley 532 0 11 0 
Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall 193 0 10 0 
Central Surgery - Dr. D Kearns 223 0 0 0 
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur 277 0 31 0 
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah 131 0 20 0 
Stanhope Surgery - Dr. H Bolat 65 0 5 0 
Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher 87 0 17 0 

     
The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP Governing Body 
Member is a Partner in that organisation:  
      
Mills & Reeves 35 0 1 0 

     
The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GPs were 
shareholders.  

     
Ephedra Healthcare Limited 355 0 53 0 
Generating Health Limited 450 0 121 0 
12 Point Care 245 0 24 0 
Lea Valley Health 324 0 0 6 
Stort Valley Health Care Ltd 166 0 19 0 
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These payments were made in the normal course of business and Governing Body members 
had no direct control over them. 

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the 
clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent organisation. The most significant related 
parties are listed below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of 
material transactions with other government departments and other central government 
bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below: 

• East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
• East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
• Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
• Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
• North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
• Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
• University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Hertfordshire County Council

14. Events after the end of the reporting period

The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period
that are required to be disclosed in this note.

15. Financial performance targets

The clinical commissioning group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act
2006 (as amended). The clinical commissioning group performance against those
duties was as follows:
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2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18 

 
Target Performance Target Performance 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Expenditure not to exceed income  835,996 835,996 741,333 736,973 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 1,550 1,550 1,121 1,114 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 823,357 823,357 728,347 723,994 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0 

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 12,912 11,645 12,709 10,785 
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If you would like this information in another 
language or format, please contact us on 
01707 685397. 

You can also read a summary of this  
Annual Report on our website 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/annualreport 

file://Char-fp01/enhccg/Communications/Annual%20Reports/Annual%20Report%202017-18/www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/annualreport
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	• Dianne Desmulie – Lay member (patient and public engagement) until May 2018
	• Linda Farrant – Lay member (governance and audit), Deputy Chair of the Governing Body and Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee.
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	During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the committee ensured that any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing Body's attention through the Governance Report.
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	Remuneration Committee
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